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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Yang Tao (resigned on March 20, 2024)

Ms. Liu Ran

Mr. Si De

Mr. Moon Duk Il (appointed on March 20, 2024)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tu Zheng
Mr. He Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Jianjun
Mr. Wu Liansheng
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Jianjun (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Liansheng
Mr. Wang Ning

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Jianjun
Mr. Wu Liansheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Liansheng (Chairman)
Mr. Tu Zheng
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan
Ms. Li Ching Vi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Ning
Ms. Li Ching Vi
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

19/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093

Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEHR

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
(Zhu Shi Kou Branch)

No.15, East Street, Zhushikou

Chongwen District, Beijing, PRC

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
(Wang Jing Branch)
Wangjing International Commerce Center

No. 9, Wangjing Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

(Wang Jing Branch)

Botai International, Block B, Building 122

District 1, Nanhu East Part, Guangshun North Street
Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.popmart.com

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong laws

Davis Polk & Wardwell

10th Floor, The Hong Kong Club Building
3A Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law
Jingtian & Gongcheng
45/F, K. Wah Centre
1010 Huaihai Road (M)
Xuhui District
Shanghai 200031

PRC

As to Cayman Islands laws
Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
26th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

MBRERE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

6

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

20235 20224F 20214F 20204F 20194F

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT | ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT ARETET

Revenue ['ON 6,301,002 4,617,324 4,490,651 2,513,471 1,683,434

Gross profit EF 3,864,071 2,654,543 2,758,624 1,594,108 1,090,334

Operating profit 5 s F 1,230,646 583,380 1,149,812 718,783 598,794

Profit before income tax R PS5 Al g A 1,415,755 639,529 1,171,191 707,403 598,375

Profit for the year E N A 1,088,771 475,801 854,567 523,312 451,118

Profit attributable to ViN/NEIE F=DN

owners of the Company FE(R & A 1,082,344 475,660 854,339 523,505 451,118
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit — FEEIBR A 75k o5 2 B

KT EE L A 1,190,519 573,540 1,001,635 590,506 469,123

Gross profit margin FEF = 61.3% 57.5% 61.4% 63.4% 64.8%

Net profit margin P 17.3% 10.3% 19.0% 20.8% 26.8%
Non-IFRS adjusted net B B B s e 5 ZE A

profit margin s 18.9% 12.4% 22.3% 23.5% 27.9%

POP MART
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEBE
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS HMBEMRARBE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R | AREFt AREFTT AR®TRT AREFT
Total current assets BRBEE 7,683,469 6,615,535 6,757,289 6,255,900 716,601
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 2,285,394 1,964,527 1,566,337 715,399 349,880
Total assets wWEE 9,968,863 8,580,062 8,323,626 6,971,299 1,066,481
Total current liabilities wrBAak 1,733,301 1,130,747 1,092,706 665,313 381,570
Total non-current liabilities BIEREEE 455,180 483,990 410,914 174,984 92,130
Total liabilities wWaE 2,188,481 1,614,737 1,503,620 840,297 473,700
Equity attributable to ZA/NSIE/ZS DN
owners of the Company FE(L D 7,769,927 6,963,288 6,818,182 6,129,374 592,781
Non-controlling interests in FEFR R
equity 10,455 2,037 1,824 1,628 -
Total equity wRES 7,780,382 6,965,325 6,820,006 6,131,002 592,781
Total equity and liabilities #EZREE 9,968,863 8,580,062 8,323,626 6,971,299 1,066,481

—Z = =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESRIYH

Dear Shareholders and Investors:

As time flies by, Pop Mart has spent its third complete financial year after
listing. Looking back on the past year, Pop Mart's revenue and net profit
hit a record high. Pop Mart achieved an annual revenue of RMB6.3 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 36.5%; adjusted net profit was
RMB1.19 billion, with a year-on-year increase of 107.6%.

The overall IP performance of Pop Mart was excellent last year, with 10
IPs exceeding RMB100 million in sales for the first time. The revenue of
SKULLPANDA and MOLLY, the top IPs, exceeded RMB1 billion, and their sales
both accounted for approximately 16% of the total. The top five IPs in terms
of sales accounted for around 55% of the total, and the sales share of IPs
was both concentrated and dispersed, which was in a very sound position.
These sales figures proved the attractiveness of our IPs and our more mature

capability on IP operation accumulated over the years.

Deepening the DTC strategy is the core approach to globalize Pop Mart in
recent years. By expanding our brand through retail stores, online channels,
and hosting industry conventions, the recognition of Pop Mart's brand and its
IP has further increased globally. In 2023, we opened our first offline stores in
France, Malaysia, Thailand and Netherlands, and set a new global store record

for sales on the first day.

We had always stood firm on regarding IP as our core asset at the time of
listing, with globalisation and conglomeration as our core development
strategies. In recent years, despite the complex and ever-changing economic
and social environment, we have consistently implemented these two major
strategies to steadily advance our business and achieve revenue growth
and sustainable profitability, which has demonstrated strong organisational
resilience. The year of 2023 has witnessed initial success of Pop Mart's
strategies since its listing, with seeds sown in the past having borne
abundant fruits: POP LAND has landed in Chaoyang Park in Beijing, becoming
the first immersive IP-themed park in the pop toy industry; the gaming
business is announced to be launched soon; the Company’s contemporary
art operation institution, inner flow, has opened a Gallery in Beijing 798 Art

Park; and the animation business is also in proactive preparation.

POP MART
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As the process of globalisation and conglomeration continues to deepen,
“Pop Toy" no longer fully explains the essence of Pop Mart. In 2023, we re-
identified and restructured the Company's future business development into
four core segments: IP incubation and operation, pop toy merchandizing
and retail, theme park and IP experience, and digital entertainment. Among
which, the theme park and IP experience. The theme park and IP experience
business includes park operations, domestic and overseas pop toy shows, and
internally-incubated new businesses. Meanwhile, the digital entertainment
business focuses on game development, content creation, and related

activities.

In 2023, Pop Mart has achieved excellent results. However, we are much
more concerned about the Company’s determination to execute its strategy
and the new capabilities it has developed as well as its enhanced steadiness
as a whole, not just financial figures. The Company is becoming more and
more mature, while the sound development of many new businesses has
created expectations for the future. Thus, we are very confident in the future

development of the Company.

Finally, | would like to extend my gratitude to all consumers, partners
and investors for your long-time support and trust, and to all colleagues
for your hard work. | hope we can continue to work together and forge
ahead towards our vision of becoming the world’s leading pop culture

entertainment company.

Chairman of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERNWEDTN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, with the effective implementation of a series of policies to expand
domestic demand and promote consumption, residents’ consumption
demand was released at a faster pace, and the foundation for the recovery
of the consumer market was constantly consolidated as well. Meanwhile,
residents’ desire to travel has increased, driving a sound development
of offline commerce. As the national economy continues to recover, the
expansion momentum of the consumer market was further consolidated and

enhanced.

Based on the unremitting efforts of various departments of the Company,
with our outstanding operational capabilities and creativity, we have
launched several new product series that gained popularity among
consumers and achieved excellent sales performance while providing quality

services to consumers.

During the reporting period, we recorded a revenue of RMB6,301.0 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 36.5%. Through continuous expansion
of the international market and in-depth promotion of localized operation,
our business in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas maintained a rapid
development, with the revenue reaching RMB1,066.1 million, representing a

year-on-year increase of 134.9% and accounting for 16.9% of our revenue.

IP Incubation and Operation

IP operation and creative designs are the key factors to promote our
development. We explored highly-potential pop artists and designers
worldwide and created popular pop culture IP images through well-
established IP operation system. At the same time, we continued to
strengthen innovation in product designs and diversify product categories
to meet the needs of different fan groups and create more happiness for

consumers around the world.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &

£ dE)-

E2023F " BEE —RIEBEARNT  REEE
PR BANER  EREBRRKEI T MRE
WOHEMSMIREEROTEEIERE - [
B BEREOEEEREES  THTRTHED
RFERESD - BEERIRLBENFELRDRE - 4
BMISMIEABE S —PEEMLS -

ERARZHMANTBE ) - RABELHED
BERINEES  ERBBERHELRS
R - %&ﬁ?yﬂi‘i‘lfﬁ‘é%%%'ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ

mE5 - RS TEFNHERSR -

WEBE > RANOBNETARKE301.088
TG 0 AL IER36.5% © BBIFERRBEE TS -

RAEARTEE - RANERE RBINE
BRETRRERNES  BAZEIARKE

1,066 1 BB TT * [FHIEER134.9% - HUTA(GHE
F16.9% °

P LERE &

IPEE EAIBRA RSB HERNEREE
= - BMEEREEANZHEGEE N ERE
MRFRETED - BBRANPELRER  TED
BRECLEEIRSUEIPTER © B - AT ET
MEMMRTAN EEERME - URED
R AR FER - REEANEEEFRKE
E47S



Our IP matrix continued to expand, showing a trend of diversity. In 2023,
10 artist IPs recorded sales of over RMB100 million. Revenue generated
from SKULLPANDA, MOLLY and DIMOO amounted to RMB1,024.8 million,
RMB1,020.3 million and RMB737.7 million in 2023, respectively. SKULLPANDA
continuously explored and looked for breakthroughs in styles, achieving
20.3% year-on-year growth in related revenue. Specifically, the sales of
“Temperature’, the eighth series of SKULLPANDA, reached RMB313.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Moreover, MOLLY continued to show
strong vitality and still achieved a year-on-year increase of 27.2% in related
revenue through diverse commercialization operations. Through diversified
designs for different product categories and innovative presentation forms,
the image of THE MONSTERS has become more vibrant and vivid, while also
demonstrating more enriched personalities, which in turn has been well
received by more fans, contributing to a year-on-year growth of 39.9% in

related revenue.

Several IPs launched by our in-house design team PDC (Pop Design Center)
also recorded an outstanding performance in 2023. Hirono triggered
emotional empathy among fans through design language, representing a
year-on-year increase of 149.5% in revenue in 2023. Moreover, Sweet Bean,
PINO JELLY, Zsiga and other IPs were also well received and recognized by

the market.

We continued to explore and expand the scope of Licensed IPs by launching
a series of pop garage kits and co-branded products in different types and
diversified styles to meet the needs and interests of different consumers.
Through cooperation with various copyright owners of anime, games and
movies, we brought more choices and surprises to our fans. At the same
time, we continued to expand the territories of IP licensing, and already
obtained global licenses for most of our Licensed IPs, bringing a more unique

pop toy experience to consumers around the world.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

As a high-end production line created because of our promotion of “pop toy
as art’, the MEGA COLLECTION is characterized by both fashion and a deep
sense of artistic expression. 2023 is the third year since we launched MEGA
COLLECTION, and the brand operation has gradually entered a mature stage.
In the beginning of the year, the first ceramic material pop garage kits "MEGA
SPACE MOLLY 1000% Lu Huo Chun Qing « Ran” (MEGA SPACE MOLLY 1000%
18 K45 FR) launched by the Grand series has received extensive attention
across consumers from different social networks. In addition, the cooperation
with top brands in different fields such as CLOT and Lamborghini has also
tapped the diverse possibilities of MEGA COLLECTION. In 2023, revenue of
the MEGA Collection Series amounted to RMB681.5 million.

We continued innovation in products and enriched our categories while
continuously launching creative items. Apart from pop figures, we made
continuous efforts in developing new categories with an aim to demonstrate

images and connotation of IPs in a more vivid way.

As our product category in vogue launched in 2023, the rotocasting plush
dolls not only contributed abundant revenue, but also enhanced the
stickiness of fans to IPs by exploring the cores of IPs, developing diverse

product models and innovative gameplay.

POP BEAN draws inspiration from the Q version images of many IPs under
our brand. Since its launch, it has been well-received by consumers for its
cute and changeable product designs and rich variety of interaction. Since its
inception, POP BEAN has released more than ten series of products, including
various forms such as canned products, blind bags and hanging cards. While
enriching the product forms of IPs, it also brings consumers more interesting

consumption experiences.

POP MART
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Consumer Access

1

Offline channels

In 2023, we opened 55 new physical stores in Mainland China. The
number of physical stores increased from 329 as of 31 December 2022
to 363" as of 31 December 2023. In 2023, we opened 123 roboshops in
Mainland China. The number of roboshops increased from 2,067 as of 31
December 2022 to 2,190 as of 31 December 2023.

Online channels

Pop Draw is a mini program independently invented and developed
by us on WeChat platform, aiming to create fun, interesting and
convenient shopping experience. In 2023, revenue from Pop Draw
amounted to RMB729.3 million. In 2023, the revenue of Tmall Flagship
stores amounted to RMB322.0 million. Our content-related e-commerce
team continuously outputs high-quality live content on DouYin based
on the characteristics of the IP and series by organizing a number of
self-operated live streams. Such methods not only attracted a large
number of fans, but also promoted more life scenes of merchandize and
achieved excellent sales performance. In 2023, the revenue of DouYin
amounted to RMB283.3 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
431.2%.

Member operation

With continuous channel expansion and IPs portfolio enhancement,
through omni-channel member operation, the scale of user digitalization
grew rapidly. As of 31 December 2023, the total number of registered
members in Mainland China increased from 26.0 million as at 31
December 2022 to 34.4 million. In particular, there were 8.4 million new
registered members. In 2023, the sales contributed by our members
represented 92.1% of total sales, with repeat purchase rate of our

members of 50.0%7.

In 2023, due to lease expiration and other commercial reasons, we closed 21
stores.

Representing the proportion of members who made purchase for twice or more
in 2023.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

- Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas channels

The implementation of our DTC (Direct To Customer) strategy for
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas business continued. As of
31 December 2023, the number of our physical stores in Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and overseas was 80 (including those operated by joint
venture), and the number of roboshops reached 159 (including those
operated by joint venture and roboshop partners). In 2023, we opened
our first physical stores in France, Malaysia, Thailand and Netherlands,
and also opened our third flagship store in Ximending, Taiwan, the PRC
in December and set a new global store record for sales on the first day.
With the continuous expansion of offline and online channels, the Pop
Mart's brand and products received increasing recognition and favor

around the world.

Theme Park and IP Experience and Innovative Business
Incubation

We have established an IP commercialization system with a multi-industry
chain, continuously deepening the emotional connection between fans and

IPs, and exploring the potential of realizing the value of IP.

In September 2023, POP LAND landed in Chaoyang Park in Beijing, becoming
the first immersive IP-themed park in the pop toy industry. In POP LAND,
not only can the visitors experience immersive play in IP scenes and interact
closely with Pop stars, but they can also enjoy cute and delicious IP-themed
dining, and get exclusive park souvenirs. While providing happy experiences
and beautiful memories to a wider range of visitors, POP LAND also attracts
fans of Pop Mart, making it a channel for deeper emotional connection

between Pop Mart and IPs and users.

The Company has promoted the cooperation with other well-known [IPs
and brands in the licensing or co-branding of its IPs, and organized pop
toy shows and IP-themed exhibitions in various countries and regions to

continuously expand the influence of its IPs in the world.

POP MART
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Between 8 and 10 September 2023, we organized the first large-scale
overseas pop toy show in Singapore. During three days of this pop toy show,
a total of more than 20,000 visitors were received and the works of over 90
artists from all over the world with different styles were displayed. This show
has opened the door for trendy fans from Southeast Asia, enabling them
to contact the pop toy IPs they like and imaginative creators. The Shanghai
International Trendy Toy Fair returned to offline in September 2023 after
three years, attracting nearly 400 trendy toy brands around the world and
nearly 100 domestic and overseas artists. The POP TOY SHOW (PTS) has
comprehensively showed the charm of IPs to global consumers, attracted
more overseas artists and brands to cooperate with us and further promoted

the global development of pop toy culture.

Leveraging on our excellent capability of artists development and powerful
market appeal, we promote more trendy artists to the public and bring
better experience to consumers. In 2023, we held 31 themed exhibitions
in shopping malls and 24 artists’ signing meetings in Mainland China,
which established interactive platforms for IP creators and fans and further
promoted the blooming of pop toy culture. In addition, as a contemporary
art institution of the Company, inner flow has cooperated with nearly
100 outstanding domestic and overseas artists in holding more than 10
exhibitions in various cities across the country. In the second half of 2023,
inner flow Gallery was successfully opened in Beijing 798 Art Park, receiving

wide attention and praise from the industry.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

2023F9A8HEI0R + HPIEMMHE RM T &
EEIARBEITE - KXBIIE=RARHE
BB EERASLE - BRTREHASHE
WHEHRARSENBMROER - EXBREAR
KRB AITR T —BAM - @ik
MBI M PIEEAEIIP  LWREBEER NN
BlfEE - R =FM LEERARITAR - ¥
20239 AMERKZT - REWRS T 2400
B e KA B8 NINRITRE R = AE o
SR ITERPT)MEEBE RAR TP
7 AR 5| T 2% SN 5RO R R ER R P 1T
BYE  RAMEBIUEN R ERER -

BIKFER S KB REFREL H R 5H5R
B HHEEZHMBWRERNAREL
RBEBEERTEEEMNEEER - 2023F © &M
ERBEARRESEER3G  BMRES
g24%  RIPEHWEEFMHERETES T A -
E—SHE THAMAXEHNEDER - UKk
inner flowtER A RIE FHEREMERE - B0
BHETBUBEANIIMEFEMRETEE £2
B E TR I05RE - 2023F T ¥ Finner
flow GalleryfEdb R798 B4l & (& BN FA & - 15
TENEZBFMTET

=T = =FF% ANNUAL REPORT 2023 |} POP MART

15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Sales Revenue

Revenue of the Company increased from RMB4,617.3 million in 2022 to
RMB6,301.0 million in 2023, representing a year-on-year increase of 36.5%.

Revenue by channels

Revenue of the Company is generated in Mainland China and Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and overseas, including: 1. offline channels; 2. online channels;
and 3. wholesales channels and others. The following table sets out the

Company's revenue by channels in 2023 and 2022:

Bt 5 1ol R
HEWA

KRR AN2022FARKE46173BETE
FrE2023FARE6301.08 87T ALLER
36.5% ©

RIFEREE D WA

RRFHA R B R B R B R E R8s
B IBTERE 2B ERE RIMBERE
MEAM o TREFIARE2023F 2022 F HI%
REEDHWA -

For the year ended 31 December 2023 For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE2023F1283101LEE BE002F12831BILEE
Gross Gross
profit  Proportion profit  Proportion
Revenue margin  of revenue Revenue margin  of revenue
A EFE WAL WA EfE WAL
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Mainland China B A
Offline channels BTRE 3,027,815 63.0% 48.1% | 2,069,942 60.7% 44 8%
Online channels BmERE 1,710,469 60.5% 27.1% 1,829,809 57.8% 39.6%
Wholesales and others BB R EA 496,617 46.7% 7.9% 263,635 35.6% 5.8%
Total &3 5,234,901 60.6% 83.1% | 4,163,386 57.8% 90.2%
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas &R A& K 4h
Offline channels BTRE 640,287 74.4% 10.1% 150,768 73.4% 3.2%
Online channels BERE 155,805 73.5% 2.5% 90,224 74.5% 2.0%
Wholesales and others BE R EAM 270,009 37.6% 4.3% 212,946 32.6% 4.6%
Total =) 1,066,101 64.9% 16.9% 453,938 54.5% 9.8%
Grand total st 6,301,002 61.3% 100.0% | 4,617,324 57.5% 100.0%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

(1) FEA It

BTRE - B TWRAH202FHAR
2,0699B BB RE023FMAR
#30278BETL KR T463% AT

(1) Mainland China

- Offline channels. Revenue from offline sales increased by 46.3%
from RMB2,069.9 million in 2022 to RMB3,027.8 million in 2023. The

table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from offline sales

and the city tier: RBER T YA BRI T o
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
BZE2023F12A310LFE | HE202F12A3BLEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
'ON WAL WA WALELL 28)
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Retail stores TER 2,479,243 81.9% 1,691,112 81.7% 46.6%
Roboshops W2 AL 548,572 18.1% 378,830 18.3% 44.8%
Total &t 3,027,815 100.0% 2,069,942 100.0% 46.3%
Retail stores Roboshops
ZER BEABE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
BZNA3ALEE BZNA3ALEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% W00E 2023% 2000F
Number Revenue Number Revenue Number Revenue Number Revenue
ity tier BhER g2 WA gE Lo g2 WA gE WA
(RMB'000) (RMB000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(ARBTr) (AREFT) (AR®T ) (AREFT)
First-tier cities’ ik 120 1019936 3 684,944 592 146,735 559 100,293
New first-tier cities* M- 105 685,316 9 490952 672 173,346 634 118,727
Second-tier and other cities’  ~ 8 R E IR 138 773,991 11 515216 926 228,491 874 159810
Total &it 363 2,479,243 309 1691112 2,190 548,572 2067 378,830

3 Refer to first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou

and Shenzhen

¢ Refer to new first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Chengdu, Chongging,

Hangzhou, Wuhan, Xi'an, Zhengzhou, Qingdao, Changsha, Tianjin, Suzhou,

Nanjing, Dongguan, Shenyang, Hefei and Foshan

° Refer to cities other than first-tier cities and new first-tier cities in Mainland China

EHRBEAL—ARNT - B5FEIER - B BN

il

F& B A 3 ¥ — AR T
Mo EUE AT B

MR EE B

CELE Y
ES B FE R
N

5 R B P 3 B 25 — ARSI AT — AR T A SN I
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 46.6%
year-on-year from RMB1,691.1 million in 2022 to RMB2,479.2 million
in 2023. The status of retail stores of the Mainland China in 2023: as
of 31 December 2023, the number of retail stores increased by 34
as compared to 31 December 2022. As of 31 December 2023, there

were a total of 363 retail stores.

Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 44.8%
year-on-year from RMB378.8 million in 2022 to RMB548.6 million in
2023. The status of roboshops of the Mainland China in 2023: as of
31 December 2023, the number of roboshops increased by 123 as
compared to 31 December 2022. As of 31 December 2023, there

were a total of 2,190 roboshops.

- Online channels. Revenue from online sales decreased by 6.5%
from RMB1,829.8 million in 2022 to RMB1,710.5 million in 2023. The

table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online sales.

ZEE - ZEEHSWMAN2022F
BARE1,691.1 BB TIEMNE 20234
MARM247928 8T ALERT
46.6% ° 2023 F 1 B A i /5 4 AR 1B
S B E2023F 12 A31 BEE2022
FI2A3BMEEEHEEMT 34
R EHE2023F12831BAIEER
363% ©

WEEABIE - MR ABEHERAR
202F M ARME37883E B LIBINE
2023 F M ARMES486 B E T+ AL
R T 44.8% ° 2023F R B A EE AT
JERRRER B ZE2023F 128318
HZE20225 12031 BB AEER
ST 123 - BIE2023F12H31H
BEMEEE ARIE2,190M ©

BRERE - B EWAB202FHAR
51,8208 BB T NERI2023FMAR
17105887 THT65% AT A
45 EUABRAR o

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
HZ203F128310LLEE BZ00F12A3BLEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
WA 1 ON 171 WA o154 28
(RMB’ 000) (RMB’ 000)
AR®F ARETT
Pop Draw yahabitesiiey 729,280 42.6% 954,678 52.2% -23.6%
Tmall flagship store AR 321,966 18.8% 462,394 25.3% -304%
DouYin AETa 283,318 16.6% 53,331 2.9% 431.2%
Other online channels Hig L RE 375,905 22.0% 359,406 19.6% 46%
Total &t 1,710,469 100.0% 1,829,809 100.0% 6.5%

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




Online revenue sources in Mainland China include Pop Draw, Tmall
flagship store, DouYin and other online channels. In particular,
revenue from Pop Draw decreased by 23.6% from RMB954.7
million in 2022 to RMB729.3 million in 2023; revenue from Tmall
flagship store decreased by 30.4% from RMB462.4 million in 2022
to RMB322.0 million in 2023; revenue from DouYin increased by
431.2% from RMB53.3 million in 2022 to RMB283.3 million in 2023.

- Wholesales and others. Revenue from wholesales and others
increased by 88.4% from RMB263.6 million in 2022 to RMB496.6
million in 2023, primarily due to (1) the increase in sales to
wholesalers; and (2) the increase in revenue generated from POP

LAND since its opening in September 2023.

(2) Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas

- Offline channels. Revenue from offline sales increased by 324.7%
from RMB150.8 million in 2022 to RMB640.3 million in 2023.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

REAMER FIRABRERRIE SRS
. REEES AIETFAUREAM
BERE A BB HmaRRY
2002FMARMBOS47TEELTHRE
2023 FMARKET293EETL - T
23.6% RS HEME S W AE2022F KA
E#4624B 8T NEE2023FHAR
¥:3220B8 87T © TR T7304% : RIEF
BI2022FMARK33BETIERE
2023FMARM2833HETL R
431.2% °

R REM - B3 R A MU AL 2022
FMARE 2636 BB TIEREI20235F
H496.6 BETT - K T884%  EEH
R REHEFNHEESERE © 20288
BB T 44 B 70 2023 4F 9 I B 2 A5 AR Y
WA p -

(2) BHEEREIN

HETRE - GTRAH2WDL2FHAR
1508 A BT EFA R 2023 FHARE

i —

6403 B &L * R T324.7% °

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
BZ2023F12831BLFE HZ202F12A318EFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
'O WAL LN LN (14 25
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Retail stores TER 582,909 91.0% 135,559 89.9% 330.0%
Roboshops NG 57,378 9.0% 15,209 10.1% 277.3%
Total &t 640,287 100.0% 150,768 100.0% 324.7%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 330.0%
year on year from RMB135.6 million in 2022 to RMB582.9 million in
2023. The status of retail stores of Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and
overseas in 2023: as of 31 December 2023, the number of retail
stores increased by 42 as compared to 31 December 2022. As of 31

December 2023, there were a total of 70 retail stores.

Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 277.3%
year on year from RMB15.2 million in 2022 to RMB57.4 million
in 2023. The status of roboshops of Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan
and overseas in 2023: as of 31 December 2023, the number of
roboshops increased by 50 as compared to 31 December 2022. As
of 31 December 2023, there were a total of 99 roboshops.

—  Online channels. Revenue from online sales increased by 72.7%
from RMB90.2 million in 2022 to RMB155.8 million in 2023. The table

below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online sales.

ZEE - ZEEHSWMAR2022F
WARBI135.6B & TR 20234
MARKSS29BEL  ALERT
330.0% ° 2023 F B R & K INE & FH
BB BE2023F 12831 BHEE
202F 12 A3 AMTEEHEEMT
DR HE2023F12A31HEHEE
JE70R °

HWEEABE - HBABEHEEWARK
202F M AR 15288 T KE2023
FWARKES74BET  ALERT
277.3% ° 2023 FF VIR & KRG IMERE A F
I BE2023F12A3ALEE
202212 A3 1 AWM AR IE =1L
NTsofE  B=E2023F12A8318A%F
s AR5 99 o

— BERB-QREWAH2W02D2FHAR

o0 2 BB LRI 2023FNARE
1558B &I MERT72.7% ° AT AL
U ARR4E -

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
BZ2023F12831BLFE HZ202F 124318 EFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
O 1N s LN AR 25
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Shopee Shopee 42,885 27.5% 25,186 27.9% 70.3%
Pop Mart official website BT R R 7 A8k 39,479 25.4% 27,061 30.0% 45.9%
Other online channels Hib#R FRE 73,441 47.1% 37,977 42.1% 93.4%
Total ait 155,805 100.0% 90,224 100.0% 72.7%

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




Online revenue sources in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
include Shopee, Pop Mart official website and other online
channels. Revenue from Shopee increased by 70.3% from RMB25.2
million in 2022 to RMB42.9 million in 2023. Revenue from Pop Mart
official website increased by 45.9% from RMB27.1 million in 2022
to RMB39.5 million in 2023, primarily because we have refined our
operation in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas through
the rapid promotion in regional brand building and the launch of
local limited products based on the differentiation of local market

culture.

Wholesales and others. Revenue from wholesales and others in
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas increased by 26.8% from
RMB212.9 million in 2022 to RMB270.0 million in 2023, primarily due
to the expansion of business scale in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan
and overseas, combined with the diversification of IPs and product
categories, which increased the popularity of brands and IPs, as well

as the number of target customers.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Revenue by IPs

Pop Mart proprietary products are our major product type. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, revenue from proprietary products contributed
93.0% of our total revenue. Revenue from proprietary products increased by
39.8% from RMB4,190.0 million in 2022 to RMB5,858.0 million in 2023.

Proprietary products of Pop Mart are mainly divided into: artist IPs and

licensed IPs®, and below sets forth a breakdown of revenue by IPs.

RIZIPEI D HIULA

AABENEFEReRMO T2 RER -
BTERWAREE2023F12 4318 IEFEES
UL AR B R 93.0% » BEEMU2022F
HIAREE4190 08 BTERI2023FMNARE

b —

58580 B &L * HEK 739.8% °

WABRNEIEREIEN A« BMRIPMFEE
IPo - A TN AREIPEI D AU ABRAR o

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224

Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue
A L oN 14 A WA

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFT
Proprietary products BXEm 5,857,957 93.0% 4,189,971 90.8%
Artist IPs BTRIP 4,822,226 76.5% 3,639,705 78.9%
SKULLPANDA SKULLPANDA 1,024,788 16.3% 851,611 18.4%
MOLLY MOLLY 1,020,305 16.2% 802,155 17.4%
DIMOO DIMOO 737,666 11.7% 577,948 12.5%
THE MONSTERS THE MONSTERS 367,871 5.8% 263,002 5.7%
HIRONO N 351,201 5.6% 140,768 3.1%
Sweet Bean aN:iis 203,614 3.2% 147,940 3.2%
PINO JELLY PINO JELLY 158,074 2.5% 76,870 1.7%
HACIPUPU HACIPUPU 151,758 2.4% 42,797 0.9%
Other artist IPs H MBI 806,949 12.8% 736,614 16.0%
Licensed IPs BiEP 1,035,731 16.5% 550,266 11.9%
External procurement and others SMER HAt 443,045 7.0% 427,353 9.2%
Total &t 6,301,002 100.0% 4,617,324 100.0%

E In order to more intuitively reflect the revenue contribution of proprietary
products from artists” original IPs and externally licensed classic IPs, the Company
has reclassified the IPs classification method. Artist IPs include original proprietary
IPs and exclusive IPs, while licensed IPs are non-exclusive IPs.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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- Artist IPs. Artist IPs are the major product type of the Company,
primarily including SKULLPANDA, MOLLY, DIMOO and THE MONSTERS
and other IPs. Revenue from artist IPs increased by 32.5% from
RMB3,639.7 million in 2022 to RMB4,822.2 million in 2023, primarily due
to the fact that we continued to innovate our product design and enrich
our product types to launch more products that are popular among

consumers.

- Licensed IPs. Revenue from licensed IPs increased by 88.2% from
RMB550.3 million in 2022 to RMB1,035.7 million in 2023, primarily due
to the fact that we continuously deepened our cooperation with more

copyright owners to launch more styles and types of products.

Costs of Sales

Our costs of sales increased by 24.2% from RMB1,962.8 million in 2022 to
RMB2,436.9 million in 2023, primarily due to (1) the increase in costs of goods
from RMB1,693.5 million in 2022 to RMB2,042.7 million in 2023, which was
mainly due to the increase in sales; and (2) the increase in costs of design and
license from RMB159.7 million in 2022 to RMB236.6 million in 2023, which
was mainly due to more IP licensing fees and product design fees as a result
of the increase in the proportion of our proprietary products and the increase

in co-branded products.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Gross Profit

Our gross profit increased by 45.6% from RMB2,654.5 million in 2022 to
RMB3,864.1 million in 2023, primarily due to the increase in revenue and the
control of cost of sales. Our gross profit margin increased from 57.5% in 2022
to 61.3% in 2023, primarily due to the increase in gross profit margin of our

proprietary products.

Gross profit from Pop Mart proprietary products increase by 47.6% from
RMB2,518.2 million in 2022 to RMB3,716.2 million in 2023, primarily due to
the increase in revenue of sales from our Pop Mart proprietary products.
Gross profit margin of proprietary products increased from 59.7% in 2022 to
63.4% in 2023, primarily due to the fact that (1) we optimized our product
design and improved the cost control of raw material suppliers; and (2)
we enhanced the centralized procurement of suppliers of major product
categories, increased our bargaining power with suppliers and maintained

the stability of the suppliers’ pricing system.

Gross profit from external procurement and other products increased from
RMB136.4 million in 2022 to RMB147.9 million in 2023.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 36.3% from RMB1,470.8
million in 2022 to RMB2,004.7 million in 2023, among which, (1) employee
benefit expenses; and (2) depreciation of right-of-use assets accounted for

higher proportions.

- Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses increased
by 51.9% from RMB394.0 million in 2022 to RMB598.5 million in 2023,
primarily due to the increase in the number of sales personnel from
3,171 (due to structural adjustment of the Company, such figure was
reclassified and recalculated) as of 31 December 2022 to 3,735 as of 31
December 2023, primarily for supporting the expansion of our retail

stores and roboshop network.

POP MART
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- Depreciation of right-of-use assets. Our depreciation of right-of-use
assets increased by 13.2% from RMB269.3 million in 2022 to RMB304.9
million in 2023, mainly due to the increase in the number of offline retail
outlets by 76 compared to that as of 31 December 2022 to cater for our
business expansion in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan

and overseas.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 3.1% from RMB686.3
million in 2022 to RMB707.3 million in 2023. Among them, employee
benefit expenses accounted for higher proportions, and the number of our
administrative and design development personnel increased from 1,007 (due
to structural adjustment of the Company, such figure was reclassified and
recalculated) as of 31 December 2022 to 1,110 as of 31 December 2023.

Other Income

The other income of the Company increased by 64.4% from RMB45.6 million
in 2022 to RMB74.9 million in 2023. Among them, government grants
increased from RMB11.6 million in 2022 to RMB30.9 million in 2023.

Operating Profit

As a result of the above, the Group's operating profit increased by 111.0%
from RMB583.4 million in 2022 to RMB1,230.6 million in 2023.

Finance Income, Net

Our finance income, net increased from RMB29.1 million in 2022 to RMB151.9

million in 2023, primarily due to the increase in our interest income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense increased from RMB163.7 million in 2022 to
RMB327.0 million in 2023 as a result of the increase in profit before income
tax. Our effective tax rate dropped from 25.6% in 2022 to 23.1% in 2023.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the above, our profit for the year increased from RMB475.8
million in 2022 to RMB1,088.8 million in 2023.

Non-IFRS Financial Indicators

To supplement our financial information which are presented in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, we use non-IFRS adjusted net profit as
an additional financial measure, which is not required by, or presented in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. We believe that this non-IFRS
measure facilitates comparisons of operating performance from period to
period and company to company by eliminating potential impacts of items
that our management does not consider to be indicative of our operating
performance. We believe that this measure provides useful information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as they help our management.
However, our presentation of non-IFRS adjusted net profit may not be
comparable to a similarly titled financial measure presented by other
companies. The use of this non-IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical
tool, and investors should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for
analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as reported under
IFRS Accounting Standards.
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The non-IFRS adjusted net profit has not been calculated in accordance
with the IFRS Accounting Standards, thus it is deemed as non-IFRS financial
indicator. The non-IFRS adjusted net profit refers to the net profit after
excluding share based payment, while the non-IFRS adjusted net profit
margin refers to the non-IFRS adjusted net profit divided by revenue. The
following table set out the reconciliation of non-IFRS financial indicators of

the Company for the respective years.
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31 December 2023 31 December 2022

HZ20235F HE20226F
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(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

(AR T ) (AR¥ETFT)

Profit for the year F R A 1,088,771 475,801
Adjustments FARIEE

Share-based payment VARR 53 72 ZE 58 1 1< 5K e 101,748 97,739

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit FEEURR B T i A A S B AL R 1,190,519 573,540

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin FEBUPR B 75 R A S P B AL A 2 18.9% 12.4%

The management is of the view that share-based payment expenses are
non-cash items, which do not directly reflect our business operation. Hence,
through eliminating the effects of such items on calculation of non-IFRS
adjusted net profit, relevant operating performance can be better reflected,
and it would be more convenient to compare operating performance in

different years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Current Assets, Financial Resources and Capital Expenditures

In 2023, the Group adopted conservative and stable fund management and
financial policies with regard to its overall business operations. The Group

maintained the following resources to meet its working capital requirements:

Current assets and current liabilities

Our net current assets increased from RMB5,484.8 million as of 31 December
2022 to RMB5,950.2 million as of 31 December 2023, which was basically

stable.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent outstanding amounts receivable by us from our
customers in the ordinary course of business. Our trade receivables increased
from RMB194.4 million as of 31 December 2022 to RMB321.3 million as of 31
December 2023. The increase was primarily due to the increase in receivables
from wholesales and other channels as a result of business expansion in
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas. Trade receivables turnover days
amounted to 15 days as of 31 December 2023, which was in line with that of
2022.

Inventories

Our inventories comprise finished goods. Our inventories increased from
RMB867.0 million as of 31 December 2022 to RMB904.7 million as of 31
December 2023. The increase was primarily due to the increase in product
inventories to meet with the sales demands. Inventory turnover days
decreased from 156 days in 2022 to 133 days as of 31 December 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily comprise cash at bank. Cash and
cash equivalents increased from RMB685.3 million as of 31 December 2022 to
RMB2,077.9 million as of 31 December 2023, which was mainly due to (1) the
increase in cash flows from operating activities in 2023; and (2) the decrease

in certain time deposits in 2023.
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Trade payables

Trade payables primarily represent our obligation to pay for merchandise
from suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Trade payables increased
from RMB259.0 million as of 31 December 2022 to RMB444.9 million as of 31
December 2023. Trade payable turnover days increased from 49 days in 2022
to 53 days as of 31 December 2023.

Bank borrowings

As of 31 December 2023, we had a total of RMB15.1 million of bank
borrowings, representing short-term loans from a commercial bank (31
December 2022: nil). For more details, please refer to note 34 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any pledged assets as of 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: nil).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and
then multiplying by 100%. As of 31 December 2023, the Group's gearing ratio
was 22.0% as compared with the gearing ratio of 18.8% as of 31 December
2022.

Contingency

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings, nor are we
aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings involving us. If
we are involved in such material legal proceedings, we would record any loss
or contingent liabilities when, based on information then available, it is likely
that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group's subsidiaries operate in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao,
Taiwan and Overseas, and they are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to USD and HKD. Our
management considers that the business is not exposed to any significant
foreign exchange risk as the financial assets and liabilities of our Group
denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currencies
of our operating entities are not significant. We did not hedge against any
fluctuation in foreign currency during the period ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.
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Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures consist of purchases of property, plant and
equipment and purchases of intangible assets. The table below sets forth the

Company's capital expenditures in 2022 and 2023:

BEAREX

AARMEAHLBRIEBEVE BE MK
MRENBEEFEENTIE - TRE#I AR
B]2022F LA K 2023 FHYE AR 1B ¢

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

BZE2023F B Z=20224

12A31ALEE 12A31HIEFE

(RMB’ 000) (RMB' 000)

(AR¥F ) (AR¥EFTT)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE W% - WEFZE 324,179 266,132
Purchases of intangible assets BEBTEE 68,287 81,491
Total &t 392,466 347,623

Human Resources

As of 31 December 2023, we had a total of 4,845 employees, including
3,735 sales personnel and 1,110 administrative and development personnel.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, we incurred staff costs (including

remuneration, payrolls, allowances and benefits) of RMB1,048.5 million.

Future Plans on Significant Investments

As of 31 December 2023, we did not hold any significant investment.

We will continue to seek for potential strategic investment opportunities, as
well as potential quality target operations and assets that can create synergy

effect to the Group.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

As of 31 December 2023, we had not conducted any material acquisition or

disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
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Major Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties we face are relating to: (i) as a pop culture
entertainment company, we cannot assure that we will be able to design and
develop products that will be popular with consumers, or that we will be able
to maintain the popularity of successful products; (i) we may not realize the
full benefit of our licenses if the IPs we are granted license have less market
appeal than expected or if sales from the products that use those IPs are
not sufficient to satisfy the minimum guaranteed royalties; (i) our business
depends significantly on market recognition of our “Pop Mart” brand, and
any damage to our brand, trademarks or reputation, or failure to effectively
promote our brand, could materially and adversely impact our business and
results of operations; (iv) we use third-party manufactures to manufacture
all of our Pop Mart brand products, and failure in product quality control
may adversely affect our business; and (v) the slowdown in macro-economic
growth may weaken the demand in our products which may have a certain

negative impact on the Company's operating results.

Outlook

IP is at the core of our business. Through our innovative products, delicate
design and quality services, we aim to offer consumers with joyful pop
culture and artistic experience. At the same time, by elevating our brand
value, we will enhance the brand loyalty of users on Pop Mart products,

thereby maintaining our strong market position and competitiveness.

We will strive to enrich the types of our IPs, expand the portfolio of our
IPs, maintain high-quality design and innovation standards, introduce
more products as top-selling series, operate IPs continuously, strengthen
IPs” impression in the public’s eye, and deepen the emotional connection
between fans and IPs. In addition, we will increase types of pop toys and IP
side products, further explore the value of product lines such as MEGA, POP
BEAN, derivative products and BJD, and improve production technique and

sale procedures.
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Our international business will continue to grow rapidly, driving the global
penetration of our brands through the continued promotion of our overseas
DTC strategy and the deployment of physical stores, roboshops, cross-border
e-commerce platforms and other channels. We will strive to increase our
brand awareness and market share in pop toy market in overseas countries
and regions. Localization of operation is the core of our overseas operations
strategy. While enhancing the shopping experience and interaction of end
consumers, we will also cooperate with more local partners and artists to
explore more business models, IPs and product types that meet the needs of

local market.

We will strive to expand our channel network so as to reach more users. In
addition, we will continue to strengthen our operating capability, improve
user shopping experience, enhance member expansion and member
operation capability, promote innovative retail digitalized operation, reach
and retain users through diversified measures, and offer customized, better

services.

We will continue to promote pop toy culture through more diversified
means, influence the whole industry continuously, offer more benefits for
our privilege members, increase the stickiness of fans, as well as enhance the

cultural identity and brand awareness of fans.

While further engaging in the Pop Toy business, we will continue to expand
new brands including MEGA, GONG and inner flow. Through emerging
businesses such as amusement parks and games, we will further strengthen
our fans' understanding of IPs and increase their way to interact with IPs, so
as to enhance the emotional connection with IPs. Besides, we will construct
a more sophisticated and comprehensive business ecosystem with IP as its

core.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has no significant events
occurred after the reporting period which require additional disclosures or

adjustments.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out

as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Ning (£ ), aged 37, is our executive Director, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. Mr. Wang founded our
Group in October 2010, and is responsible for the overall strategic planning

and management of our Company.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in advertising from Sias International
College of Zhengzhou University (B8N K27 B HTBIFR EF) (currently
known as Sias University) in the PRC in June 2009, and his master's degree
in business administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University JE R REHEEIEEFT) in the PRC in June 2017.

Mr. Wang is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our
Company including Beijing Pop Mart, and Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding
Limited.

Mr. Wang is the spouse of Ms. Yang Tao, our vice president.

Ms. Liu Ran (£/£3), aged 36, is our executive Director and vice president. Ms.
Liu joined our Group in July 2011 shortly after graduating from university. Ms.

Liu is in charge of the president office of our Company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor's degree in tourism management from Sias
International College of Zhengzhou University (currently known as Sias
University) in the PRC in July 2010, and her master's degree in business
administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in the PRC in July 2020.

Mes. Liu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of our

Company.
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Mr. Si De (F]fE), aged 35, is our executive Director, chief operating officer.
Mr. Si joined our Group in March 2015, and is responsible for the operations
of the Group and the overall business in mainland China. Mr. Si joined our

Group as the brand director and was promoted to vice president in July 2016.

Mr. Si received his bachelor's degree in French studies from China
Communication University (P BIEEKE) in the PRC in July 2011, and
his master’'s degree in business administration from Guanghua School of

Management of Peking University in the PRC in July 2017.

Mr. Siis currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Company,
including Shanghai Pagu Commerce Co., Ltd. (/BB E S HER A TF),
Beijing Paquhuyu Technology Co., Ltd. Gt R EREHE AR A F]) and
Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural Communication Co., Ltd. (REZRBIFE L EE
AR AR,

Mr. Moon Duk Il (Xf&—), aged 45, is our executive Director, vice president
and president of international business. Mr. Moon joined our Group in
August 2018, responsible for overseeing the Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan
and overseas business department of our Company. Prior to that, Mr. Moon
served successively as a global business planning specialist, global business
planning senior specialist and global business planning junior manager at
the business development department of CJ Cheilledang Corporation from
July 2013 to July 2018, and a manager of the global strategy department of
CJ ENM from January 2009 to May 2013. From December 2004 to December
2008, Mr. Moon served at the planning management department of Lotte

Cinema Co,, Ltd.

Mr. Moon received his bachelor's degree in Chinese from Konkuk University
in Korea in February 2005, and his master's degree in business administration
from Peking University in the PRC in July 2018.

Mr. Moon is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries and joint

ventures of our Company, including Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding Pte. Ltd,,
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD., and POP MART (Thailand) CO., Ltd.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tu Zheng (B##), aged 46, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Tu was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. Tu has been serving as a partner of Shanghai Fenggiao Investment
Management Co. Ltd. (E/B#BTIIREERBRAF]) since May 2018. He
served as a partner at Shenzhen Qifu Capital Management Co., LTD (&3
MR EAREEBRAR]) from May 2015 to April 2018. From June 2007
to April 2015, Mr. Tu worked at Shenzhen Fortune Caizhi Venture Capital
Management Co. Ltd. (RYITTZEEM B RIEKREEEBR A A]) where he
served successively as an investment manager, an investment director, the
general manager of Zhejiang branch office, the deputy general manager of
East China and the head of TMT sector.

Mr. Tu received his bachelor’s degree in English studies from Zhejiang
University (HIRE) in the PRC in June 2000, and his master's degree in
public policy from the University of Chicago in the United States in June
2003. Mr. Tu currently holds the China Securities Investment Fund Practicing
Certificate granted by the Asset Management Association of China (FF BIz& %
WEESEBHE) in August 2017.

Mr. Tu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.

Mr. He Yu (fAI#&), aged 43, is our non-executive Director. Mr. He was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. He founded and served as a partner of Shenzhen Qianhai Heiyi Innovation
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) CFYIFTE REAIFIRE S E
P (ERAE)) since February 2016. Prior to that, Mr. He served as the head
of strategy and investment department at Beijing Bytedance Technology Co.
Ltd. b R FEBK B BHE B BR 22 7)) from August 2015 to February 2016.

Mr. He received his bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade
from Nankai University (FAFAZ) in the PRC in June 2003, and his master’s
degree in finance from the University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom
in November 2005. Mr. He was admitted as a Chartered Financial Analyst by
the CFA Institute in September 2008, and was granted the China Securities
Investment Fund Practicing Certificate by the Asset Management Association
of China in February 2017.

Mr. He is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.
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EESkEAREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Jianjun ((REE), aged 57, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 December 2020 (the “Listing Date”"), and is

responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently a professor of organizational and strategic
management at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University.
Mr. Zhang's research focuses on corporate social responsibilities, corporate
political activities, leaders and leadership teams and corporate culture,
among other subjects. Mr. Zhang has been a faculty member at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University since March 2004. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated in-depth understanding of corporate governance from his
research over the past 15 years. His publication, Marketization and Democracy
in China, has won the first prize of the 11th sociology studies achievement
award of the Peking University in March 2011 and second prize of the 6th
award for outstanding achievement of scientific research in colleges and
universities issued by the Ministry of Education of the PRC. Mr. Zhang was
also awarded the Li Yining Teaching Award in December 2014 and Li Yining
Research Award in December 2018 by the Guanghua school of Management
of Peking University. Mr. Zhang served as an independent director of CCB Life

Insurance Company Limited from November 2014 to August 2017.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor's and master's degrees in law from Peking
University in the PRC in July 1989 and July 1992, respectively. Mr. Zhang
received his Ph.D in sociology from the University of California, Berkeley in
the United States in December 2003.

Mr. Wu Liansheng (5E4), aged 53, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board. Mr. Wu was faculty
member at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University from
September 2001 to March 2022, and has been faculty member at Southern

University of Science and Technology Business School since March 2022.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu had served directorships in certain listed companies. He served as
an independent director of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (FERERIRE
NE&DBBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600011), the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 902) and the New York Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: HNP) from May 2008 to July 2014, an independent
director of RiseSun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (5% 5% /R i E 2R I
BABMRAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002146) from January 2009 to January 2012, an independent director
of Western Mining Co,, Ltd. (FAEFEZR D BRAF]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601168) from February 2011 to
September 2015, an independent director of Wanda Cinema Line Co. Ltd (B
EBXRGIM AR AF]) (now known as Wanda Film Holding Co., Ltd (8
EBERM AR AR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002739) from January 2011 to November 2015, an independent
non-executive director of China National Building Material Company Limited
(P EIEM RN BR AR,
Code: 3323) from November 2011 to May 2016, an independent director of
Xinhuanet Co., Ltd (¥TEE A% (DB BR A A)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603888) from May 2014 to March 2016 and an
independent director of BOC International (China) Co., Ltd. (PR BIFR &
f&HEBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 601696) from September 2018 to March 2021. Mr. Wu has served as
an independent director of Rightway Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00321) since May 2020, and has

served as an independent director of Agricultural Bank Of China Limited, a

a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock

company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock code: 601288) and
the Stock Exchange (Stock code:1288) since November 2021.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in economics from Wuhan University
in the PRC in July 1993, his master's degree in economics from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1996, and his Ph.D in management from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (7 3 87 48 A £2) (now known
as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (FR R B A&EBUAAE)) in the
PRC in June 1999.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESkEAREEERE

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary (BESIR), aged 40, is our independent non-
executive Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for

providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ngan has served as the chief financial officer at Meitu, Inc, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1357) since June 2015. He was
appointed as one of the joint company secretaries of Meitu, Inc. on 2 August
2016, and became the company secretary of Meitu, Inc. since 15 December
2019. Between May 2012 and June 2015, Mr. Ngan held the positions of
chief operating officer, chief financial officer and joint company secretary at
Forgame Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 484). Prior to that, he was the director and head of Hong Kong and
China Internet research at UBS AG, where he worked from July 2006 to April
2012.

Mr. Ngan received his bachelor of science degree in economics from the
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania in the United States in 2006. He
has been a CFA Charterholder since 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Ning (E88), aged 37, is our executive Director, Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For details of his
biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this

section.

Mr. Si De (F]4E), aged 35, is our executive Director, Chief Operations Officer.
For details of his biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors”in this section.

Mr. Moon Duk Il (3Z{&E—), aged 45, is our executive Director, vice president
and president of international business. For details of his biography, please

see the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. Yang Tao (#3%), aged 37, is our vice president. Ms. Yang joined our
Group in October 2010 after completion of her master’s program, and is in
charge of IP operation, product R&D and the Inner flow art organization of
our Company. Ms. Yang served as an executive director of the Company from
May 2019 to March 2024.

Ms. Yang received her bachelor's degree in general studies from Fort Hays
State University in the United States in May 2009, and her master’s degree in
communication studies from Hong Kong Baptist University in Hong Kong in
November 2010.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Yang is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of

our Company.

Ms. Yang is the spouse of Mr. Wang, our executive Director, Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company.

Ms. Liu Ran (2]8), aged 36, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors”in this section.

Mr. Yang Jingbing (#887K), aged 45, is the Chief Financial Officer of our
Company. Mr. Yang joined our Group in August 2017, and is responsible for

the management of finance of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yang served successively as a manager of
the finance and capital department, an assistant to the general manager
and a chief financial officer of Beijing BBMG Dacheng Development Co.,
Ltd. (At REBAKFEEBRAF]) (now known as Beijing BBMG Property
Development Group Co., Ltd. b RE&BEMERELEEFRAF)) from
March 2010 to August 2017. He served as a manager of financial planning
department Beijing Dacheng Development Co., Ltd. (b R AR FEE AR A
Al) from March 2009 to March 2010. From September 2007 to March 2009,
Mr. Yang served as a member of the finance section of the listing office of
BBMG Corporation (3L R & B 15 B R A F). Mr. Yang served as a staff of the
finance department of Beijing GEM Real Estate Development Company (3t &
T3 EFEHE M QF]) from July 2002 to September 2007.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in law and management in June
2002 from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC, and his
master's degree in business administration in June 2016 from the Guanghua

School of Management of Peking University in the PRC.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERESE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is a leading pop toy company, and a pioneer and key
promoter of pop toy culture in China. IP is at the core of our business. We
have established an integrated operation platform covering the entire
industry chain of pop toy IPs, including four segments being IP incubation
and operation, pop toys and retail, theme park and IP experience, and digital
entertainment, through which we light up the passion of fans and bring

them joy.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in

the consolidated financial statements on pages 180 to 318 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

We intend to distribute dividends to our Shareholders on an annual basis
of no less than 20% of our distributable net profit, which is subject to the
discretion of our Directors. The Board, with the sanction of the Shareholders
in general meeting, may direct any dividend be satisfied wholly or in part by
the distribution of specific assets of any kind. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our constitutional
documents and the Cayman Companies Law. Our Shareholders in a general
meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed
the amount recommended by our Board. No dividends shall be declared
or payable except out of our profits and reserves of our Company lawfully
available for distribution including share premium. No dividend shall carry

interest against our Company.
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The Board will review dividend policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared and

paid:

our results of operations;

our cash flows;

our financial condition;

our capital requirements;

relevant legal requirements; and

other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In accordance with the second amended and restated Articles of Association,
the Company in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but

no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

As at 31 December 2023, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the

shareholders of the Company waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of RMB28.21 cents
per ordinary Share issued for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 21 May 2024 (the “AGM"). The final dividend is payable
to the Shareholders whose names are listed in the register of members of the
Company on Thursday, 30 May 2024. Once approved by the AGM, the final
dividend is expected to be distributed on Wednesday, 12 June 2024.
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ExgRESE

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company'’s securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on 21 May 2024. The notice of the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due course in
the manner as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 16 May
2024 to Tuesday, 21 May 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 14 May 2024.

In order to determine the entitlement to the proposed final dividends,
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 27 May 2024 to
Thursday, 30 May 2024 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of Shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be qualified to obtain
final dividends, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 24 May 2024.

17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the Group's
performance during the year, using financial key performance indicators
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position as well
as the outlook of the Group's business are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 32 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis”on page 31 of this annual report,

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility to promote a sustainable and eco-
friendly environment. In this respect, we strive to minimize our environmental
impact by reducing our carbon footprint and to build our corporation in a

sustainable way.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, we are subject to various
environmental protection laws and regulations. For more details, please
refer to “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report
for our work in respect of environmental protection, social and governance

during year ended 31 December 2023.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. Directors confirm that, during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we had
not involved in any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against
us or any of our Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial conditions or results of operations. Furthermore, to
the knowledge of our Directors, there is no pending or foreseeable litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceeding against us or any of our Directors
that could cause a material and adverse effect on our business, financial

conditions or results of operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, the Group had complied with the laws in all material respects, including
the requirements under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the SFO and the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules for, among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate

governance.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. This summary

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of 31 December 2023, we had a total of 4,845 employees. Substantially all

of our employees are based in the PRC.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training are regularly
provided to our employees by internally sourced speakers or externally hired

consultants.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to

time.

We enter into standard contracts and agreements regarding confidentiality,
intellectual property, employment, commercial ethics and non-competition
with all of our executive officers and the vast majority of our employees.
These contracts typically include a non-competition provision and a

confidentiality provision effective during and after their employment with us.

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our
employees, and we have not experienced any significant labor disputes or
any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended 31

December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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Customers

Our customers primarily consist of our fans and distributors, and to a lesser
extent, our bulk purchase corporate customers. We generally provide credit
terms to our wholesale customers ranging from 30 to 90 days. Certain
wholesale customers with good history and long-term relationship are
extended preferential credit terms of up to 180 days. We have a diversified

customer base.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's sales to its five largest

customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

Suppliers

Currently, our suppliers primarily include selected third-party manufacturers
in China. We select third-party manufacturers based on factors such as
quality, capacity, price, years of operation, reputation and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Most of our third-party manufacturers have
extensive industry experience and cooperate with other major toy brands in
China and globally. In addition, our suppliers also include third-party brand

owners from whom we procure their products and sell through our network.

We usually enter into supply agreements of at least one year with our
suppliers, subject to our standard terms and conditions. In most cases, when
orders placed with a particular supplier exceed the agreed amount, we will
be entitled to a percentage rebate or discount on the purchase price as
agreed with the supplier. Our suppliers may grant us credit terms of up to
180 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for 60.6% of the Group's total purchases and

purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 24.5%.

So far as our Directors are aware, none of our Directors or executive officers
of our Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates or any
Shareholders of our Company holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of our Company immediately following the completion of the Global
Offering, had any interests in any of our five largest suppliers during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,348,243,150 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
317 December 2023 are set out on pages 185 to 186 in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company'’s reserve available for distribution
to shareholders amounted to approximately RMB11,964,634,000. For more

details, please refer to note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 14 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the Latest Practicable
Date and based on the information publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the

minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association or
the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year

ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out

below: UM

Name Position in the Company

] R AR B

Directors

=

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
ITERLE WITEE FFSLFENITHRER

Ms. Yang Tao (resigned as Executive Director
on 20 March 2024)
BB T (R20244F 3 H20 HFERHTT

Vice President

EBE) Bl4azt
Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President
2l/Lt BITEENEIRR
Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer
AlEEA WITES  BFELTE

Mr. Moon Duk Il (appointed as Executive
Director on 20 March 2024)

AR (FR20249F3 20 HEZ(ER#TT

Executive Director, Vice President and President of International Business

EBE) HITER - BN ERER A
Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director
EELE FEMITES
Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director
R4 FMITES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent Non-executive Director
REHSTE BUIFITES
Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent Non-executive Director
REESESE BUIFHITES
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent Non-executive Director
BESIR E BIIFHITES
Senior management
EREERE
Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
TEEE BITEE  FFSLFERITHRER
Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer
AIfELAE BITEE BEEER
Mr. Moon Duk Il Executive Director, Vice President and President of International Business
MBSt BITEF - Bl MBERERER
Ms. Yang Tao Vice President
BRRL Bl4azt
Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President
2HFt BITEENEIAR
Mr. Yang Jingbing Chief Financial Officer
1SRk E ElE3E0)
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management do not

have any relationship amongst them.

In accordance with articles 16.2 and 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Moon Duk II, Mr. Zhang Jianjun, Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King Leung
Gary will retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-

election as Directors at the AGM.

None of the retiring Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory

obligations.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on

pages 33 to 39 of this annual report.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Liu Ran and Mr.
Si De, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. Mr. Moon Duk Il has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three year
commencing from his appointment, which are subject to termination in
accordance with his service contact. The service contract will be automatically

renewed upon expiration.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by
either the non-executive Directors or the Company. The service contract will

be automatically renewed upon expiration.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either the independent non-executive Director or the
Company. The appointment letter will be automatically renewed upon

expiration.
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The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement and

rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service agreement which
is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive

INDEPENDENT NON-

Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 December
2023 and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

On 20 March 2024, Ms. Yang resigned from her position as an executive
director of the Company, in order to focus on IP operation and product
R&D. On the same day, Mr. Moon Duk Il was appointed by the Board as an
executive director of the Company.

Mr. Moon has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that
are applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer and the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information to the
Stock Exchange on 18 March 2024, and he has confirmed he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to the Directors’
and chief executive’s information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgREE

EENImATAHEBERANTERESS
R ERIRS -

BEERT AR LARRKEEMMEAR
AR —FARE I EE CEERERSN) RIR
RIE& B BRF ek

BYFATESNE LM

RAREEBESBYIFNTESRE LTHRA
FEIIEAIEHBEBREB I ENFTERRE -
RRAFRE  REZE2023F12A31 8 ILFEEH
M 2BBYIINTESHBBELALT - BE
ERBERATABDBEILAL -

EZERETH

R2024F 3208 - HRETEHEARQRRITE
EOLEFRABEECERERTE - R
H NE—S4EREESSLEALRANTE
$o

NHEBR2024F3 18 B ER EmARE
3.00DMEFTIAERER - NABRIER LT
TTAESZEAM ETHARNZE R R RATE
HEREAREEEBREEMNEEERE  BF
BRE THRIEALEMEITAESNERT

BRAREFREEN  BEEOEERTHE
AR EBARE LB RAIE1351B0)EF U
-

=T = =FF% ANNUAL REPORT 2023 |} POP MART

49



50

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExgRESE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

EERTBRAZRKAD - HER
PREEIFNEZERKXE

M2023F12A318 » ARRIESRRITBHAHERN
AAE S EA AR EE (TER(BEHFRPE
B EXVER) BB - MRRARR () M EHERE
BRIBE(ESRBE KRG EXVIE 7 RESH
ERMEARARE MBI (BERE(ERFLRE
&G B IR E SR EERR BB R
MHKR) - SIRE(EFREEEN) E3520678
FIFEME MRS SRBIZESTRIE 51T
MEARRNB RS AR IAT

RAR TR A KA R D K

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Shares held™ Company (%)
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest FERe ER NG
EEpnA B RERHE HEROEAHD BAE D (%)™
Mr. Wang Ning Beneficiary and founder of a trust; and Interest of 676,081,407 (L) 50.15%
FEEE controlled corporation®®
BERNZmAREA - RZEEEEROY
Ms. Yang Tao © Interest of spouse ©® 676,081,407 (L) 50.15%
HREL O Al (B rER @
Mr. Si De Founder of a discretionary trust ©; and beneficial owner 12,438,126 (L) 0.92%
AlfER L MIFETERIEAC : REREBA
Mr. Tu Zheng Interest of controlled corporation ") 32,910,000 (L) 2.44%
=i R EE R
Mr. He Yu Interest of controlled corporation © 2,088,310 (L) 0.15%
flREE R EE R
Notes: BT

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the Company had issued 1,348,243,150 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
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GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
31,196,420 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 72,903,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 41.99% and 17.81% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

Ms. Yang Tao is the spouse of Mr. Wang Ning. By virtue of the SFO. Ms. Yang Tao is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Wang Ning.

Ms. Yang Tao was resigned as an executive Director of the Company with effect
from 20 March 2024.

Sidsi Holding Limited is an investment holding company incorporated under the
laws of BVI and wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of XM Family Trust
set up by Mr. Si (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Si De. Mr. Si De is deemed to be
interested in 10,933,075 Shares held by Sidsi holding Limited under the SFO.

Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited is wholly owned by Shanghai Zhuniao Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership), which is 99.9% and 0.1% owned
by Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
respectively. Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited
Partnership) is owned as to 1% by Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership), while Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) is owned as to 69% by Mr. Tu
Zheng. Mr. Tu Zheng is therefore deemed to be interested in the 32,910,000
shares in the Company held by Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited by virtue of the
SFO.

BA Capital Fund Ill, L.P. is held as to 3% by BA Capital Limited, which is indirectly
owned as to 51% by Mr. He Yu. Mr. He Yu is therefore deemed to be interested in
the 2,088,310 shares of the Company held by BA Capital Limited by virtue of the
SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

B EXCATIREE SN 20236128318 - HHE
RAREEHRARRKEATEEEE (ERER
(FHRPEED) BEXVE) BBHD - BRERGR
BEREFRES IR AEE TARIERC(ES R
EIRHI) EXVEE 7 REHDEAEMG AR R K&
B FT (RIERIECE S KBGO K8 B 1&C
BRERSIERRE REBANERROKXR) - AR
ABRIECEFH REFEEG)) B35216BARA A RT
EMELM  IRBEEETRENEARRR
B TR RS TOR A o

FERRRR G RAEBRGN#E
mRAR

72023512 A31 8 - BARRES RITHAH
Fran - RHAT (RRRIES RITBAERRIN
IR D SRR B IR IR (B H RATE 401D
EXVEBE 2 R FE 3 BBA M A A A FE R &
(BHREEIGEH) B3R EARARRFENE
s FrEi sk R SRR

RAR TR A KA R K

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding

underlying interest in the

Shares held™ Company (%)

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest R, HAED T RAE

REEH B REEME HERGEH A E DL (%)™

UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited Trustee® 571,981,960 (L) 42.42%

HFEAQ

GWF Holding Limited Beneficial owner®? 571,981,960 (L) 42.42%
BmEEAY

Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited Beneficial owner® 72,903,027 (L) 541%
BEmfa ALY

DFZQ Interest of controlled corporation” 69,574,800 (L) 5.16%

FTEERGERAT AR

Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2023, the Company had issued 1,348,243,150 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares.
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(2)  GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
31,196,420 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

(3)  Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 72,903,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 41.99% and 17.81% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

(4) DFZQ (R EBEHMHDBRAR]) is a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability. DFZQ is deemed to be interested in 69,574,800 Shares held
by Shanghai Orient Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd. under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than the Directors of the Company) who
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year,
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the

Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no issuance of debentures was

made by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their associates or the
controlling shareholders had any interests in any business which competes
or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

The Group entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements which would
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to

Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Background

The Company is prohibited from directly owning any equity interest in Paqu
Huyu. Therefore, in order for our Group to effectively control and enjoy the
entire economic benefit of Paqu Huyu, a series of Contractual Arrangements
have been entered into among Beijing Pop Mart, Paqu Huyu, and the
Relevant Shareholders. The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Paqu Huyu in consideration for
the services provided by Beijing Pop Mart to Paqu Huyu; (i) exercise effective
control over Paqu Huyu; and (iii) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Paqu Huyu when and to the extent permitted
by PRC law.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from Paqu Huyu to our Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements

after completion of the Reorganization:

Relevant
Beijing Pop Mart  |¢---------
eying Pop Ma < Shareholders @
A
w Lo 100%
v v
Paqu Huyu

“ 7 denotes legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest

“......70 denotes the Contractual Arrangements

(1) Beijing Pop Mart provides software development and other technical consultation
services in exchange for service fees from Paqu Huyu.
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(2)  The Relevant Shareholders executed an exclusive option agreement in favour
of Beijing Pop Mart, for the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests and/or
assets in Paqu Huyu. The Relevant Shareholders pledged as first charge all of their
respective equity interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security

for any or all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance
of their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and
Powers of Attorney. The Relevant Shareholders executed the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement and Powers of Attorney in favour of Beijing Pop Mart.

(3)  Mr. Wang Ning holds 91.56% of the shares of Paqu Huyu. 27 other shareholders
hold an aggregate of 8.44% of the shares of Paqu Huyu, including Mr. Song Quan
(0.31%), Mr. Wu Zhongfu (0.31%), Mr. Zhao Jianyi (0.31%), Ms. Zhou Lixia (0.31%),
Mr. Xiao Yang (0.31%), Mr. Mai Gang (0.31%), Mr. Yang Jingbing (0.31%), Ms. Li
Shuangshuang (0.31%), Mr. Wang Pei (0.31%), Ms. Yu Chunxiao (0.31%), Mr. Chen
Hua (0.31%), Ms. Yang Guifang (0.31%), Ms. Ma Honghong (0.31%), Mr. Yin Wei
(0.31%), Mr. Si De (0.31%), Ms. Yang Tao (0.31%), Mr. Zhou Lifeng (0.31%), Mr.
Cheng Fu (0.31%), Mr. Zhang Chao (0.31%), Mr. Wu Yi (0.31%), Mr. Xing Zongyu
(0.31%), Mr. Yang Jigan (0.31%), Ms. Yu Jing (0.31%), Mr. Hu Jian (0.31%), Mr. Cai
Xiaodong (0.31%), Mr. Xuan Yilang (0.31%) and Ms. Liu Ran (0.31%). Mr. Wang
Ning and the 27 other shareholders are collectively referred to as the “Relevant
Shareholders".

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
Exclusive Option Agreement

Pagu Huyu and its Relevant Shareholders entered into an exclusive option
agreement with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 upon completion
of the Reorganization (collectively, the “Exclusive Option Agreement”),
pursuant to which Beijing Pop Mart (or a third party designated by it, the
“designee”) will be granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in and/or assets of Paqu Huyu for a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws
request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case
the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Relevant Shareholders shall return any
amount of purchase price they have received to Paqu Huyu. At Beijing Pop
Mart's request, the Relevant Shareholders and/or Paqu Huyu will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or the
relevant assets of Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart (or its designee) after Beijing
Pop Mart exercises its purchase right. The Exclusive Option Agreement is
for an initial term of 10 years. The Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu
shall agree to an extension of the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement
if Beijing Pop Mart requests for extension before the expiry, and shall sign a
new Exclusive Option Agreement or continue the obligations of the Exclusive

Option Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.
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Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement

Paqu Huyu entered into an Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 (the "Exclusive Consultation
and Service Agreement’), pursuant to which Paqu Huyu will agree to
engage Beijing Pop Mart as its exclusive provider of software development
and promotion, technical support, business cooperation consultation, market
consultancy, customer management consultancy, public relations and
human resources consultancy, market research, setting market development
plans and other relevant consultation and services required by Paqu Huyu,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, Beijing Pop Mart
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, which will be wired to
the designated account of Beijing Pop Mart upon issuance of payment

notification by Beijing Pop Mart.

Unless terminated by Beijing Pop Mart prior to the expiry of the Exclusive
Consultation and Service Agreement, it is for an initial term of 10 years and
may be extended by Beijing Pop Mart for a term determined by Beijing Pop
Mart, and shall sign a new Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
or continue the obligations of the Exclusive Consultation and Service

Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.

Share Pledge Agreement

Pagu Huyu, the Relevant Shareholders and Beijing Pop Mart entered into
a share pledge agreement on 18 December 2019 (collectively, the “Share
Pledge Agreement’). Under the Share Pledge Agreement, the Relevant
Shareholders will pledge as first charge all of their respective equity
interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security for any or
all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance of
their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement.
Beijing Pop Mart is entitled to implement the pledge under the Share Pledge
Agreement if the above default is not successfully resolved to Beijing Pop
Mart's satisfaction within 10 days upon the written demand. The pledges
under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly registered with the

relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.
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Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

A Voting Rights Proxy Agreement has been entered into between the
Relevant Shareholders, Beijing Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu on 18 December
2019, whereby the Relevant Shareholders will irrevocably, unconditionally
and exclusively appoint Beijing Pop Mart or a designated person as their
exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
Pagu Huyu and to exercise all of their rights as a registered shareholder of
Pagu Huyu. As a result of the Powers of Attorney, we, through Beijing Pop
Mart, is able to exercise management control over the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of Paqu Huyu. The Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement also provided that, in order to avoid potential
conflicts of interest, where the Relevant Shareholders are officers or directors
of our Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favor of other unrelated

officers or the Directors of our Group.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon 30 days of written
notice given by Beijing Pop Mart once Beijing Pop Mart has exercised its right
to purchase all equity interest or assets of Paqu Huyu under the Exclusive
Options Agreement. Paqu Huyu has no right to unilaterally terminate the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement unless provided by law. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon expiry, unless extended based on
relevant provisions of the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate prior to expiry only when Beijing Pop Mart
has committed gross negligence, fraud, other illegal activities, declares
bankrupt or enters into liquidation. Shall Beijing Pop Mart declare bankrupt
or enters into liquidation prior to the expiry of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement, the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate automatically.
Despite the provisions mentioned, Beijing Pop Mart has the power to
terminate the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement at any time given 30 days of

written notice to the Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu.
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Spouse Undertakings

Each of the spouses of the Relevant Shareholders executed an irrevocable
undertaking on 18 December 2019, whereby he/she expressly and irrevocably
acknowledged and undertook that (i) any equity interests held by his/her
spouse as a registered shareholder in Paqu Huyu do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are
in conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) he/she had never
participated and will not participate in the operation or management of Paqu

Huyu.

Business Activities of Paqu Huyu and Significance to the Group

Our growth could be attributed to our dedication to promoting pop toy
culture and have attracted a premium and passionate fan base. We have
membership program to build our fan community, enhance its loyalty, and
incentivize repeat purchases through a variety of membership benefits.
Through our membership program, we are also able to communicate with
our fans in a frequent, efficient and real time manner. We are exploring new
and fun ways to develop a comprehensive community with our fans and our
online community, including online culture services and internet information
services. In order to expand, we launched Paqu Huyu whose principal
business activities are to conduct online culture services and internet
information services to our fans and community (collectively, the “Relevant

Businesses”).

Reasons for Adoption of the Contractual Arrangements

The Relevant Businesses of Pagu Huyu are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations. Paqu
Huyu currently holds an ICP License and an ICB License, which are required
for the operation of the Relevant Businesses. After consultation with our
PRC Legal Advisor, we determined that it was not viable for our Group to
directly hold any equity ownership in Paqu Huyu. Instead, we decided that,
in line with common practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign
investment restrictions, we would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by Paqu
Huyu through the Contractual Arrangements between Beijing Pop Mart, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company established in the PRC, on the one

hand, and Paqu Huyu and the Relevant Shareholders, on the other hand.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of contractual arrangements

and the relinquishment of our interest in Paqu Huyu.

Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Paqu Huyu or its Relevant
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual

arrangements.

We may lose the ability to use assets held by Paqu Huyu that are
material to our business operations if Paqu Huyu declare bankruptcy or

become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The Relevant Shareholders of Paqu Huyu may have conflicts of interest

with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.

If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of
Paqu Huyu the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to certain

limitations and substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and
implementation of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact
the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance

and business operations.

Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the value of your

investment.
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For further details of these risks, please refer to the section headed "Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus

of our company.
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Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of our Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for

review and discussion as and when they arise;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with

the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and

our Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional
advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing
Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu to deal with specific issues or matters arising

from the Contractual Arrangements.

Material Changes

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there were no material changes in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which the

Contractual Arrangements were adopted.

Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there has not been any unwinding of any
Contractual Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the adoption of

the Contractual Arrangements are removed.
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Confirmations

Our Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) no transaction has been carried
out during the Reporting Period which have not been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;
(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by Paqu Huyu to
the Relevant Shareholders which are not otherwise subsequently assigned
or transferred to our Group; (iii) no new contract has been entered into,
renewed or reproduced between our Group and Paqu Huyu during the
Reporting Period; and (iv) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, and are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our Group
is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its Shareholders as a

whole.

No service fee was paid by Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart pursuant to
the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023. The revenue and net loss of Paqu Huyu subject to the
Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately RMBO million and
RMB1.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively. The
total assets and total liabilities of Paqu Huyu subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB0.8 million and RMB1.6

million as at 31 December 2023, respectively.

The auditor of the Company confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in

accordance with relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
dividends or other distributions have been made by Paqu Huyu to the
holders of the equity interests of Paqu Huyu which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as the related party transactions involving payment of remuneration to
certain Directors, which constitute continuing connected transactions fully
exempt from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.76(1)
or Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended 31 December 2023,
none of these related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in the annual report, the Company does not have any

disclosure obligations under Rule 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or an entity connected with
a Director was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract which is significance in relation to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during the year ended 31 December
2023 or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023 between the Company
and a person other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time

employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) in relation to directors” and officers’
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the Reporting

Period.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its associated
companies during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date.

STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors.
The packages were set by benchmarking with companies in similar industries,
companies with similar size in the market, volume and complexity of work.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the

Group.

The remuneration payable to our employees includes salaries, bonuses and
employee benefit plans contributions. The salaries of our employees are
generally determined by the employees’ respective position, qualification,
experience and performance. The bonuses are calculated based on our
employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance of
our employees. In order to attract and retain our employees, we assess
the remuneration package offered to our employees on an annual basis to
determine whether any adjustment to the basic salaries and bonus should be

made.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to
time. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no forfeiture of
contributions under the defined contribution plans of the Group, and there
were no forfeited contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the

existing level of contributions.
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We provide training programs for all of our employees to enhance our
employees’ knowledge, skills and capability relevant to our business. All of
our new hires will be provided with an induction program to familiarize with
the Group, followed by on-the-job training based on departmental needs
and the development strategies of the Group. We also provide promotion
opportunities for capable employees as we have policies and procedures

setting out the assessment criteria for promotion.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 38 and note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. During the year ended 31
December 2023, there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors, past Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement

to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:

HPAAARERAEIIGE - NIERES S
BPIRBERA A - KBERBED - BRABH
FrE# B TIREHEABIEIIRE - MEERER
£E  ERBREAFFIFSERAEEERBAL
TTHEBIEI - MARRMCHERRREF
SIS FHRRT A ER) - MM R BRI

BRRHEHE -

EERAEEaME ALTREZ2023F12H31
BIEFERNMEFED RSN EGRE Mg RR
FE38FIMIEE33 « REE2023F12 A3 BILFfE
HE - AERYEREAES  BASENER
ZEETMA TS EARRSIEMAERSE
E =k hn A& B SEEh SR L A 1 -

Emolument bands (in HKD) < &6 B (BB TTAET)

HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000
HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000
HKD10,000,001 to HKD10,500,000

1,000,001 7L 2 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 7% 2,500,000 7T
4,000,001 70 £ 4,500,000 7T
6,000,001 % 7T £6,500,0007% 7T
6,500,001 % 7L £ 7,000,000 7T
8,500,001 78 7L £ 9,000,000/8 7T

10,000,001 7T £ 10,500,000 7T

EEEREEABMSEROTRAET]
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
(Number of Senior (Number of Senior
Management) Management)
HZE2023F BZE 20224
12A318LFE 2ANHIEFE
(BREEEBAR) (SREREAED
- 2
2 1
1 1
- 1
- 1
1 —
1 —
1 —
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POST-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
on 24 July 2020 (the “Adoption Date”) and amended on 17 May 2023 (the
“Amendment Date”). Our Company appointed Trident Trust Company (HK)

Limited as the trustee (the "Trustee”) of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

to administer the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme with respect to the grant of

any award by the Board (an “Award") which may vest in the form of Shares

("Award Shares”) or the actual selling price of the Award Shares in cash in

accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. As at 31 December 2023,

the remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme was approximately

six years and eight months. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used in

this section shall have the same meanings as those defined in the circular of
the Company dated 24 April 2023.

(a)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are: (i) to align the
interests of Eligible Persons with those of the Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the
increase in value of the Shares; and (ii) to encourage and retain eligible
persons to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of

the Group.

Participant of the Scheme

The eligible persons who may be selected to become a participant of
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are any individuals, or corporate
entities (as the case may be) being any of (i) an Employee Participant; (ii)
a Related Entity Participant; and (iii) a Service Provider, who the Board or
its delegates considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will
contribute to the Group. No individual who is resident in a place where
the grant, acceptance or vesting of the Awards pursuant to the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations
of such place or where, in the view of the Board or its delegates,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes
it necessary or expedient to exclude such individual, shall be entitled
to participate in the Scheme and such individual, shall be entitled to

participate in the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.
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(c) Scheme Limit and Service Provider Sublimit

The Company shall not make any further grant of Award which
will result in the aggregate number of Shares to be issued by the
Company in respect of all grants of options and awards made after the
Amendment Date pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme and
any other schemes adopted by the Company (excluding options or
awards lapsed in accordance with relevant scheme rules) to exceed 10%
of the total issued and outstanding Shares as at the Amendment Date
unless Shareholders approve a further refreshment of the Scheme Limit
or Shareholders’ approval is obtained in compliance with the Listing

Rules.

The Company shall not make any further grant of Awards to Service
Providers which will result in the aggregate number of Shares to be
issued by the Company in respect of all grants of options and awards
made to Service Providers, after the Amendment Date pursuant to the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme and any other schemes adopted by
the Company (excluding options or awards lapsed in accordance with
relevant scheme rules) to exceed 1% of the total issued and outstanding
Shares as at the Amendment Date unless the Shareholders approve a
further refreshment of the Service Provider Sublimit or Shareholders’

approval is obtained in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The number of Award Shares available for grant under the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme on 1 January 2023 is 114,034,728. After the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme was amended to fully comply with the
currently effective Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the number of Award
Shares available for grant under the Scheme Limit and Service Provider
Sublimit as of 31 December 2023 were 131,928,325 and 13,675,901,

respectively.

No new Shares may be issued in respect of Award Shares granted under
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2023 as those Award Shares shall be funded by the Shares previously
issued to and held by the Trustee. As at the Latest Practicable Date,
the total number of Shares available for issue under the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme is 124,082,961, representing approximately 9.24% of the

total issued Shares.
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(d)

Individual Limit

Where any grant of Awards to a Selected Participant would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and
awards granted to such person, pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company (excluding
options or awards lapsed in accordance with relevant scheme rules),
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the total issued and outstanding
Shares of the Company in issue at the relevant time, such grant must
be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such
Selected Participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the

Selected Participant is a connected person) abstain from voting.

Grant of Award

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may, from time to time, at
their absolute discretion, grant an Award to a selected participant (in
the case of the Board's delegate(s), to any selected participant other
than a Director or an officer of our Company) by way of an award letter
(the “Award Letter”). The award letter will specify the grant date, the
number of Award Shares underlying the Award, the vesting criteria and
conditions, the vesting date and such other details as the Board or the

Scheme Administrator may consider necessary.

No consideration is payable by the Selected Participant on application

or acceptance of the Awards.

(d)
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(f)

POP MART

Vesting Period

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may from time to time while the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable
laws, determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the
Award to be vested hereunder, provided however that the vesting
period for Awards shall not be less than 12 months, except that any
Awards granted to an Employee Participant may be subject to a shorter

vesting period, including where:

(i) grants of "make whole” Awards to new Employee Participant to
replace awards or options such Employee Participants forfeited

when leaving their previous employers;

(i) grants to an Employee Participant whose employment is terminated

due to death or disability or event of force majeure;

(i) grants of Awards which are subject to fulfillment of performance

targets as determined in the conditions of his/her grant;

(iv) grants of Awards the timing of which is determined by
administrative or compliance requirements not connected with
the performance of the relevant Employee Participant, in which
case the Vesting Date may be adjusted to take account of the time
from which the Award would have been granted if not for such

administrative or compliance requirements;

(v) grants of Awards with a mixed vesting schedule such that the

Awards vest evenly over a period of 12 months; or

(vi) grant of Awards with a total vesting period of more than 12 months,
such as where the Awards may vest by several batches with the first
batch to vest within 12 months of the grant date and the last batch

to vest 12 months after the grant date.

Purchase Price

The purchase price payable (if any) for the Award Shares will be stated
in the Award Letter, to be determined by the Board or the Scheme
Administrator in accordance with the purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme, taking into account (including but not limited to)
the prevailing closing price of the Shares and profile of the selected

participant.
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EEEREE
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the details of the changes in HZE2023F12A31ALFE  ZBRXAH
the Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are BERRNEEFERE 2R RGH M E
set out below: BT
Number of Award Shares
REROHE
Number of
Award As at As at
Shares 1January  Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled 31 December
Relevant Granted 2023 during during during during 2023
Participant BB  Grant Date Vesting Period #2023F  theyear theyear theyear theyear M2023F
HESHE ROHE WEBEH BELH 1A18 FRAERE FREHRE FREAN FAEEH 128310
Mr. Si De 609,851 21 April 2023 Vested in tranches within 3 0 609,851 152,463 0 0 457,388
AlfERE 20234 H21H  years upon the grant date
%ﬁ BEE3F AN RS
Employees 2,683,326 4 January 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 799,658 0 501,496 17,384 0 280,778
EB 2021%FTH4H  years upon the grant date
gﬁ BER4FRDRRE
721,290 1 April 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 490,227 0 47,643 0 368,818 73,766

20214 A1H years upon the grant date
gﬁ RER4F D HRE

763,258 1 June 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 509,694 0 165,060 24,623 0 320,011
2021F6 A1H years upon the grant date
& BHE4FRDHRE
B

160,752 2 July 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 91,209 0 45,606 0 0 45,603
20217 R2H years upon the grant date
gﬁ RER4FADHRE

348,058 4 October 2021  Vested in tranches within 4 287,099 0 119,024 4,021 0 164,054
2021410448 years upon the grant date
B ARRIFADIIRE
=

113,489 3 January 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 89,676 0 44,840 0 0 44,836
202291 A3A years upon the grant date
i BER4F D BRE
B

1,303,792 1 April 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 1,303,792 0 236,320 0 0 1,067,472
20224 H1H years upon the grant date
gtﬂ RENR4F D BRE

102,164 4 July 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 102,164 0 4,142 0 0 98,022
202267 R48 years upon the grant date
it BERR4FE N D BRE
B
407,277 4 July 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 345,150 0 0 110,448 0 234,702
2022F7R48 years upon the grant date
B BER4F RN BRE
B
222379 3 October 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 222,379 0 7,943 0 0 214,436
2022410 A3H  years upon the grant date
gtﬂ HER4F AR HRE
102,906 30 December 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 102,906 0 0 49,983 0 52,923
2022912 A30H  years upon the grant date
gﬂj HHER4FE RS BRE

3,679,083 21 April 2023 Vested in tranches within 4 0 3,679,083 954,649 0 0 2,724,434
2023F4 /8218 years upon the grant date
%Hﬂ BERAF AN BLIRE

68,709 7 July 2023 Vested in tranches within 4 0 68,709 0 0 0 68,709
2023F7A78 years upon the grant date
BHBHRIFADIIRE
B

4,769,445 18 October 2023 Vested in tranches within 4 0 4,769,445 0 7464 0 4,761,981
2023 10A18H years upon the grant date
it B4R BN S
B
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Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

The purchase price of all Award Shares in the table above is nil.

For Mr. Si De, the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the date on which the Award Shares were vested in 2023 was
HKD19.48 per Share.

For employees of the Group, the weighted average closing price of the
Shares immediately before the date on which the Award Shares were vested

in 2023 was HKD20.95 per Share.

The following grants were made during 2023:

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

ERPMBERBBRHNOBEERT -

PEEEEmE - BIRERRMN N 202355
[ B HA AT RO B 0 I AU B R E A 19.48
BT e

REAEEREME @ BERERMHMN2023
558 A EART R AR D hnkE T (B R E R
20957 7T ©

R2023FFBIFERAT -
Fair Value of

Awards at the Grant
Date per Award Share

Closing Price of
Shares Immediately

before the Grant Date (HKS)
(HK$) BREBRD
Number of Award RBERH A8 RELHBH
Relevant Participant Grant Date Shares Granted ZRBERHE HERBQFE
HE2REE RHBH R RBROEE (B7) ()
Mr. Si De 21 April 2023 609,851 19.48 18.28
AEEL 202354 H218
Employees 21 April 2023 3,679,083 19.48 18.28
== 202354 H218
7 July 2023 68,709 17.70 17.38
202357 H78
18 October 2023 4,769,445 24.05 23.85
20235104188
For more details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated BREZFHE  B2HAQRBHIFA

21 April 2023, 7 July 2023 and 18 October 2023, respectively.

All of the grants during the year ended 31 December 2023 were subject to
fulfillment of certain individual performance targets stipulated in respective
grant letters.

Details of the valuation of the Award Shares during the year, including the
accounting standard and policy adopted for the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was

entered into by the Company at any time during or subsisted at the end of

the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023

amounted to RMB2.7 million.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company repurchased a total
of 19,947,000 shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$370,687,990. Particulars of the shares

repurchased are as follows:

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
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BE - HEIEE LTRSS

7‘5@2?2023@2%31 BIEEEHE AR EE

AB T FTBE 1A ££19,947, 000 IR AN A RIAR 1D » 42
RAB#1370,687,990/87C - BRIRMH I AEIBE R
mr

Price Paid per Share Aggregate

No. of Shares BRIM Consideration
Month of Repurchase Repurchase Highest (HK$) Lowest (HK$) (HKS)
BE A5 B RO E BefE (Br) RIEE (BT) HE (B)
April 44 3,632,600 20.00 17.08 68,758,920
May 54 5,234,400 19.90 16.62 96,699,024
June 6A 6,350,000 18.28 16.40 110,323,784
July 7H 1,000,000 18.50 16.68 17,539,668
October 10H 1,400,000 21.70 21.25 30,076,960
November 1A 230,000 21.60 21.20 4,925,530
December 1278 2,100,000 21.20 18.78 42,364,104
Total #at 19,947,000 370,687,990
Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2023, neither Br ECPTHRERE SN - RELE2023F 12 A31HLE

the Company nor any of its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 11 December 2020 by way of global offering, raised total net
proceeds of approximately HK$5,781.7 million (the “Net Proceeds”) from the
global offering (including the full exercise of the over-allotment option) after
deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related

listing expenses.

FREME - ADFREINBATRG A
BERYEEA - HEXBEAA TN EE
E= 3

LT RERIEFERAR

RABIRMBR2020F 12 AN BEBEREERE
BRXERLT KHNBRIXER  2EES
REMIBE ETMRAX% - FTEBAMEIIEF
3 (P EREITERERRE) A E0R5781.7
HEET ([FAEREFE] -
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As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses of the IPO proceeds are set

out below:

MR BRI - BRAFEEMERIAN
BUERZESImT

Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds NetProceeds  |ntended
unutilizedupto  months ended utilizedupto  unutilized asat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31December e of the
Percentage o pli)) 03 03 W3 ynutilized
total BRanE HZABE EZNnE A2023F  NetProceeds
Mocationof ~ Net proceeds 128310 128318 12A31H 1283180 BRAKEA
Net Proceeds A ABAW 12{8R EBAN ABR FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds frg5uE HEEE fr8suE B8RS frg5E fEsE  FEN
freRERaReRs FENIE [l FESE  FERESH BHSE FEHE  RERER
i) Tofinance part of our expansion plans of consumeraccess ~ HKS1,7345 million 300%  HKSS08.1 milion  HKS2448 million  HKSTA712million  HKS2633 million  Before
channels and overseas markets 1T4SEEET SRIEEET  MSEEET  14BERT  233BEAT 31 December
BRAEMGEERBERE RSN TR RR HAN 2025
POTN W5
(a)  for opening new retail stores HKS954.0 million 16.5% _ — HKS954.0 million _ QE“ A
ARERETER s BHAT SS0ERET a
(b)  for opening new roboshaps HK$346.9 million 60%  HKS162.1 million HKS775 million HKS262.3 million HKS84.6 million
BRRRAREAER W6IREET 1EEET  TISRERT  003RBAT  s46EEET
() for expanding our business into overseas markets HK$4336 million 75%  HKS3460million  HKS1673million  HKS2549million  HKS1787 million
RREREREENTS 136BEET MOEEET  1613BBAT  BAEEET  18TEEAT
(i) Tofund our potential investments in, acquisitions of and ~ HKS1,561.1 million 27.0%  HKS1,249.3 million = HKS3118milon  HKS1,493 million  Before
strategic alliance with companies along the value chain of our 1561 1 BE ST 1493BEST INSEEBT 12493888 31 December
industry 2025
RRBEERE WEATEBER L THADRERS W55
AERVERBRRE 124318
2
(i) Toinvest in technology initiatives to strengthen our HKS867.2 million 150%  HKSS493million  HKST786million — HKS496.5 million — HKS370.7 million
marketing and fan engagement efforts, and to enhance the S7IEERT SMOIHERT 1786BEET 16SBERT VEL
digitalization of our business
RRRERNRE  WERARNEERNE2ENER
RIEBOEFILER
(8) fortalent recruitment HKS173.5 million 30%  HKSI34milion  HKSS1Omilion — HKSTI1.Imilion  HKS624 milion  Before
BRATHE IBSAEAT IB4EEBT  SIOEEET  VUBBART  64BEAT 31 December
2025
055
128318
2l
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Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds NetProceeds  |ntended
unutilizedupto  months ended utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December  yse of the
Percentageof 022 223 2023 W3 ynutilized
total EZANE HEABE EEABE R2023F  NetProceeds
Miocationof et proceeds 128318 1283181 128318 1283180 BAXHA
Net Proceeds e REAM 12{R BEAN ABA  FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds sz FERR Fr8suE EBRME frg5E e B
FERERERERS BENAR BAl FESE  JERELE BHeE FERE  HERER
(b for acquiring relevant software and hardware to HK$346.9 million 60%  HKS2712milion  HKS292million  HKS1049 million  HKS2420million  Before
enhance digitalization and establish information U6IBEET MIRBET VIBEAT IMIBEAT  MBEET 31 December
systems for digital marketing, customer services, 2025
logistics, products, supply chain, warehousing, 0258
membership, transactions and store management and 128318
marketing |
BREERBRNRERAMSE T YRR
REFEE BPRE R En AEE R
B 88 RANRFEERREHNELZR
() for optimizing our online marketing efforts, which HK$346.8 million 60%  HKS1647milion  HKS984 million  HKS2805milion  HKSE63million  Before
primarly consist of strategically placed advertisernent, 3468 BERTL I4JEERT  P4EBET  WSEEAT 663BEAT 31 December
icons, links and news feeds on third party promotional 2025
platforms 0255
FRELEMDSRIERTH TERRERIL 12A318
EEZFRETALRNES BR BZRES il
(W) Toexpand our P pool HKS1,040.7 million 180%  HKS818.7 million HKS958 million — HKS3178 million — HKS722.9 million
ERERAAOPE 1M07BERT SSTEERT  SSAEAT  ISEEET  TN9BEET
(3)  forenhancing our ability to identify outstanding artists ~HK$260.3 million 45%  HKS1249milion  HKS9S8million  HKS2312million  HKS29.Imilion  Before
BRmEEMOEESEMR NN W0IBEART IM9BBRET  SSEEAT  BIBEAT 91BEAT 31 December
2025
W55
128318
2B
(b)  for recruiting talented designers to join ourin-house  HKS86.6 million 15% - - HKS86.6 million - -
design team to enhance our in-house original IP S66EEAT LY

development capability by providing competitive
salary

NS I R GER Y e
RHAMMARFORTRHES - WERRHHA
BREIPLREN
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Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds NetProceeds  |ntended
unutilizedupto  months ended utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December  yse of the
Percentageof 022 223 2023 03 ynutilized
total EZANE HEABE EEABE R2023F  NetProceeds
Miocationof et proceeds 128318 12A3181 12A31R 1283180 BAXHA
Net Proceeds e AEBAH 12f88 BEAN ABA  FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds sz FERR g5 EBRME figsa e B
FERERERERS BENAR [l FEEE  FEEHLE BHeE FERE  HERER
() foracquisitions of popular IPs from to expand our P HK3693.8 million 120%  HKS6938 million - —  HKS6938milion  Before
poo\ 6938BEET 638ABET 6938FEET 31 December
BRMERENPEAR BRPE 2055
0058
12318
i |
(v)  Working capital and general corporate purposes HK$578.2 million 10.0% - = HKS578.2 million - -

EEEER-ROFRE SIIAEAT

The intended timetable for use of the unutilized Net Proceeds disclosed

above is later than originally planned, due to sufficient cash flow generated

from operating activities, cost saving achieved via improved operational

efficiency and prudent investment decision making of the Company. The

Group will utilise the Net Proceeds of the initial public offering in accordance

with the intended purposes as set out in the Prospectus.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 76 to

99 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the external
auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and practices adopted by the
Group as well as the internal control matters, and had also reviewed the
Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended 31

December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-

appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the AGM.

Since the Listing Date, the auditors of the Company have not changed.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 20 March 2024
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The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and

accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and complied
with the applicable code provisions during the year ended 31 December

2023, save for deviation from code provision C.2.1 as disclosed below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory

and professional standards and align with the latest development.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, CULTURE AND VALUES

As a pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture in China, we hope to
bring happiness and joy to more customers with the mission of “To light up
passion and bring joy" Our management team takes the lead to practice the

nou noun

core values of "Responsibility’, “Cooperation’,

o

Perfection”, “Innovation” and
“Integrity” in daily operations. By improving team cohesion and stimulating
team vitality, we are enabled to make continuous breakthroughs in design,
so as to meet the needs of various customers with rich product categories.
Ultimately, we are committed to realizing our vision of “To be the world’s

leading fashion culture and entertainment company"”.

The Board is committed to promoting the overall implementation of our
core values across the Group, making them the foundation of our corporate
culture and implementing our mission in our business activities. Based on
a sound management system, rigorous risk control and effective internal
communication, the Group actively practices our corporate culture and
values, so that the Group's business can continue to develop and bring

long-term value to shareholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interest of the
Company as well as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value

and strategy.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibilities for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. All Board committees are provided with

sufficient resources to perform their duties.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,

the composition of the Board are listed as follows:
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EFEEEARENED  RBUERRRE
B YEBMELEFTEAR r&ﬂ/\ﬂ’m&
R ARERAQRLERERE - BEBRK
REE—2 -

EXxetMAKERREEEREAHAEE
AREERKLETANENRBE - EF80
KI=AEEEREE ﬁ%%&*i@ ¥
ZEGMREZE S  UEBARRREDRR
MET - §$A8ﬁ§$§ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi E
BRERGSEMENBE MAEFZEEHRER

HARERABITERE -

EXerHRTEENARRETREREN
HER - U FHREFAENHRANEE
TTHE -

ExgAM

EE=ESRHMNBREFEN  BREANTE
= MEHPTEER="BBILIFATES -
RBERAREEREZERATTAS 59
R BAAMRIIRIT

Name Position in the Company & RAR T B
Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board FELEAE WITEE EZFGEIRER
and Chief Executive Officer TIERABE

Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President HaRt HITER REIRE
(resigned as Executive Director (202443 F20H
on 20 March 2024) BIEHTTEE)

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President 2lF 2+ PITEE LB ﬁ

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer AlfEESE WITEE  BREEE

Mr. Moon Duk Il Executive Director, Vice President and XiE—fE BITEE - E‘E’leﬁ&
(appointed as Executive President of International Business (R2024F3H20H BIBREMGEE
Director on 20 March 2024) BZERNTESE)

Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director Bk AE FEHITES

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director A BSEE FEHITES

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent non-executive Director RER LA B EMITES

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent non-executive Director B S BIENITEE

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent non-executive Director AR e B IEMITES
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The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed

“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other

material relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. According to the current structure of the Board, the
positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held by Mr. Wang Ning.

The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires approval by at least
a majority of the Directors and that the Board comprises three independent
non-executive Directors out of nine Directors, and the Board believes there
is sufficient check and balance on the Board; (i) Mr. Wang Ning and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that they act for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the
Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of
the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business, financial
and operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough
discussion at both the Board and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr.
Wang Ning is our principal founder, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board will
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure
of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman

and chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Since the Listing Date to the Latest Practicable Date, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive

Directors are independent and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors and at least one-
third of its members being independent non-executive directors. Further,
independent non-executive directors will be appointed to committees
of the Board as required under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable
to ensure independent views and input are available. The Nomination
Committee strictly adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set
out in the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually
the independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement. All Directors may also
obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense for carry

out their functions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Liu Ran and Mr.
Si De, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. Mr. Moon Duk Il has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three year
commencing from his appointment, which are subject to termination in
accordance with his service contact. The service contract will be automatically

renewed upon expiration.
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Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms. The service contract will be automatically renewed upon expiration.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was engaged on a letter
of appointment for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which may be terminated by not less than one month's notice in writing
served by either the independent non-executive Director or the Company.
The appointment letter will be automatically renewed upon expiration.

All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement and rotation
of directors under the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any person appointed
by the Board to fill a temporary vacancy on or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company, and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the

Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group's operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in

place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance
in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate

actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their

duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by

them.

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances and

ensures they remain appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an

annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company's key place of business and meetings

with senior management of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company organized training
sessions conducted by the legal advisers for all Directors. The training
sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, continuing connected transaction, disclosure of interests
and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have
been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023
are summarized as follows:

conferences and workshops
relevant to the Company’s

industry and business,
director’s duties and/or
corporate governance

EEERE2HEBENEEERURAREN
BEMMBHEEE - ARABBEEZBR A
EELHERSEN G RAEEEHABTEY
BIEM K « R ABISE FTE EE L AR
RIZ - BRBAARAARIE -

HE2023F12A31HIEFEHHE - ARF AR
BREERREIRE  REREERERBE -
BIIRBRENERAETEGEREELZ  BIEES
MBENMET FHEBERS - FIaHERE
MEF - LN RMENESREEERNEN
BH(BEGRTFM CEERERES Hig
BE) HESLEZRME -

BZE2023F12A31 HIEFE - EFHEIIRH
BT
Attending training, Reading news alerts,
briefings, seminars, newspapers, journals,
magazines and publications
relevant to the Company’s
industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance

HEARARTERER BMIEEARABTERES
EERER DoEER EZHER SLEER
BENEI - BNE - HHE - BENTERA - BE -
Name of Directors EEHR EBERIEHEERR B - BERERY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board) ~ TEXE (FEEETE) V \/
Ms. Yang Tao (resigned on 20 March 2024)  15& %&£ (1202443 F20 A §HE) V \/
Ms. Liu Ran £ i3 v v
Mr. Si De AlfE kL v v
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Tu Zheng BHEE v \
Mr. He Yu A&~ v v
Independent non-executive Directors BV FHITES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REE S AE v v
Mr. Wu Liansheng REEELE v v
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BAYR KL v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which
has been delegated responsibilities and reports back to the Board. The roles
and functions of these committees are set out in their respective terms of
reference. The terms of reference of each of these committees will be revised
from time to time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
Company and to ensure compliance with the CG Code where applicable. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company's website and

the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King
Leung Gary and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tu Zheng. Mr. Wu

Liansheng is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
provide advice and comments to the Board and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee held three
meetings, during which matters such as reviewing the annual financial results
and report for the year ended 31 December 2022, reviewing the Group's
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2023, discussing
the audit plan for the 2023 financial year with the auditor, significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit

function.

The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial results for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly

made.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the

presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu
Liansheng and one executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Zhang

Jianjun is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate
in deciding his/her own remuneration and/or approving matters relating to

share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, during which matters such as the remuneration packages,
policy and structure of the Directors and senior management and other

related matters were discussed.

Our Remuneration Committee also reviewed and approved grant of
Awards, on April 21, 2023, to Mr. Si De and two senior management of the
Company, and considered that grant of 1,626,269 Awards to them, of which
25% were attached with a vesting period of less than 12 months, and no
performance target, is (i) to reward the great contribution they made to the
development and growth of the Company, (ii) to incentive them to further
provide essential opinions and contributions in building the strategy and
long-term development of the Company, (iii) consistent with the Company’s
remuneration policy, and (iv) align with the purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme. For more details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 April 2023.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Ning and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu Liansheng. Mr

Wang Ning is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and diversity
required of the Board annually and making recommendations on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy; monitoring the implementation of diversity policy for board
members, and assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting, during which matters such as structure, size and composition
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of Directors, assessing in the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and reviewing the diversity policy and nomination policy of the
Board were discussed. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate

balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected by
the general meeting with a term of three years and may serve consecutive
terms if re-elected. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a temporary
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next

general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

At the expiry of a Director’s term, the Director may stand for re-election and
reappointment for further term. Subject to the compliance of the provisions
of the relevant laws and administrative regulations, the general meeting of
the Shareholders may dismiss by ordinary resolution any Directors of whom
the term of office has not expired (the claim for compensation under any

contracts shall however be not affected).

The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of directors
are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
will identify individuals suitably qualified to become directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals. The
Nomination Committee will determine the composition of board members
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will also make recommendations to the Board of Directors on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors (in particular the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the general
manager), taking into account the Company's corporate strategy and mix of

skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the nomination
procedures for selecting candidates for election as Directors of the Board
of the Group. The policy is adopted by the Board and administered by the

Nomination Committee.
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Selection of board candidates shall be based on amongst others, character
and integrity, qualifications, willingness to devote adequate time and a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company's business model

and specific needs.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates. The Company should also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will

bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Nomination Policy and the
measurable objectives periodically, and as appropriate, to ensure the

continued effectiveness of the Board.

BOARD AND WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the basic
principles to be followed to ensure that the board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of

corporate governance.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seek to achieve Board
diversity, through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, culture and
education background, ethnicity and length of service. Our Directors have
a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including business management,
finance, investment, auditing and accounting. At present, the Board
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained and the Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age and length of
service, etc.) to implement the Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress

made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board comprised nine members, including
two female Directors and seven male Directors, which is in line with the
gender diversity requirements by the Stock Exchange. We will implement
policies to ensure gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline
of female potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female staff
who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting them to
the Board.

As of 31 December 2023, we had 4,704 full-time employees, of which
1,342 were male and 3,362 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 10 males to 25 females.
The Company is aiming to achieve a more balanced gender ratio in the
workforce and targets to achieve a gender ratio in the workforce. The
Company is not aware of any mitigating factor or circumstances which
make achieving gender diversity across the workforce (including senior

management) more challenging or less relevant.

We are also committed to adopting a similar approach to promote diversity
of the management (including but not limited to the senior management) of
the Company to enhance the effectiveness of corporate governance of the

Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had reviewed the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the corporate governance policies and practices,
the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the

CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company in accordance with
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, has adopted the practice of holding
Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of the Directors, either

in person or through electronic means of communication.
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The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board committee

meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are

set out below:
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EEEREE

REZE2023F 12831 BILFEHM - SEFHN
EXZghESTZECERLFELHEHINNOT

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HREER ERRY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)
ENEES FHEES RAZE®
Name of Directors EEpnR EEge3 =E g8& =E BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning TERE 4/4 N/A 7l 11 Il
TEMA
Ms. Yang Tao BEzT 4/4 N/A N/A N/A Il
(resigned on 20 March 2024) (R2024F3 420 A E) TER AiEA TER
Ms. Liu Ran o 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TNEA TEA TNEM
Mr. Si De AlfESE A 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TEA TER TEA
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Tu Zheng EBfEEAE 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A 1”7
TEA TEA
Mr. He Yu AIREE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TiER TER TER
Independent non-executive ~ BYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REERE 4/4 N/A 11 11 N
TEA
Mr. Wu Liansheng BEAERE 4/4 3/3 11 11 7
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BEOR%E 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A Il
TEA TEA
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular Board meetings FFEEZe TN BMNEARERRTAE
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters DTN REAZLBEST  FRRESARSY
in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and Board committee fﬁﬁﬂ/;;%% LRERREZRETFIRNE
meetings, reasonable notice will be generally given. CHMEMESGRESZEGGHRMS - A

Al REEHEERM -
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate

and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends all regular Board meetings and where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory

compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each

meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have potential

or actual conflicts of interests.

During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board met once with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other

Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and

effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
biannually reviews the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. Heads of departments manage

risks through identification, evaluation and mitigation of risk identified.
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Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks identification, risks

assessment, risks response and risk monitoring and reporting.

Risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential internal
and external risks in its respective operation processes. During risks
identification, references are mainly made to the impact the risks have on the
Company'’s objectives, and major problems or risk incidents in the business

activities for the past year.

Risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards, each business
and functional department and its subsidiaries reviews the risks identified,
and assesses the possibilities of occurrence and the extents of impacts in
order to screen out the significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of
bottom-up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all of
the Group's significant risks, which are then given rankings. Significant risks
are then reported to the appropriate management level, Audit Committee
and the Board. A final list of significant risks is confirmed after thorough

communication and discussion.

Risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks formulates
a risk response plan by properly applying methods such as risk avoidance, risk
reduction, risk sharing and risk acceptance, with consideration of the Group's
level of risk tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with an aim to

reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable level.

Risk monitoring and reporting: risk monitoring and reporting are carried
out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators, internal auditing and

periodic summarized risk reports.

We endeavour to uphold the integrity of our business by maintaining an
internal control system into our organisational structure. Our internal control
and risk management systems cover, among others, corporate governance,
operations, management, legal matters, finance and auditing. Our Audit
department reviewed our internal control system and we have implemented
and will continue to implement the relevant suggestions they proposed/
propose. Our Audit department (the “internal audit and compliance
department’) performed a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems over our major business
processes. The Company has established risk management systems with
relevant policies and procedures that we believe are appropriate for our

business operations.
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The Audit Department conducted a follow-up review (the “Internal Control
Review") on, among others, control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, monitoring activities such as
revenue cycle, procurement cycle, expenditure cycle, etc. and provided

recommendations to enhance the internal control system of our Group.

We have adopted and implemented the recommendations provided by the
Audit Department and the Audit Department has not identified any material
findings which may have material impact on the effectiveness of our internal

control system.

Based on the result of the Internal Control Review, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended 31 December 2023, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company’s

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee shall review such arrangement regularly and ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation

of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of and strictly complies with the requirements of
the currently applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, including the
obligations to disclose inside information under the SFO and the Listing
Rules, and the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when the relevant businesses
are transacted. The Group has established the authority and accountability,
as well as the handling and dissemination procedures in relation to inside
information, and has communicated to all relevant personnel and provided
them with specific trainings in respect of the implementation of the

continuous disclosure policy.
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The Board considers that the Company’s handling and dissemination

procedures and measures in relation to inside information are effective.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished

inside information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements relating to
disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the

Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the section

headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/payable
to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB5.1 million. The
audit services include statutory audits and reviews of the Group and certain

subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB0.9 million. The non-audit
services conducted by the external auditor mainly include tax and other

consultation services.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan (“Mr. Li") and Ms. Li Ching Yi ("Ms. Li") are the joint company
secretaries of the Company.

Mr. Li, the depute director of investor relationship of the Company, joined
the Group in April 2019 in charge of the management of investor relationship
department of the Company. Prior to that, Mr. Li served as a senior associate
of investment banking department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from December
2014 to January 2019 and a senior associate of innovative financing
department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from February 2019 to March 2019.

Ms. Li is a senior manager of the Listed & Fiduciary Corporate Services
Department of Trident Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional
services firm. She has over 10 years of professional experience in company
secretarial field. Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). Ms. Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters
of the Company and has closely communicated with Mr. Li, who is the

primary corporate contact person of our Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Li has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. To enable our shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner based on a good understanding of the Group's
operations, businesses and financial information, the Company adopted the
shareholders communication policy to provide effective communication with
the Shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer Shareholders’
questions at general meetings. The external auditor of the Company is also
invited to attend the annual general meetings of the Company to answer
questions about the conduct of audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

Apart from participating in the Company’s general meeting, updates on
the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices,
biographical information of Directors and others are available for public on
the website of the Company (www.popmart.com). In addition, shareholders
and investors may at any time contact or send enquiries and concerns to us

by email to ir@popmart.com.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders communication policy,
including the multiple communication channels for shareholders in place
and the steps taken to handle shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that
the shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented and

effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders” interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after

each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association provides that general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members holding
together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office of the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by

the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to Article 16.4
of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting, there has been given to the Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be proposed),
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of
his intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing

signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Base on this, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written
notice at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at 19/F,,
Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The notice must
(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and

consent of publication of his/her personal information.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions
by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures mentioned above. For proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures set out in

the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal

Or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address:  Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@popmart.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders' information

may be disclosed as required by law.
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Change in Constitutional Documents

On 29 March 2023, the Board resolved to propose certain amendments to
the amended and restated Memorandum and Articles which was adopted
on 23 November 2020 and has been effective from the Listing Date. On
17 May 2023, the annual general meeting was held for the Shareholders
to approve among others, the amendments to the amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles and was adopted as second amended and

restated Memorandum and Articles on the same date.

On 20 March 2024, the Board resolved to propose certain amendments to the
second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles. For more details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated March 20 March
2024,

Save as disclosed above, no amendments have been made to the
Memorandum and Articles. The second amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends, and
details are provided in the “Report of Directors” on pages 40 to 75 of this

annual report.
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2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

2023 FBIE - 4+ EREBWRE

I. ABOUT THIS REPORT

Overview

The purpose of this report is to objectively disclose the environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") works and achievements made by Pop
Mart International Group Limited (the “Pop Mart” or the “"Company”
or "we") and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during 2023. For detailed
information on corporate governance, it is recommended to read this

report in conjunction with the section headed Corporate Governance

Report in the annual report.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix
C2 to the Listing Rules on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), and is reported

based on its reporting principles.

Reporting Principles

This report responds to and adheres to following principles:

Materiality: This report has identified key stakeholders and their

ESG issues of concern in the preparation process, and disclosed

correspondingly based on the materiality of the issues of concern.

Balance: This report has disclosed positive and negative information

in an objective manner to ensure that contents can reflect the ESG

performance during the reporting period of this report fairly.

Quantitative: The environmental and social data disclosed in this
report are all presented in the form of quantitative, accompanied by a
description of the relevant criteria, methodologies, assumptions and/

or calculation tools used, as well as the source of the conversion factors

used for the key performance indicators ("KPIs").

Consistency: The statistical method in this report is consistent with that
of previous year. Where there are changes which may affect meaningful

comparison with previous reports, these changes are described in the

corresponding sections.
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Reporting Period

The reporting period of this report covered from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of disclosure of this report shall be

the same as those covered in the annual report.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Company highly values ESG-related work and has established an
effective ESG management system. The Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of the Company, as the highest responsible and decision-making body
for ESG issues, assumes full responsibility for ESG strategies and issues
reporting, reviews and approves ESG strategies, policies, goals, major
missions and manages priorities, oversees ESG-related matters that may
affect the Company’s business or operations, the rights and interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders, and reviews the completion of ESG
goals on a regular basis. Under the leadership of the Board, ESG work are
supervised by the ESG management team, and jointly participated by
the ESG collaboration team to ensure the effective development of the
ESG work and provide strong support for the effective implementation

of the strategy.

The Company maintains in-depth communication with various internal
and external stakeholders through various channels to fully understand
their core concerns, respond to their expectations and demands,
and adopt constructive opinions and suggestions. According to the
external environment and the Company’s strategy, the Board has
comprehensively reviewed the evaluation results of major ESG issues and
ESG risks identified during the year, while reviewed the formulation of
ESG management strategy, setting of ESG goals and progress achieved
of the Company, further defining the key direction and key points of ESG

governance of the Company.

This report aims to objectively disclose the progress and achievements
of the Company’s ESG works in 2023, and has been considered and
approved at the Board meeting on 20 March 2024.
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I1l. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The Company always keeps in mind the brand concept of ‘creating
trends and delivering fineness”. With a focus on four fields including
IP incubation and operation, pop toys and retail, theme park and IP
experience as well as digital entertainment, the Company creates a
comprehensive operating platform covering the entire industry chain of

pop toy IP.

With close attention to the management of ESG-related matter involved
in business operation and risk management, we continue to explore
the effective way to incorporate the ESG concept to corporate’s
development. We adhere to the simultaneous development of social
and corporate values and are committed to creating sustained values
for consumers, industry and society by continuously improving ESG
governance structure, increasing ESG management level and listening to

demand from each stakeholder.

ESG Concept

With a vision of “become a leading global pop culture entertainment
company’, the Company incorporate ESG concept into each aspect in
the business, to promote the sustainable development of the corporate.
In terms of environment, we made more effort on the research and
development of environmental protection materials and processes to
minimize environmental pollution and energy consumption, increase
resource efficiency and actively respond to the climate change. In terms
of society, we strictly control quality of products, protect consumers’
rights and strengthen anti-corruption management to build up a green
supply chain together with partners. Meanwhile, we value employees
and provide a safe, healthy and comfortable working environment
for them and continuously improve the training and development
mechanism for employees, in order to promote the simultaneous
development of employees and the corporate. We proactively assume
our social responsibilities and give back to the society through public
welfare activities to promote social harmony and progress. We will
continue to deepen the integration of ESG concept in the Company's
operation and keep improving ESG management level, striving to

become a model in global pop toy industry.
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ESG Governance Structure

The Company has established a three-level ESG governance structure
led by the Board, supervised by the ESG management team and jointly
participated by the ESG collaboration team. As the highest responsible
and decision-making body for ESG works, the Board is responsible for
setting the Company's overall ESG strategies and management policy,
overseeing the implementation of ESG goals, regularly reviewing ESG
reports and related issues, and guiding and supervising the management
to carry out specific work. The ESG management team is responsible for
assisting the Board in coordinating the implementation of ESG strategies
and goals, supervising the management of daily work and regularly
reporting the progress of ESG work to the Board. Our ESG collaboration
team comprised of various functional departments is responsible for
cooperating with our ESG management team to implement related

specific work and various ESG matters.

Communication with Stakeholders

The Company sets up regular and diverse communication channels for
stakeholders, so as to ensure a smooth interaction with stakeholders
and to understand their expectations and demands in an active manner.
Their opinions and suggestions will be fully incorporate into ESG work
planning and daily management. During the year, we continued to
identify and actively respond to key issues of concern to stakeholders
including government and regulatory authorities, shareholders and
investors, customers, employees, suppliers, communities, media, as well

as non-government organizations.
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Stakeholders
FzsrEEE A

Major issues of concern

TEREEHE

Major communication channels

FREBERRE

Government and regulatory authorities

B REEHE

Shareholders and investors

BRRIREE

Customers

®F

Compliance operation
SR

Corporate development
hEER

Policy implementation
BEEEBR

Extraordinary social contribution

RHEEER

Rights and interests of shareholders
PR M 2R

Corporate performance

DEZEE

Stable growth

=R

Corporate governance

hEER

Risk control

[\ E 72

Product purchase rules
EmEERA

Product after-sale services
EmERR%

Consumer personal information
protection

HEEEAGESRE

Provide quality products and services -

PR E A A HLRTS

Listen to customer opinions and

suggestions

BEREFERNER
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Filing or written document submission
R EE XM X

Regular or irregular face-to-face
communication

SN EHESEER
Seminars/exchanges

B g

Meetings between government and
company

A

Annual general meetings
REREFKE

Announcement of Results report and
results presentation

REWmE  FBEBMY

Investor meetings and performance
roadshows

REEGZENEERE

Official websites of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company at
home and abroad

BB, ARIRANINE R
Investor relations page and investor

emails

REEBERAELEREME

Customer service hotline

B PRI R AR

Daily operation and communication
BEEE LM

Member center

gEHL

Market research

T35 F

Official website of the Company
NAEH



Stakeholders
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Major issues of concern

2023 FBIE HBERERBE

Major communication channels

MEHEHEE S FTERIEE FTEBBERR
Employees Rights and interests of employees Human resources system/employment
E8 BT#xn contract
Remunerations and benefits ASHIE BEHER
HrE Face-to-face communication
Development and training [EENEp-S ]
ERE RIS Staff training
Promotion =3Bl
ZF Performance appraisal and feedback
Health and safety EREZRRE
[EE e
Suppliers Supply chain management Supplier management system
e HEEER HEREIENE

Communities and

non-governmental organizations

HEBRIFBFES

Media
R

Anti-corruption
RES
Faithful cooperation

HIEAE

Social development
HEERE

Rural revitalization
PR e

Environmental protection
R RE
School-enterprise building
R

Corporate development
hRER

Product responsibility
EmEE

Corporate governance
EER

Information disclosure
SEWER

Supplier evaluation procedures
HER IR T
Supplier meetings

HEEEE

Participate in charity activities
E YN
Communicate with Communities and

non-governmental organizations

Bt e S SRR AR A R R SR

Social media

AR

Official website

B 7 A

Press conference and exchange
meetings

MHEENE NG
Interviews on selected topics
EERT
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Identification of Key Issues

In compliance with “ESG Reporting Guide” of Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
the Company proactively learns about the views and understanding of

stakeholders on ESG issues

With the basis of the 12 disclosure aspects as stipulated in the "ESG
Reporting Guide’, combining our business characteristics and hot topics
in the industry and with reference to reporting frameworks of GRI and
mainstream ESG issues rating, the Company collected feedback from
stakeholders on various ESG issues through the questionnaire during
the year. The Company identified consumer reach, health and safety of
employees, business ethics and etc., as the most concerned issues of

stakeholders based on feedback.
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The importance of ESG issues to stakeholders of the Company is set out

in the diagram below:

High &

HOMPREEESHESRY

Importance to external stakeholders
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2023 F]RE - HEREAHRSE

ARRESGHBHMEHBTNERHRE
FIRRTE

Environmental issues
D 43z 2
RIEHE

@ Social issues

HEHEE
Governance issues
R
Industrial issues
Low fE BES 10
Low f& RS AR R High
High importance Moderate importance Low importance
SEEEM FEEEM —REEMN
1 Consumer reach 14 P incubation and operation Emission management
HEE P LIES e R
. Health and safety of employees 15 ESG governance 20 Resources utilization management
BTfFEELS ESGIRIE BRERER
3 Business ethics 16 Carbon footprint management of products . Community investment
[SESEL EnikEER HERE
. Intellectual property protection 17 Innovative business incubation and investment
AMBERRE BT R R E
. Human rights and labor management 18 Response to climate change
AREELS TR RIRE(LES
. Product quality and supply chain
management
EmESREEEE
. Diversity and equal opportunity
LT ERE
g Promotion of tide culture
S HEE
g Cooperation with global artists
BB
. Customer complaint management
BRIRRER

. Customer privacy and Information
Security management

BPBILEGFERREER
12 Risk control
R EE
Development and training of employees

8 TR KIE|

Analysis matrix of substantive issues

BEMEBESTERE
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IV.ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT

The Company adheres to green development strategy and fulfills
its environmental protection obligations. In strict compliance to
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations, such as the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China # %
AR KEFFIRBREL)), the Laws of the People’ Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution {# % AR EFMEIKSF
ZH3567%)), the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the People’s Republic of China AR EFIR KRS EBAEZE),
the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China ™ ZE AR HLFE B 82EY5RRENIAE)), and
the Energy Saving Law of the People’s Republic of China K ZE AR
HFMBIFI4IREIRE)), and regulations of other countries or regions in
which the Company operates, the Company improves environmental
management system construction, implements energy-saving and
emission reduction measures, with the aim of minimizing the impact of

its activities on environment.

Emission Management

Taking the main responsibility for environmental protection, we
continue to practice green operations and improve emissions
management related policies and enhance environmental awareness of
our employees, so as to ensure that emission reduction measures are in
line with corporate strategies. Emissions generated from the Company
mainly include greenhouse gas emissions from the use of electric
devices and vehicles, as well as domestic sewage and waste discharge

from daily operations.
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Exhaust management: The exhaust generated by the Company mainly
included the emission of pollutants from use of vehicles and the
kitchens of POP LAND'. In terms of logistics vehicles, we continue to
improve the loading rate, optimize the distribution routes of vehicles,
promote the use of new energy vehicles for short-distance delivery, and
designate nearest warehouses to distribute based on the destination
for long-distance delivery, so as to shorten the total transportation
distance and reduce the carbon emissions generated during the process
of product delivery and transportation; in terms of official business
vehicles, we advocate low-carbon travel, encourage our staff use public
transportation to minimize the carbon emissions from daily commuting;
as to exhaust generated from kitchens, we strictly comply with the
relevant requirements in which we operate by requiring that exhaust
shall be discharged outside after the treatment of exhaust hood with
filter and greasy dirt purification device, and the emission concentration
is in line with the requirements of Emission standards of air pollutants

for catering industry.

Wastewater Management: The sources of wastewater generated by
the Company mainly include domestic sewage produced during daily
operations. We handle them in compliance with the treatment methods
required by the local government where operations are conducted.
Wastewater and reclaimed water are discharged into the municipal

pipelines to minimize environmental impact.

POP LAND, the first immersive IP Park of pop toy industry established by Pop
Mart, opened in Chaoyang Park, Beijing in September 2023. It was city renovation
project, namely renovated and upgraded the main structure of the original
building in response to the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
of the People’s Republic of China, to avoid large-scale deconstruction, so as
to reduce the negative impact on the surrounding environment and natural
resources.
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Waste Management: We adhere to the waste classification and
management regulations in the operating regions. We place classified
garbage bins in office areas, conduct promotion and raise employee
awareness on waste classification. For discarded electronic equipment,
we organize centralized scrap recycling. Food waste is entrusted to
professional third-party waste transfer companies for processing and
is subject to the supervision of the local administrative authorities.
Hazardous waste such as waste toner cartridges and ink cartridges are
collected on-site by qualified suppliers for recycling, ensuring safe and
compliant disposal. We also encourage stores to reduce the generation
of hazardous waste at the source through methods like toner refilling.
Moreover, we implement a registration and quota management system
for office supplies distribution, promoting reasonable consumption.
We irregularly organize activities such as internal purchase events for
old electronic equipment and encourage employee participation to

collectively promote environmental protection.

Resource Utilization Management

The Company consistently upholds the principle of prioritizing
conservation and continuously improves the efficient use of energy and
resources. We actively respond to national energy-saving requirements,
enhance resource utilization efficiency, and reduce energy costs through
the implementation of diverse energy-saving and environmental
protection projects. Different management measures are adopted in
office areas, physical stores, roboshops, warehouses, and POP LAND to

achieve scientific and refined management.

Office:

We advocate for green office practices by implementing management
measures for electricity, water, paper consumption, etc., to create
an environmentally friendly, efficient, and energy-saving office
environment.

Electricity Consumption Management:

Replace high energy-consuming equipment with

energy-efficient new technologies and products to enhance

operational efficiency;
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Consistently implement temperature control programs for
air conditioning by establishing activation temperatures for
both summer and winter seasons. Set specific requirements
for activation temperatures, fan speeds, and other parameters
to improve the electricity consumption efficiency of air

conditioning;

During the year, we launched the "Green Pop Mart, Low
Carbon Emission” energy-saving activity, and displayed its OR
codes in the office area for publicity and promotion. This aimed
to raise employees’ awareness of electricity conservation and
encourage them to engage in energy-saving practices such
as turning off lights when not in use, utilizing double-sided
printing, recycling cardboard, and powering down unused
electronic devices, thereby promoting the practice of
low-carbon responsibility. Employees can participate in
energy-saving activities by scanning QR codes and earn
activity points. Over the 8 months of activity, a total of 8,692

low-carbon behaviors were accomplished.

Water Management:

Conduct daily inspections and maintenance management,
regularly arrange maintenance personnel to inspect the

drainage system;

Install water-saving faucets, require water dispenser suppliers
to set up water storage buckets in the pantry to store clean
used water and overnight water and use them for watering
plants and cleaning, maximizing the recycling of water

resources;

Set water-saving goals, cultivate staff water-saving habits,
and firmly prevent water resource wastage such as running,

seeping, dripping, and leaking.
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Paper Management:

Continuously implement a series of measures to reduce paper
consumption, encourage double-sided printing, reduce the
use of disposable paper cups, and recycle office paper and
cardboard;

Utilize electronic registration at the front desk to replace

traditional paper registration, avoiding paper wastage;

Actively promote digital office practices, encourage staff to use
electronic documents and email for office work, reducing the

generation and delivery of paper documents.

In addition, the Company considers energy conservation and

consumption reduction as factors in the selection of office locations.

Currently, both of our leased office buildings in Beijing and Shanghai

have obtained green building certifications.

Physical Store:

We strictly follow equipment management requirements during store

operating and non-operating hours. Except for regular working hours

(including the normal opening hours of stores), unnecessary electrical

equipment will be turned off in other time slots, with only emergency

lighting remaining active.

POP MART
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Roboshop:

Based on the frequency of roboshop usage, we reasonably plan their
operating hours, set automatic on/off times, switch to standby mode
during idle times, and automatically shut down during non-operating
hours to optimize energy consumption. Additionally, we adjust the
lighting brightness of internal equipment in roboshop and employ

low-power control system to reduce its overall energy consumption.

To minimize paper consumption, we have eliminated paper distribution
sheets and promoted personal digital assistant (PDA) to expand
paperless order picking. Furthermore, we have decreased the use of
physical product displays in roboshop windows, and gradually piloted
full screen displays and versatile equipment to reduce the need for
product replacement, thereby saving resources in manufacturing
and logistics. Additionally, we have eliminated city transshipment
from warehouses, with products being directly shipped from main
warehouses to roboshop specialists, effectively reducing the use and

cost of transport packaging materials.

Warehouse:

We have developed Warehouse Energy Conservation Regulations to
clearly regulate the use of lighting and fans within the warehouse,
requiring the rational use of electrical equipment in different weather
conditions and operational areas, and promoting the use of low-energy
LED energy-saving lamps to gradually replace traditional lamps. We
continue to promote the recycling and reuse of packaging cartons,
cardboard, and other materials, and promote the use of recyclable
logistics boxes and pallets to reduce the use of packaging cartons,

disposable wooden pallets, etc.
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POP LAND:

POP LAND is an urban renovation project in response to the appeal
of the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, which has
avoided large-scale demolition and construction, and reduced negative
impacts on the surrounding environment and natural resources by
reconstructing and updating the main structure of the original building.
Always adhering to the principle of protecting the environment,
cherishing natural resources and improving energy efficiency, we
have strengthened the management of relevant work since the
commencement of the construction. Its high-standard rainwater
drainage system with a recurrence interval of three years (one extreme
rainfall matching the designed drainage system will occur every three
years on average) can ensure effective drainage under extreme weather
conditions, and channel rainwater into the river or make it infiltrate into
the green area. We focus on the protection of existing vegetation such
as large trees, and take professional protective measures during the

construction process to ensure proper protection.

POP LAND adopts high-quality cooling, heating, lighting and water
equipment, and implements efficient environmental protection
measures in compliance with relevant national standards, becoming a

model in green operation.

Cooling and heating: It adopts a renewable air source heat pump
system for cooling and heating. The unit adopts variable refrigerant
flow air-conditioning systems, and uses electricity rather than fossil
fuels to achieve smoke-free emissions. All the energy efficiency
indexes are higher than the relevant requirements in the existing
national standard GB 50189-2015 Design standard for energy
efficiency of public buildings and national standard efficiency.
The cooling and heating source and air-conditioning terminal
equipment are equipped with an automatic control system with
remote start and stop, monitoring and other functions, and the
air-conditioning ventilation system adopts air supply with large

temperature difference to reduce energy consumption;
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Lighting: The lighting power density (LPD) in various places of POP
LAND complies with the stipulated value in the national standard
GB 50034-2013 Standard for lighting design of buildings, the
nightscape lighting limit value complies with the stipulated value
in the industrial standard JGJ/T163-2008 Code for lighting design
of urban nightscape, and the energy efficiency of light source and
ballast is no lower than the evaluating value of energy conservation
of corresponding energy efficiency standards. Straight-tube
fluorescent lamps, high power factors, low-harmonic compact
fluorescent lamps, LED and other light sources are adopted, which
can avoid the use of indirect lighting or diffuse reflective lighting
ceiling, reduce power consumption while improving lighting effect,
reduce energy waste and environmental pollution, and achieve

green lighting scheme.

Water using: The greening sprinkling system adopts efficient and
water-saving irrigation modes. Our water system uses pipes and
fittings with good corrosion resistance and durability to minimize

water pipeline leakage and waste of water resources.

In addition, the Company also focuses on the R&D and management
of green packaging materials. We integrate the concept of green
environmental protection and low-carbon into the whole life cycle
of products, comprehensively consider the environmental protection
attributes and energy saving and consumption reduction needs of
products from product design, production, packaging, logistics to
scraping, constantly optimize the application of packaging materials, in
order to reduce environmental impacts and implement the green and

environmental protection concept.
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Case: Launching the First “Carbon Neutrality” Product, and
Initiating the New Trend of Environmental Protection in the
Pop Toy Industry

In 2023, we realized innovation breakthroughs in product design,
production, packaging and transportation. We, together with China
Environmental Protection Foundation, launched the first “carbon
neutrality” pop toy in the industry — the jointly designed action figure
"DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulai” at Shanghai Pop Toy Show.

“‘DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulai” action figure adopted lots of measures
to reduce emissions in the product life cycle. In terms of product
packaging, we used 30% rPET (Recycled polyester) to produce plastic
parts, and adopted 20% PCR (Post-consumer recycled material) for
injection molding production, laying a foundation for the reduction of
carbon emissions. In the production process, renewable energy was
used for production, and the carbon emissions were further reduced
by optimizing the production technology, saving energy and reducing
consumption reduction. As for logistics, 500 recyclable logistics boxes
were used to replace disposable cartons. In addition, we purchased
high-quality carbon credit projects to achieve carbon neutrality goals
in the product life cycle. The product has passed the authoritative
certification in the field of carbon neutrality by Envision Group. The
Envision Ark Carbon Management System enables the carbon footprint
management of the “product life cycle” The carbon neutrality is
completed by writing off the verified carbon units (VCUs) equivalent to
the verified carbon standards (VCS), and the verification and certification

are conducted by China Quality Certification Center.
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Case: Recyclable Logistics Boxes and Pallets were Used to
Reduce Carbon Emissions

During the year, we continued to conduct recyclable logistics box
projects, using recyclable logistics boxes during the transportation
from factories to warehouses and from warehouses to stores. The
recyclable logistics boxes were recycled several times, which reduced
carbon emissions and costs. In 2023, 2,336 small-size recyclable logistics
boxes and 4,359 large-size ones were used in factories; 3,528 recyclable
logistics boxes were used from warehouses to stores. Recyclable logistics
boxes were recycled 10,429 times during the year, which reduced the
carbon emissions by approximately 3.1 tons as compared to disposable
cartons. We also replaced disposable wooden pallets with recyclable
pallets for goods transportation and circulation in warehouses and
factories. In 2023, recyclable pallets were used 26,554 times in factories
and 56,014 times in warehouses. Recyclable pallets were used 60,450
times in total, which reduced the carbon emissions by approximately

274 tons as compared to disposable wooden pallets.

Case: New Craftsmanship Development and Product
Packaging Upgrading

In 2023, we made our product packaging lighter, more degradable and

with fewer plastics.

In order to produce lighter products, we have environmentally optimised
and upgraded packaging materials in MEGA COLLECTION products,
resulting in a shrinkage of 29% in the current packaging of "MEGA
SPACE MOLLY 1000%" products over the original product packaging.
The "MEGA SPACE MOLLY 400%" product packaging has been optimised
in the blister from a folio structure to an upper and lower lid structure
and transformed to the new product packaging of 235 x 175 x 340 mm
from the original packaging size of 250 x 200 x 345 mm, with 18.9%
of improvement in the product packaging volume, which has saved

packaging costs and transportation costs.
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In order to produce degradable products, we completed the
replacement of the foamed plastic liner in the original "MEGA SPACE
MOLLY 1000%" product packaging with degradable and recyclable
paper tray liner. EVA bags, the original packaging material, were
replaced with PLA biodegradable plastic bags, and the corrugated
boxes and colour-coated paper cards were made with paper with Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC) certification. All these measures can help

reduce the environmental impact of our packaging materials.

In order to use less plastics, we have implemented a series of measures,
including certain product lines applying environmental-friendly soy ink
instead of plastic film; choosing the special paper to enhance the surface
texture of packaging and better suit the artistic expression; completely
replacing the offset-and-colour-printed and film-laminated express
boxes with monochrome-printed express cartons with zips; applying
paper fibre materials instead of plastic tear strips of original blind boxes,

etc., to upgrade the product packaging.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Company highly values the protection of the environment and
natural resources. In our business development and daily operation,
the Company has actively responded to national policies of energy
conservation and environmental protection, promoted the concept
of environmental protection, fulfilled the low-carbon operation mode,
and minimised the impact on the environment and natural resources,

thereby enhancing our green competitiveness.

Given our operation features, the Company has rather little influence on
the environment and natural resources. In 2023, we have not discovered
any significant event of pollution and impact on the environment and

natural resources in our operation.
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Response to Climate Change

As climate change is now one of the most serious challenges worldwide,
responsible enterprises should take countermeasures to promote
climate action on their own initiatives. The Company is keenly aware
of the seriousness and urgency of climate change by proactively
identifying and assessing short medium and long term climate-related
risks, formulating comprehensive countermeasures, and continuously
improving our climate risk management system to mitigate the impacts

of climate change.

During the year, based on the existing risk management system, we
continued to identify and analyse climate change risks to ensure a
comprehensive understanding of climate risks in each department
through communication and collaboration with various departments.
We accordingly formulated and improved management strategies and

countermeasures against climate risks.

The major risks and opportunities identified, as well as countermeasures

implemented against climate change by the Company, are as follows:

Climate-

related risks/

Types opportunities Description of risks/opportunities
RIZEE
Rl R HE R BT
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Countermeasures

e 4 i

Physical risks Acute weather

Y R

risks

SERRRER

The occurrence of extreme weather,
such as rainstorms, typhoons and
snowstorms may cause damage to the
health and safety of staff and property
of the Company.
FW - BE - FEEHRimRRAE
BEEARABRERZERA
RIBTERIE

Develop emergency plans in line with different
situations, establish efficient mechanism of
disaster relief, issue weather alerts in advance
when extreme weather occurs, regularly assess
measures for disaster prevention, reserve
emergency supplies, such as umbrellas and
raincoats, adjust operation hours and working
ways when necessary, identify possible asset
losses, and purchase necessary staff and property
insurance.
HEUTEBEANEESAR  BUSBESK
KM - W BRm R RIBERT © EHFFED
SHETH ﬁ%ﬁ# MAREEZYE @ BERF
BEARELHBERPATR  BAIFT A
WQEE% BEL2MABEPERR -

=2 = =54 ANNUALREPORT 2023 |} POP MART

119



120

2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FB]RIE - HERERRE

Climate-

related risks/

Types opportunities Description of risks/opportunities
ER L
f:Eid R HE R BT

Countermeasures

FE 45 i

Extreme weather such as rainstorms,
typhoons and snowstorms may cause
Pop Mart interruptions in transport
operations.

W BAE  RESHGRANELE
AR B R RIS ER T ERE
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Continuously improve the environment of
warehouse hardware facilities, enhance the
business operation and emergency response
capabilities of warehouses, establish an integrated
logistics and transportation system covering
conventional and emergency logistics and
transportation, communicate with logistics
service providers and adjust the work plan in
a timely manner as extreme weather occurs,
and use emergency logistics transportation
methods such as air or rail transportation when
necessary, improve the mechanism for identifying
and predicting extreme weather, and regularly
assess the impact of bad weather on product
transportation.
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Types opportunities Description of risks/opportunities Countermeasures
ER L
f:Eid Bk HE R EER FEH 5 iE
Chronic Continuous hot weather may lead Formulate emergency plans for the continuous

Transformation risks

EAE B

weather risks

1B IERRE R

Risk of policies
and laws and
regulations

B KRR
ER R

visitors and employees of POP LAND
to suffer heatstroke outdoors.
FERRRREEUA BB MEE
BE - BTEFIPEHEAR -

Regulatory authorities gradually
improve the disclosure requirements
for information related to climate
change. The government also
accelerates the introduction of green
and low-carbon transformation
policies. Failure to follow up on
policies or meet relevant disclosure
requirements may result in regulatory
inquiries or warnings.
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BER SRk BUR TR IR HEAE 4% R AR
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SR AEDRBREER  SHER
EEEMBRMREETR -

hot weather during the summer, issue weather
alerts in advance when extreme weather occurs,
and take precautionary measures, including but
not limited to enabling tourists to be accessible to
ticket refunds or postphoned visit, providing first
aid knowledge concerning heat stroke to doctors
in the park, reserving medicines to alleviate heat
stroke at park services; placing ice machines in
the park; and placing spraying cooling facilities in
outdoor places where people gather.
HUZHHESRARAT TR R - MiFE
ImMARBERT - R EERE BEEDS
BRRETRMARZESERENERE  BE
B A RET S HEOSRANE BB ERE
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Continuously follow up on the new policies
issued by the country in response to climate
change, energy conservation and environmental
protection, ecological protection and other
relevant fields, analyze the impact of relevant
policies on the Company, and develop
corresponding management measures and
response methods; improve the climate change
management system, strengthen communication
with regulatory authorities, and improve the
transparency of information disclosure.
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Climate-

related risks/

Types opportunities Description of risks/opportunities Countermeasures
ER L
<] R HE R BT FEH 5 iE
Market risk The concept of green, low-carbon, Pay attention to customers’ expectations for

miZE R

Technology
risk

B

POP MART

and sustainable consumption is
becoming increasingly popular, and
customers are paying more attention
to the impact of their products on
the environment and the Company's
measures to address climate change.
Failure to grasp relevant trends
in a timely manner may lead to
customer loss; climate change may
lead to higher energy prices, thereby
increasing logistics costs.

e R FIRSERERERE LR
7 BPENBTEMNRRZE
BT AR ERERIRE (T O
B REERGIEEEMBE - ATeE
HEPRE  RIRE(LAT LB HELR
B8 bk - 1emIB AR
Technical bottlenecks and failure
to make a breakthrough in
environmental protection and low-
carbon technology could result in
green products lagging behind the
industry peers.

BERMRSE - BERRRRERR
T - BEAEEEDERNFE -
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green, low-carbon, and sustainable products,
ensure timely and accurate disclosure of
information on response to climate change
challenges, innovate green product designs, track
the development trend of green market, promote
the transformation and upgrading of products,
and gradually adjust the transportation plan by
increasing the number of new energy vehicles.
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Recruit top experts and increase investment in

technology research and development.
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Description of risks/opportunities

R BT
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Countermeasures

FE 45 i

Opportunities
s

Reputation risk

BEE R

Green

operation
meEE

Poor performance in addressing
climate change could lead to a loss of
confidence among stakeholders in the
Company.
FERARGEE T ERRRE B
BENAERTHARRIRERED ©

Advance enterprises’ transformation to

net zero low-carbon emission.

RECEABTERBE -

Regularly review the Company's sustainable
development strategy and make timely
adjustments according to the current situation;
enhance employees’ awareness of climate
change and foster employees’ awareness and
sense of purpose to adopt more positive actions;
strengthen communication with stakeholders
and listen to their opinions and suggestions for
continuous improvement.
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Develop strategic plans for new energy
transportation; adopt more environmentally
friendly transport modes; increase new energy
transportation technology and equipment; build a
green supply chain.

HIEEEREGBRAE  RAERRNER
I EBIMNFRERER RITERME  ITERE
HrEss -

=2 =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 | POP MART

123



124

2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FRIE - HEREARRE

Types

Climate-

related risks/

opportunities Description of risks/opportunities
ER L

R HE R BT

Countermeasures

FE 45 i

POP MART

Green Urge enterprises to invest in and
products develop and innovate on green
HFEEM products and green packaging
materials, so as to open up new
markets.
R ERE MR ZEERK
mEsRME  FENTS -

Resources and Promote cooperation with industry or
cooperation other professional organizations and
AREAE create more opportunities.
R RITEANREMBERREBSE
mREZEERS -
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Focus on the design and application of green
products and green materials; strengthen
technology research and development, optimize
production processes, and enhance green
innovation capabilities; understand market
demand, accurately locate green products, and
promote successful products or cases to the
entire product line; strengthen green product
certification and publicity.

EIRGEER  REMBHRETEER N
BB - BEEETIS  RAGGEIRRE
N TERWMSHER  BEEMGEEM 1§
NEMKROEEZEDRER : NBAECEM
RE AT EHERE

Seek cooperation opportunities and broaden
cooperation channels; strengthen close ties with
industry organizations; establish a cooperative
network to promote cooperation and resource
integration through technical support
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Environmental Goals and Progress Achieved

To support China’s “Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality” goal, the
Company quantifies its carbon footprint and continuously tracks its
environmental management process. During the year, we reviewed the
progress towards achieving our environmental goals, and the details of

this progress are outlined below:

Goals

B

2023 FBIE HBERERBE

REEERERER
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FE  BMAERREENERERETR
A HEERRE R ERERNT

Progress Achieved

ERER

Emission reduction By the end of 2030, the greenhouse gas

goal emissions (Scope 1 and 2)® of the Company
will reach a carbon dioxide emission peak.
WEER R HE2030FK - AAGHE—LEE_-OR

ERBHENERGEE -
Waste reduction goal By the end of 2023, at least 40% of our physical
stores will popularize the use of recyclable

logistics boxes®.

WEEEE HE2023FE » EL40%84E TP T LAl
BRI RAEAOER -
Note:

(1) Scope 1 covers the emission of greenhouse gases directly produced by the
businesses that are owned or controlled by the Company, such as carbon
emissions from the consumption of petrol and diesel by official business
vehicles; Scope 2 covers the emission of greenhouse gases indirectly
produced by electricity generation, heating, cooling and steam internally
consumed by the Company, either purchased or acquired.

(2)  The goal disclosed in the 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
of the Company is that by the end of 2023, at least 90% of the packaging
cartons generated in stores will be collected and recycled by the Company
or by qualified third parties. The Company has launched the use of recyclable
logistics boxes to replace traditional packaging cartons. During the year,
taking into account the Company's business development, the layout of
store warehouses, and the turnover time of recyclable logistics boxes, the
Company reviewed this goal and revised it upon the approval of the Board
of Directors.

Relevant work was in process and unified emission
calculation standards were established to ensure data
comparability.

BERFRERAEIE  S#ZG—
A FRBURE AT LI

The goal has been achieved, with 46.7% of our physical

BB At B AR

stores using recyclable logistics boxes by the end of
2023.

BIREEK - BE2023FE * EH46.7%0NRTFIE
E AR AERYRAE -

() BEREALNDREALZEHNEBERES
FURE RPN - A EEFE VR - RIRE
EEBREER - BB _RERE R RN EDERE (B

BESEISH) B - BEE - 2R R TPTSIE

MR EOR = REEHEI -

(2 ARRC002FEE - HEMBEARS)OWENE
BhE  HZE2023FK  EL00%MEEENBE
BAEBARRREBEENE=FRIWFA - &
ARIEHEAERDRENEAUERERaE
B AFE  BAEBARREBEREBR
AR FPYEREM/D « A &R Y746 0 U & &8
SRR ARRHEZESET TR - WLES
GEBERTRIBET o
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Goals

B

Progress Achieved

ERER

Energy-saving goal

EiRE B &

Water-saving goal

Hik BEZ

POP MART

By the end of 2025, office electricity
consumption per capita will be reduced by
10% as compared with that of 2020.

HZE2025FK - A9

10% ©

TAFEE 28 2020F

By the end of 2025, office water consumption
per capita will be reduced by 10% as compared
with that of 2020.

HE2025FK © AP AFEKEERK2020F 8
10% ©

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

Carry out fun games to mobilize electricity
conservation, strengthen electricity management, and
take energy-saving renovation and other measures to
achieve the goal. In 2023, the electricity consumption
per capita in the Dongguan office reduced by 6%
compared to 2022, and that in the Shenzhen office
reduced by 4% compared to 2022.
BEVTHEBRKEDHEHORE  MAEBEE
B REEREBE SR ES AR ER 0 20236
REPRNEADHEEER2022F /6% - FYIHA
[EAEFEEE2022F 7 4%

Continue to increase water-saving efforts and take
measures such as posting water-saving labels, daily
water inspection and maintenance management, and
water-saving renovation, to achieve the goal. In 2023,
the water consumption per capita in the Shenzhen
office reduced by 15% compared to 2022.
FEESHKIE  BRREEKES  BHAF
FAKKAR B IR - K E SR EIRE
H 020235 - FIIMARAGFEKER2022FH D
15% °




2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FIRIE - HERERRE

Environment Key Performance Indicators® RIERARBERIEEY
The 2023 environment key performance indicators of the Company RRAT2023FRIFHEBRE SRS T
are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, the scope of environment T -BRIEHRPIN  RIBFBHERTEHE
statistics covers major offices and operating stores of Pop Mart in the HERBRIBHFERERALEEZRARE &
Mainland China and POP LAND, whereas the rest will be included as and EPERABIBHEMELR  EHREES
when appropriate in the future. Fir AR SR S s pA SR E o
Emission®
E2 3067/
Indicators Data for 2023
BE 2023 F B

Total greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission (Scope 1 and 2)®(tons)
BERBHINAE (FE—REE) (M) 6,418.01
Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) (tons)

BEOREREYN (E—) (MR)

Petrol

P 19.85
Natural gas

RAR 1550

Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) (tons)
MEERE R (BE =) (1)

Purchased electricity

SN EE S 6,382.66
Total GHG emission (Scope 1 and 2) per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
FRETHERAZREHNE (BE—RBEE=) (B B&T) 1.02
Total hazardous wastes (tons)®?
BEREEYRE ()W 0.54
Total hazardous wastes per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
TEBTHERAEEEYEE (B B8T) 0.0001
Total non-hazardous wastes (tons)®
EEREEYAE ()0 329.23
Total non-hazardous wastes per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
HEBTHEREEREEYEE (B B8T) 0.05
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Notes:

m

POP MART

Due to the increase of POP LAND, certain new office areas and stores of
the Company in 2023 as per its business development, the total energy
consumption, total non-hazardous wastes, total office water consumption
and total GHG emission have increased overall as compared with that of the
previous year.

Due to the small number of self-owned vehicles of the Company, the
emission of exhaust emissions such as nitrogen oxides and sulfur oxides
generated thereof was limited. Based on the nature of the operation of the
Company, its major type of gas emissions is GHG emission from electricity
and fuels derived from fossil fuels.

The GHG list includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. They
mainly come from purchased electricity and fuels. GHG emissions data is
presented in carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) and is based on the Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China Under the 2021 Emission
Reduction Project issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the People’s Republic of China, and the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Revision) issued by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Hazardous wastes generated from the Company’s operation mainly include
waste toners, waste toner cartridges and waste ink cartridges for office
printing devices, and the replacement or disposal of which are handled by
printing service suppliers or qualified professional companies.

Non-hazardous wastes generated from the Company’s operation mainly
include domestic waste, waste paper and electronic waste. Domestic waste is
handled collectively within the premises. Waste paper, including A3 copying
paper, A4 copying paper and thermal paper, which are handled collectively
within the premises. Electronic wastes are handled by qualified professional
companies.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &

I%ﬁ%@ " 2023 FF AR BFTIL BT
R T 22 DWW ARG REPIE - AR
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ER R -
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e

BEREBERFE _Si - PRt
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BB SR EERY  TRBPEAR
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¢IEW$%%E@%HI%&&&HW%
RE{BEFIZE G (IPCOTIBMIPCC 2006
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Energy and Resources Consumption

BRREREE

Indicators Data for 2023
B 2023 F HE
Total energy consumption (MWh)®
BEREEAE ORRE) O 10,832.01
Direct energy consumption (MWh)
BEEERBRE CKREE)

Petrol

bl 77.57

Natural gas

RAR 76.36
Indirect energy consumption (MWh)
s IROB R OK RS )

Purchased electricity®

SNEE @ 10,678.08
Total energy consumption per million revenue (MWh/RMB millions)
BESTHERRERERE KRR, BE7T) 172
Office water consumption (tons)®
WRRAOERES () © 12,716.65
Office water consumption per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
BEESTHERERARKHEEEZ (M, BET) 2.02
Total packaging materials for finished products (tons)®
MRy EE (W) 6,737.00
Total packaging materials for finished products per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
BEETHEERRANKREEDE (M, §87T) 1.07
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Notes:

m

POP MART

Energy consumption is calculated on the basis of the conversion factor
set out in the General Principles of Consolidated Energy Consumption
Calculation (GB/T 2589-2020), the national standard of the People’s Republic
of China, including purchased electricity and petrol consumption for
vehicles.

Electricity charges for Guangzhou office area are included in property fees,
and the consumption of purchased electricity cannot yet be measured
separately, therefore, data for Guangzhou office area is not included in the
purchased electricity for the reporting period.

Except for the Company’s Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Xinxiang office areas
and POP LAND, the office water usage in other office areas and operating
stores is managed by their respective premises. Water charges are included
in property fees, and water usage cannot yet be measured separately. Hence,
during the reporting period, only data from Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen,
Xinxiang office areas and POP LAND is collected for office water consumption
and office water consumption intensity. Our office water is sourced from
municipal pipeline network, thus there is no obstacles in securing water
supply.

Packaging materials mainly include plastic packaging bag, carton, paper box
and paper bag.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &

BEREEERESRETFEARLIMERER
EAE(IR A BeFERT E M AI(GB/T 2589-2020))
FRENEBRERTETIE - B5INE
BEHMAEREMH -

BENRRREEBEEMEET - SIBE
HFEE M TREEE & - MAREHAN - 5
BENRBZEMNPBRRNER -

BAmE R - B R R AR R
VRIS TR - HA AR MBS
[ERDRKBRARYEES - KERSE
MESBT - KERTEESTE  #AR
SEN - WARNOEFEER R A RAOERER
EESFTIER - BE - R AR AR
KO RIS R R EIE - HAIH A
FKRA TR A RKEREK - FESREUE K
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BEVIZEFEEHEER @F dak
FRRME -



2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

V. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR STANDARDS

Adhering to the management philosophy of “employees are our
partners’, the Company continues to improve the talent management
system, promotes diversified talent training mechanism, develops new
channels for talent introduction, enhances the effectiveness of human
resources, and guarantees a safe and healthy working environment and
equal employment opportunities for employees, so as to safeguard the
legitimate rights and interests of the employees, builds a career platform
for the realization of employees’ individual talents and dreams, and

achieve mutual development with the employees.

Employment Management

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China % ARLFELEE) and the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China 2 A R HFNE
L) & [E)%)) and the relevant laws, regulations and control requlations
of the countries or regions in which other operations are located
around the globe, the Company has formulated a series of personnel
management systems such as the Human Resources Management
System, the Attendance Management System, the Probation
Management System, the Business Trip Management System, the
Expatriate Management System and the Vocation Management System.
The Company has provided clear regulations on employee recruitment,
employment, compensation, benefits, promotion, termination,
working hours, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other personnel and welfare benefits. We regulate labor relations in
accordance with the law and regularly review and update our human
resources systems in conjunction with amendments to national laws
and regulations. In view of the accelerated global development of the
Company, we have introduced an international recruitment platform and
actively carried out multi-channel employee recruitment and personnel

management.

2023 FBIE HBERERBE

RN TEA

RARFATBTIRERMOBH | HEIEIE
DOREBETEATERRE HHERL
AT IBBES - RAATSENFHRE -
RAANEBERYEE  REETIRERET
FRTERBEMNFENRERS - #EB
TR R TEERBETEATRENE
BHEETE  HETHEKRES -

BEEE

RABERBETF(REARKLMBESEE)
(REARKEMBILEE RZE) FEERE
B UREREMEBLAERERN R
HEEEERLEREN - SIECANER
ERHECEHEESE) (HAHEEH
EICHEERHE)CBIINREEHIE)
(RBERGIE)EAEEREHNE  £8T
e EBE - FH -8R - BA - #E-
TR FERS 2ot REBRN
K B A S BURE N R B 55 7 T i BA R AR
E o BIMMOERELEER - BEBEFKE
BERMEBE]  THERSEANERS
B FIASTZEEH o SR AR T EEMNR
2HBERSK - BMESIABBR/IEIE
Fa BERFARSZEBEEIHNERAZEE
BT
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We strive to create an inclusive and diverse working environment to
providing equal job opportunities to all employees and ensure fair
treatment in recruitment, wages, benefits, training opportunities, work
arrangements, promotions, disciplinary actions and dismissals. We
respect human rights and firmly oppose any discriminatory or harassing
behavior, including but not limited to race, social class, nationality,
gender, sexual orientation, age, appearance, religion, and marital
status. Discrimination against employees is strictly prohibited, allowing
each employee to fully utilise their talents in a fair and just working

environment.

In accordance with the laws and regulations such as the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors {2 AR I
MBI AR S AREE)) and the Regulations on the Prohibition of Child
Labor KZEIE{FRETHE)), we have formulated and implemented
legal employment policies to eradicate child labor, forced labor, and any
other illegal labor practices. We regularly conduct recruitment training
for store operations and store managers, require the implementation
of recruitment verification procedures, rigorously check the identity
documents of applicants, and use human resource management
systems to make double check of the information. The human resources
department of the Company conducts a second review during the
employee on-boarding approval stage. Once child labor is found, we
will immediately stop their work, conduct identity verification and
contact their guardian to assist in their return to their original place of
residence. We respect the willingness of employees to work and arrange
reasonable working hours, and strictly prohibit the use of violence,
threats, or illegal restrictions on personal freedom to force employees
to work. Any violation, such as forced labor, is promptly dealt with
according to regulations to safeguard the legal rights of employees. In

2023, no cases of child labor or forced labor have been found.

We absorb various talents according to business development needs
and optimize personnel structure. As of 31 December 2023, the
Company has a total of 4,900 employees in China, Hong Kong, Macao,

Taiwan and overseas regions.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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Employment?

ETEREER
Indicators As of 31 December 2023
bipd BZE2023F12H31H
By gender (persons) Male
BRI (A) Es 1,369
Female
o8 3,531
By employment type (persons) Full-time
BER (X) e 4,696
Part-time
e 204
By age (persons) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (A) 305 (R E) AR 3,333
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
3052 508% (V&) 1,565
Above age 50 (including)
505% (B) A E 2
By geographical region (persons) Mainland China
BUE (A) B A3 4,496
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
BRE KB 404
2 The statistics of employment cover the Company's regular employees and part- 2 EBEIEFBEASHABEREARTNENEIRRE
time employees and do not include outsourced employees and interns. BT TEE/IMEIMEEL -
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Employee Turnover Rate?

BIREAEER?
Indicators As of 31 December 2023
bipd BZE2023F12H31H
Employee turnover rate (%)
BITRKE (%) 38.28%
By gender (%) Male
A% 5 (%) E2 35.12%
Female
o8 39.59%
By age (%) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (%) 308% (M) AT 48.90%
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
30552 505% (&) 15.04%
Above age 50 (including)
505% (B) AL 0%
By geographical region (%) Mainland China
R 1t & (%) H I A 37.34%
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
BEa Mg 60.58%

3 The employee turnover rate represents the turnover rate of employees who
voluntarily resign, and the statistics cover the Company's regular employees and
part-time employees and do not include outsourced employees and interns.
Employee turnover rate = (number of employees resigned during the reporting
period / average annual number of employees during the reporting period) X
100%.

A7 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED SaiB 3545 IR S BA R A A

BIRKTBERD/THEHBNHBTIRALE &
AHEREARARNERAETIRFRBT - T8
SINBEIMERE - BEIREAE =(FABEHRN
BB T AZ ARESHANEEFHETAR)
X100% °
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Employees Caring

In accordance with laws and regulations such as the Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China K #ZE A R EF B+t {RERE))
and the Reqgulation on the Administration of Housing Provident Fund
KEERRAESEIRIENM)), the Company have established a sound and
reasonable remuneration and welfare system, created diverse channels
for employee communication, and committed ourselves to enhancing
employees’ happiness, sense of belonging, and sense of identity. This
effort is to build an employer brand image that is warm, responsible and

caring.

In terms of remuneration package, we have established a comprehensive
remuneration and welfare mechanism. In addition to regular salary
payments and contributions to the five insurances and housing
provident funds (FLf— =), we provide employees with incentives such
as catering and transportation allowance, performance bonus, quarterly
incentive, year-end bonus, seniority bonus, year-end incentives, and
long-term incentives. During the year, for employees in Mainland
China, we optimised the year-end incentives mechanism by adopting
a model of “13th month salary + year-end bonus’, with the year-end
bonus allocated within the department budget based on employee
performance to effectively motivate employees. For employees in other
countries and regions, we fully consider local laws, regulations and social
conditions to provide competitive remuneration package to attract and

retain outstanding talents.

In respect of employee benefits, we provide statutory benefits to all
employees in accordance with local laws and regulations, and gradually
promote the localised adjustment of the Company’s benefit policies to
better meet the welfare needs of employees in various regions. Statutory
benefits include social insurance, medical insurance, housing provident
funds, and various statutory holidays. The Company’s benefits include
supplementary commercial insurance for employees, seniority leave,
birthday gifts, anniversary gifts, company anniversary gifts, marriage
gifts, maternity benefits, Chinese New Year red packets, team-building
activities, club activities, and family day events. We have established
the Women Committee to provide reasonable treatment for female
employees, offering maternity allowances and full-paid maternity leave
benefits to female employees, and organizing regular activities for
female employees to effectively safeguard their rights and interests. As
the Company expands globally and employs local foreign workers in
countries like Singapore, Thailand and Malaysia, we respect local cultures
and holiday arrangements by providing funding and organising various

employee activities.

2023 FBIE HBERERBE

BMEST

RRRHKIBE(PEARKMBEL S RIOE)
(EERABEEKRMN)FEEZRER B
BRIF - AEMNFHENER  BBRZT
EETEBRE BORERETHNER
B RERERRAR TEALE - BR
IR REER

EFMEETE KRR LTENFHFMNE
Ml BREMBERBEIIE - #mAk
—®I 0 REIRHUBERRIAME
RROE - FEAR  FRES - AR
& - FREENA R SR F 5 2R
AEE HEPBEAMET - HMEL
FREBMES - RRM3F+FREI N
N FREEAPIVEAREE THEWE
THE  UERAMATXHMBET : stH
HBERRMBENET - #MNEHEEE
WARARRMEEE  REIRHEASR
BFENOFHMEE - ARSI MEEESFA
T o

EETRAMTE @ RIKESHERER
BRETIRN BEERNBEEZER
T [IEZESHERRENBEN R
HE EFMEESMRETINENS
ko B ZERNEBEHERR - BE
Rig - AT BRETHBRABRRAE
AEBNEEEIHARMERR  F&
R -4LRER BAFEm FAEER &
FET  L£FRED FHMIAE ER
AE  HEURBARKERESHE o i
RIBLEEE  HTRUEBTIAE(LRF
B REBZMEIRHEERSZN 2%
BERBEN  ETHEASLUEEIED U
EREBLZUEE TR - BEARAEIK
b3k - RAEFMIE - FE - HFRES
ZHEREREWIEET  AHEEEM
XAERER B - IR EWAB LB
EHETED -

=T = =FF% ANNUAL REPORT 2023 |} POP MART

135



136

2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FB]RIE - HERERRE

We continuously optimize our working hour management policies,
reasonably arrange working hours for employees, and advocate efficient
completion of work tasks, so as to safeguard employees’ vacation rights
and help employees achieve a good work-life balance. In principle, we
discourage overtime work, and if overtime is necessary, employees are

entitled to re-assign rest day or overtime pay.

We set various communication channels for employees to receive their
reasonable requests, including “Pop Voice Recorder” platform, public
mailbox, QR code, HR help desk, etc. The “Pop Voice Recorder” platform
serves as an anonymous or open channel for employees’ enquiries about
their daily work, atmosphere, career development, employee benefits
and internal monitoring. We will consolidate and categorize feedback
from staff and submit to the relevant person in charge for response,
and post it online on a regular basis. The Public mailbox, QR code and
HR help desk support bilingual communication in Chinese and English
to meet the needs of all employees. We respond to employee feedback

sincerely and timely based on case, and carry out regular summaries.

We regularly organize various cultural and sports activities, and provide
with budgetary support to help them relieve work pressure and enhance
their well-being, so that they would feel the care and support from the
Company. This can promote communication and collaboration among

employees, and create a positive corporate culture.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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Health and Safety

The Company attaches great importance to employees’ health and
safety. In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s
Republic of China FZE A R HEFBIEE M F767%)), the Regulation on
the Administration of Sanitation in Public Places K AIZFTEIA S IR (E

1)), the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance € TAGAREE (551

and the Measures for the Supervision and Administration of Employers’

Occupational Health Surveillance K FAANBAIBE iR REHERER
#H%)), the Company improves the safety management system and
enhance the safety awareness of employees to create a safe working

environment.

We continue to take a series of measures to ensure that employees
maintain good physical and mental health in work. We review the
relevant safety qualifications of the property before signing a contract
with the owner for new store. We also prepare basic medications and
first aid kits for employees, organize regular physical examination to
screen for occupational health hazards, and add commercial insurance
for employees to ensure their health and safety. During the year, we
organized employees to undergo physical examinations, enriched their
commercial medical insurance, upgraded high-end medical insurance
plans, and selected high-quality suppliers to provide services to
employees. In addition, we continuously improve commercial insurance
plans, which currently include accident insurance, serious illness medical
insurance, hospitalization insurance, and life insurance. The Company
strictly keeps employees’ personal health information confidential, and
information such as physical examination reports and supplementary
medical reimbursement is only accessible to such employee and others

shall have no such authorization to it.

2023 FBIE HBERERBE
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We care for the mental health of employees and provide supports
to relieve their mental stress. We developed an Employee Assistance
Programs (EAP*) with our partners to provide mental consultation
service to whole stall. The Company also set “Pop Mart Heart-to-Heart
Center’, employee mental health project, to provide employees with
one-on-one psychological counseling to help them obtain convenient
and professional mental health services, so as to further troubleshoot
occupational health and safety hazard and help employees to identify
potential occupational diseases, occupational contraindications and
other abnormal symptoms as soon as possible. We strengthened the
promotion of health knowledge by offering mental health tips to and
organizing activities for all employees, such as monthly “Mental Massage”

tips, with the aim of affecting employees’ health in a positive way.

We regularly conduct training on safety and health. For new employees,
we emphasize safety issues and precautions in the induction training.
For employees responsible for production and quality inspection, we
provide specialized training on safety and health. In order to effectively
prevent safety accidents, we regularly hold emergency evacuation drills
and fire drills, and encourage employees to learn emergency response

knowledge to enhance their relevant capabilities.

In 2023, the data related to employees’ occupational and health safety is

BPETIEINLEMEE  BPHEHFET
SHEBRN - WEFAERHFAREIED
P&l (FAPY) - AR BB TIRELEZ AR
1 o ARRINERRI [0 B TOE
fBEIEE BT ENM—¥H—0LEZAE
B BHEE SHOLCEBRES
—SHERERELEEE  BEHEIR
PREABER BELZERTER -
IR EEM#HEE - AREE THEDL
BREFE/NAHREE - AImAETLESR
#)pAE - BN ABINRESRER

By 488
FE o

BPERFARLZERETEAEI - &
HHET  EARBITRIALREEEE
AEBEECHHUBELAE BRNETI
RERIEFINZZEZFERABIZ) - SEX
B RE2ERELE - RACHERESHR
AUBRADEDEE » SBE T2 E BN
EAR - BB SESEERS -

2023°F - BETIREHERZ2HEBEIEN

as follows: T
Occupational Health and Safety®
BERBEHERZ RS
Indicators Data for 2021 Data for 2022 Data for 2023
BE 2021 FHE 2022 FH B 2023 F HIE
Total work-related fatalities (persons)
EAITHEAZ(A) 0 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities (%)
HI T (%) 0 0 0
Number of work-related injuries (persons)
EIZEAR(A) 4 1 6
Number of lost days due to work injury (days)
EIBBXIEBE(X) 108 2 288
4 EAP: Employee Assistance Programs. 4 EAP : Employee Assistance Programs * 8 T & Bt
&l -
5  The statistics of occupational health and safety cover the Company’s regular 5 BEERETZX2EBSEERERAARERE
employees and part-time employees and do not include outsourced employees TITRFEBRT  TEE/IBEIMEELE -
and interns.
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Development and Training

The Company attaches importance to the career development of
employees, therefore, it continuously optimizes the employee training
and development system by setting clear promotion path and diverse
development channels, and providing diversified training courses to
assist employees in personal growth, thus to create an talent pool for

the Company to ensure the sustainable development of the enterprise.

We designed scientific and reasonable promotion routes for employees
according to specific business characteristics and departmental needs.
During the year, we launched a talent inventory appraisal method that
applies to all employees, in which dual supervisors and direct superiors
conduct a comprehensive evaluation of employees’ performance, ability,
attitude and other multidimensions to identify outstanding talents
through a more flexible and convenient way, and set no boundary
for the promotion time. We established the Talent Recommendation
Practice mechanism to promote internal recommendations among
employees to encourage them to participate into such practice, which
may enhance the attraction and cohesion of the Company for talents. In
the event of employee underperformance caused by any organizational
adjustments or otherwise, we will provide training and guidance to
such employees in the first place. If such underperformance didn't get
improved, we will help them identify a more suitable position within the

Company so that they may perform their duties better.

We provide employees with rich opportunities for growth by
continuously improving the development and training system therefore
to support and encourage them to achieve their personal value. The
Company has established the Human Resources Management System,
clarifying the principles of employee training and personal capabilities
and launching personalized training programs for different positions and
levels, to strengthen the talent pool construction. We provide a certain
allowance for employees who obtain internal qualifications certification
and have specific policies for employees who obtain external
qualifications, We encourage them to obtain certifications such as
Project Management Professional (PMP) or those from business schools
and offer subsidy for their expenses after they obtain their certification
or complete studies. We have optimized the online learning platform
“POP CLASS" by adding tests and certificates for training tailored to
different business and needs, segmenting induction trainings for new
employees and revising such training videos to enhance the training

efficiency and improve employee experience.
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We highly value talent development and the building of corporate
culture. In 2023, we established the POP MART UNIVERSITY to carry
out multilevel and diversified training programs and provide standard
training course systems. While cultivating employees’ personal ability,
we help them to develop values shared with the Company and enhance
their senses of identity and belonging. During the year, POP MART
UNIVERSITY carried out a variety of activities offline, such as the study
tour in the Central Academy of Fine Arts, the managers’ study visit to
Jingdezhen, and Professor Dai Jinhua's introduction of Little Women, to

promote the sharing of advantageous resources.

In 2023, the total number of training hours participated by employees
of the Company reached approximately 41,995.25 hours, of which,
employees of office function line: 23,355 hours, employees of stores:
14,990.25 hours and employees of roboshops: 3,650 hours. The training

performance of employee is set out below:

BIAEEREAABENCELER
2023 F A 8B IE K E(POP MART
UNIVERSITY) * IR Z B X « ZK/aEE7
BHE  REFELCHRERRER  TEEE
THEAENHNRAK  EEBEIETHAR
—HWEER  HEEIRRARXMEE
Bo REE  BRIEHABEETHART
EF%%%«T] e BIEEREELHE
B AREHEEE )\ RBASLEEZEN
BB EBERERKEE -

2023 - ARAIEI2MEIIERRLY
41,99525/\s - Hep - RN BRAER B T2
BB R A23,355/ 0\ - PU5E B T2 M
AIAARE R 514,900.25/ N6 » #ESAEEE T
S| EK R B3,650/ 8 - ETFIIE

T

Training Performance of Employees of Office Function Line

MABERKETZIIER

Percentage of

employees Average training

Indicator trained (%) hours (hours)
BE ZIEDL (%) ZINFHIRH CDE)
By gender Male 86.00% 12.01
=15 ES

Female 88.00% 1212

L°8
By category Management 100.00% 64.00
AR EEE

Non-management 87.00% 11.80

EERE
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Training Performance of Employees of Retail Operating Line
TEEERBETIZIER

Percentage of

employees Average training
Indicator trained (%) hours (hours)
R FHNEDE (%) ZANFHRE ()
By gender Male Stores
ZIE R 5 FIE 98.62% 6.12
Roboshops
HEARE 96.61% 14.71
Female Stores
k28 P& 97.22% 6.03
Roboshops
BEBABIE 100.00% 44.00
By category Management Stores
1RIER ERE FIE 69.39% 43
Roboshops
R AEE 100.00% 44.00
Non-management Stores
FEEE FIE 97.94% 6.08
Roboshops
HEARE 96.55% 14.21
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VI.SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company has increased its efforts in building a responsible
supply chain, implemented full-process management from supplier
access to dismissal and enhanced suppliers’ awareness of sustainable
development. Based on the stable and mutually beneficial relationships,
we aim to jointly promote green development. We have formulated
the Supplier Management System, the Documentation on Standardized
Operation for Procurement Department, the Non-product Procurement
Management System, the Non-product Supplier Management System
and other management systems to further guarantee the sustainable

development of supply chain.

The Company strictly implements the full-process management, which
covers supplier access, evaluation and dismissal, to ensure the reliability
and stability of the supply chain. We have set up a well-experienced
supplier management team, as well as a supplier inspection team that
is comprised of relevant responsible personnel from procurement
department, engineering department, quality assurance department,
quality management department and production management
department to regularly evaluate and review the legal compliance of
suppliers and ensure that the suppliers comply with relevant regulations
and standards in terms of quality and safety, and thus promoting the

healthy development of the Company’s supply chain.

Supplier Access

The Company's process of supplier access includes five stages, i.e.,
sourcing, qualification review, onsite review and approval, joint
inspection and admission. While selecting suppliers, we set up an
independent sourcing team to carry out due diligence on suppliers
and consider suppliers’ ability to fulfill their environmental and social
responsibilities focusing on energy consumption, carbon emissions,
waste management, environmental pollution prevention, labor rights
and interests, occupational health and safety, community engagement
and other aspects. In addition, we evaluate and score based on the
Supplier Cooperation Application Form, and prefer suppliers with higher
scores, comprehensive capabilities and third-party certifications and

qualifications.
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Through onsite review, joint inspection and other processes, we
comprehensively consider suppliers’ performance on operating
venues, productivity, technology capability, research and development
capability, quality control and hardware facilities, and conduct admission
assessment on suppliers from environmental protection, resource
conservation, safety management, corporate sustainable development
and other dimensions. We require suppliers to comply with laws and
regulations, such as the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China FZE AR FEFIE AR50
JAVRD), the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China (/P ZE AR LB E GEEE Y5 RIRE
JAVE)) and the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China AR IFEFIEIKSLIRIEEE)), and
to provide environmental impact reports, pollution discharge permits
and other relevant documents, and strictly implement access standards.
In addition, the certification and audit from third-party institutions will
also be taken into consideration, such as the International Council of
Toy Industries (ICTI) Code of Business Practices, the Disney International
Labor Standards (Disney ILS), the Sedex Member Ethical Trade Audit
(SMETA) and the Business Social Compliance Initiative (BSCI). Currently,
a total of 7 suppliers cooperated with the Company have obtained the

certification of ICTI and 25 have obtained the certification of Disney.

We also pay attention to the code of conduct of cooperative suppliers
and specify the requirements on the protection of labor rights and
interests in the Cooperation Framework Agreement of Production and
Processing signed on an annual basis, including but not limited to
prohibiting child labor and gender discrimination, protecting the rights
and interests of female employees, allowing sick leave, and providing
employees with necessary labor protection equipment. Suppliers
with significant environmental and social risks will not be taken into

consideration.

In 2023, a total of 379 suppliers of the Company had completed the

admission review.
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Daily Management of Suppliers

We attach importance to the daily management of suppliers, and
constantly monitor and supervise the performance of all cooperative
suppliers according to the supplier management list, so as to ensure
the compliance in terms of quality and safety. We have set up a special
project management group to check the validity period of relevant
qualifications and certificates of suppliers and maintain supplier data
to further optimise supplier management. Through the third-party
verification report, unannounced inspection conducted by the quality
management department and onsite supervision by the personnel of
quality assurance department and production department, we identify
the environmental and social risks faced by suppliers and strictly

investigate violations.

We have set up a reasonable and effective evaluation process and
regularly conduct performance appraisal and ranking management on
existing suppliers through monthly, semi-annual and annual evaluation.
In the evaluation process, there are several refined assessment parts.
Besides, the corresponding weight is assigned to each project, and
the supplier is finally ranked based on the total weighted score. In
addition, we have strengthened the informatization and digitalization
construction of suppliers in ESG risk management and supply chain,
conducted online management on the life cycle of suppliers leveraging
the Supplier Relationship Management (SRM), and implemented
different reward and punishment measures for suppliers at different
ranks. We also provide regular training to suppliers on sustainability
and social responsibility to ensure that suppliers are aware of our
policies and systems. For suppliers who have excellent performance on
environmental protection or caring of employees, the Company will give
extra rewards. For suppliers with risks or problems, the Company will
issue a rectification notice and require them to rectify for sub-standard
indicators within three months. For suppliers failing the rectification
inspection or in serious violation of laws and regulations, the Company

will terminate their partnership forthwith and eliminate them.
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Creating Green Supply Chain

The Company is committed to creating a green supply chain, focusing
on the sustainable development performance of suppliers, requiring
them to follow the principle of minimizing environmental damage in
their production activities, and giving priority to the procurement of
products that strictly comply with environmental protection standards
throughout the entire life cycle of the product, have little or no harmful
impact on the ecosystem, and utilize resources efficiently and with low
energy consumption. To further promote environmental protection,
we have established a white-list mechanism for raw materials, whereby
suppliers with sound environmental protection systems are included in
the white-list for unified management. We have set up a new process
department to develop environment-friendly materials in cooperation
with suppliers, and recommend suppliers to choose suppliers on the
white list mechanism for procurement, so as to promote the green
development of suppliers. Currently, we have realized the use of
water-based paints, eco-friendly soy ink, special paper, paper fiber
materials, recyclable and degradable inner liners, biodegradable
aluminum bags, and other innovative and green materials in our related

products.

During the year, we launched a recycled materials project to recycle
and reuse backlogged residual products in an eco-friendly manner.
We selected 860 kg of scrapped residual products from Dongguan
spare parts warehouse, and after sorting, categorizing, crushing,
demagnetization, washing and granulation, we produced about 400 kg
of plastic pellets, with a return rate of about 50%, with strength, density,
and preliminary environmental tests meeting the requirements. We
sent the recycled material for inspection and the chemical test results
were satisfactory and in line with the European Union environmental
standards. This project not only relieves the pressure on warehouse
inventory and saves inventory costs, but also brings us higher
environmental and economic benefits compared with direct disposal
of the residual products. According to the estimation, the recycling of
the stockpile residuals produced approximately 35 tonnes of recycled
materials with a value of approximately RMB437,500. We conducted
factory trials to test the stability and non-pollution properties of the
recycled materials during the use of the recycled materials in the trial
molds to ensure the safety of production. In the end, we cooperated
with many departments to complete the innovative application of
recycled materials, reduced the breakage rate to 50%, and achieved
the combination of “20% recycled materials + 80% virgin materials’,
which were all put into the production of “DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulaii”
co-branded hang cards.
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As of 31 December 2023, the number and distribution of the Company's

suppliers are as follows:

BE2023F 128310 - ARBEHEANHE
FBE R M E T -

Number and Distribution of Suppliers

HEFRERD HER

Indicators

B

As of 31 December 2023
B ZE2023F12H31H

By geographical region (number) Mainland China

Rt & (@) R A it 373
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas
BRAREH 6
Total (number)
At (@) 379

VIl. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY MANAGEMENT

The Company adheres to the culture of responsibility, attaches great
importance to customer needs and experience, and is committed to
demonstrating our sense of responsibility in every business process.
We comply with the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic
of China KFZEAREMBEREEE)), the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumers Rights and Interests
(REARLMBEEEE#E=IREE)), and other relevant laws and
regulations, emphasize product innovation, strictly control product
quality, and continuously improve after-sales service, and strive to bring
customers a quality and convenient consumer experience through more
professional and timely service. We are determined to protect the rights
and interests of our customers, build a comprehensive information
security management system, strengthen intellectual property rights
and trademark management, and insist on responsible advertising and

promotion to build a trustworthy brand image.
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Product Quality Control and Recall

With the core objective of improving product quality control capability,
the Company strictly complies with the national standards of toys
related to our business, such as 7/CPQS C010-2022 Fashion figures and
similar products for appreciation and collection, T/CPQS C011-2023
Fashion figures and similar products for appreciation and collection—
Limitation and test methods of volatile organic compounds (VOC), GB
6675-2014 Toys Safety, and other national standards, so as to strengthen

the technical standardization of model products to control the product

quality.

We have formulated management systems and inspection standards,
such as the Product Quality Testing Inspection Specification, the Quality
Standard Manual for Action Figures, the Quality Inspection Workflow and
the Product Special Procurement Process, which ensure the effective
supervision and management of all aspects of the production process.
In the product design stage, we emphasize on the structural safety of
the products and ensure the high standard of product research and
development through the product structural safety assessment and
development of test certificates. In the product production stage, we
strictly control the quality of the whole process of sourcing, injection
molding, oil spraying, assembling and packaging, standardize the
product packaging labeling, and ensure that the product production
and the production process meet the national environmental protection
standards regarding the “three wastes” emission. In the product sales
stage, we set up defective appearance evaluation standards for action
figure products, and optimize and improve the process of common
defects feedback from the after-sales department to improve the overall

quality of products and customer satisfaction.
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In 2023, we amended the General Product Inspection Standards into the
Product Quality Testing Inspection Specification to clarify the product
quality testing and inspection specifications for trendy collection action
figures, POP LAND, GONG, and derivatives products, to ensure that
our products comply with national and industry-recognized standards
and meet the requirements of global laws and regulations. In terms of
product quality inspection, we have improved the requirements on the
limits of migratory elements, plasticizers and packaging waste heavy
metals in products and accessory materials. During the reporting period,
we conducted 3,739 internal product tests and risk assessments, and
external tests were conducted by the State Market Supervision Sampling
and Inspection (SMSSI) covering 4 municipalities and 13 provinces,
with a cumulative total of 73 products sampled and inspected, and the

passing rate of the supervision and sampling inspection reached 100%.

For product recall, we have formulated the Product Recall Procedure
and other systems and processes to clearly regulate the operation
of product recalls. We will recall all products with safety hazards or
unqualified products for rework. Any products that cannot be reworked
will be scrapped to prevent their release to the market. In addition, we
optimise and enhance our product packaging labels to ensure they are
clear, accurate, and meet the required standards. The new packaging of
our products is printed with warnings and reminders including product
information, instructions, safety use and maintenance matters, such as
"Not for children under 3 years old", “EU’s CE certification for product
safety”, "UKCA marking and environmental logo’, “Derivative or blind
box (non-toy) button batteries & coin batteries’, “France’s Triman logo
for environmental packaging design’, “FSC logo for product packaging
and cardboard boxes’, “EU’s directive to promote recovery of waste
electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)" and other logos and related
dimensional requirements, to warn customers to correctly use, handle or

dispose of our products.
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In order to enhance the staff's awareness of production quality and
production skills and reduce the incidence of quality problems and
safety accidents, we conducted production quality training, product
health and safety training, global safety requirements training,
unannounced factory inspections and quality and safety meetings 40,
11,12, and 39 in 2023, respectively. These initiatives aimed to enhance
staff understanding and recognition of the Company’s quality culture

and provide a solid guarantee for the steady improvement of production

quality.

In 2023, the Company did not recall any products due to product safety

and health issues or product quality problems.

Customer Complaint and Benefits Protection

The Company focuses on building a service quality management system
centered on customer satisfaction. This involves ongoing improvements
to the service mechanism, increased efficiency in handling customer
complaints, protection of consumer legitimate interests, and the creation
of a positive service experience for customers. We comply with the laws
and regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests {F%E AR FEFEIH
BEERIREL)), the Measures for the Punishment of Acts against
the Interest of Consumers KIEEHBERRITREIINE), and the
Interim Measures for Handling Complaints and Reports concerning
Market Regulation (T HEBERRFENPRIBE/TIIE)) and
have formulated different rules and regulations such as the Standard
Operating Procedure for Stores, the Pre-upgrade Processing Mechanism,
the Customer Service Handling Regulations for Omnichannel After-sales
Issues and After-Sales Service Policy. In 2023, we revised the Pre-upgrade
Processing Mechanism and the After-sales Service Policy to update our
after-sales policy on for the return without reasons of blind boxes within
seven days, to improve the efficiency of customer service handling
and the level of risk control of incidents, and to further enhance the

customer experience.
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We continue to improve our customer service mechanism and build an
all-media service platform, whereby collecting customers’ demands and
feedback via different convenient communication channels such as the
400 hotlines, WeChat Mini Program, Tmall online and in-store customer
service. During the year, we introduced new customer service options for
our international customers. Overseas customers can receive real-time
assistance through POP MART's overseas website, shops and robot scans
by contacting our online customer service staff. In addition, customers
can contact customer service staff by email and receive a reply within
24 hours. Once a complaint is received, overseas customer service staff
promptly liaise with overseas operations and logistics departments
to deal with related issues. For the operation of POP LAND, we have
set up a POP LAND customer service team based on the customer
service system of our Company's central office to achieve efficient
point-to-point handling of customer complaints. We have established
effective communication with market regulators and local authorities
to ensure prompt and appropriate handling of customer complaints
within the stipulated timeframe. Follow-up actions are taken to ensure
thorough resolution of the complaints. In response to market regulatory
complaints, we liaise actively with the relevant departments and provide
timely feedback to the Market Surveillance Authority on the handling of
complaints and the results thereof, as well as optimising and improving

relevant products and services to enhance customer satisfaction.
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Key Performance Indicators for Product Responsibility

ERETRREERER

Indicators Data for 2023
bifd 2023 F BB
Total market regulatory complaints on products or services received (times)

BREENERSIRBOTISEERFEE (OR) 11,591
Clearance rate of market regulatory complaints (%)

TI5EE R AR (%) 100
Percentage of total products sold or shipped that are subject to recall for safety and health reasons (%)
EENEEXEMBE TR L2 EERIEHMALKE E 5 (%) 0
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Customer Privacy and Information Security

The Company acknowledges the significance of safeguarding customer
privacy and information security and implements comprehensive
measures to fully protect the legitimate rights and interests of
customers. In strict compliance with laws and regulations and
departmental regulations such as the Network Security Law of the
People’s Republic of China K #EARKLMBEMELZEE)), the
Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China KHZEARKEFEEAFSREE)) and the Measures for
Determining the lllegal Collection and Use of Personal Information by
Apps KApp B/EZERUBEFBEAEBEITARTEHE)), the Company
had formulated the /nformation Security Management System, the
Information Disclosure Management System, the Information Security
Training Manual, the Data Security Management System, the User Privacy
Agreement of Pop Mart, the Member Service Agreement of Pop Mart
and the Minor Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart and other documents to
standardize the requirements related to improve information security

management system.

We are constantly enhancing our information security measures to
mitigate the risk of data breaches. These measures include the use of
encryption technology, anti-identification technology, intranet controls,
anti-virus software and firewalls. We conduct compliance reviews and
information security tests regularly. For information security, we perform
external and internal audits at least once a year and promptly rectify any

non-conformities identified during such reviews.

In terms of information and data collection, we undertake in the User
Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart to adhere to the principle of minimum
collection to standardize the collection requirements of users’ personal
information, and will never provide any personal information to a
third party without the consent of users, or improperly dispose of it by
selling, renting out and sharing. We fully respect users’ right to choose
by authorizing them to cancel accounts and delete their personal
information at any time, and disclosing the privacy policy in our WeChat
Mini Program. The relevant policy requirements are applicable to all
businesses within the Company, with an aim to provide the maximum

degree of protection for information security of users.
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In terms of information and data processing, we clearly define the
collection, transmission, storage, use, sharing, deletion, transferring
and disclosure of corporate data and users’ personal data in the Data
Security Management System. We adhere to the principle of “prohibiting
keeping unless necessary” in relation to users’ private information, and
do not display such information during transportation. Meanwhile,
we require core service providers with access to customer transaction
information to sign confidentiality agreements to strictly supervise the
behavior of relevant staff, so as to ensure that they strictly comply with
the requirements of the data security and privacy protection system.
In addition, we have set up a hierarchical authority management
mechanism and approval process for customer data billboards, and data
viewing, data export and other operations need to be approved by the
relevant person in charge in accordance with the principle of “necessity”.
The data permission manager will take back the authority of any
employee before he or she leaves, so as to reduce the risk of customer

data leakage.

In addition, we have established an emergency response plan for
information or data leaks, strengthened security protection by
combining technologies such as the Web Application Firewall (WAF) and
encrypted gateway, cooperated with third parties to monitor potential
leakage risks, and conducted emergency drills at least twice a year to

ensure the effectiveness of the information security system.

Intellectual Property and Brand Protection

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Patent
Law of the People’s Republic of China K ZEARLMBHEFE)),
the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China (% AR
BZEEREIER)), the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
(HEAREMBEEZIAR)) and Measures for the Supervision over
and Administration of Product Anti-counterfeiting @ A EE &
EIEHOE)), the Company has formulated management systems and
mechanisms such as the Intellectual Property and Software Management
Measures. We comprehensively standardize the protection of intellectual
property rights, constantly optimize the application process of
trademarks, copyrights and patents, carry out brand protection, and

continue to improve the intellectual property protection system.
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We actively safeguard our intellectual property rights by initiating
trademark registration, copyright and patent registration, regularly
conducting novelty searches and inspections, and closely monitoring
the core intellectual property achievements to ensure the integrity
and effectiveness of our intellectual property rights. Once clues of
infringement are found, effective measures shall be taken immediately
to crack down, and administrative or even criminal means shall be
used to protect our rights. During the year, we updated the trademark
registration process, refined the trademark registration process

information, and developed relevant solutions.

We respect the intellectual property achievements of others, and have
developed a comprehensive review process for the use of products,
logos, and materials to ensure that all brand logos are approved for use,
and set clear requirements for the use details such as the area where
they appear, the form of exposure, the proportion of the appearance,
the position, the font and the color. When involving the use of fonts,
images, and other copyright-related scenarios and needs that are prone
to infringement, we take the initiative to obtain relevant licenses, and
regularly conduct infringement inspections or audits. In the process
of brand image design, we sign relevant agreements with partners to
enhance the protection of copyrights, and use relevant elements within

the license conditions and scope to reduce the risk of infringement.

With the globalization of the Company, we pay great attention
to overseas intellectual property protection. We announce our
intellectual property rights through overseas official websites and
global e-commerce platforms, publicize the mailbox for complaints and
reports on the “Intellectual Property Protection” module of the global
official website of Pop Mart (www.popmart.com), and cooperate with
consumers to jointly combat infringement. In 2023, the mailbox received
more than 180 report e-mails. We released the 2023 Pop Mart Intellectual
Property Protection Work Report, which summarizes the intellectual
property protection work in the past year to show our determination to

safeguard intellectual property rights and fight against crimes.
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As of 31 December 2023, the Company owned 1,212 Copyrights, 1,328
trademarks® and 48 patents’, of which 210 copyrights were registered
and 263 trademarks and 7 patents were applied for in 2023.

Marketing and Advertisement Management

In compliance with laws and regulations such as the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China K ZEARKEFBIEEE)),
the Company has always adhered to and practiced the concept of
responsible marketing, and established relevant systems and clear usage
standards in advertising design, material selection, and placement
publicity, etc.. Starting from the Company's brand positioning,
we continue to standardize advertising to ensure that there is no
concealment, exaggeration and deception in advertising, and eliminate

false publicity.

To ensure the compliance and authenticity of advertising and marketing
content, we strengthen the audit of advertising and marketing materials
and develop countermeasures to deal with potential non-compliance
risks. In the advertising design and material selection, the team avoids
using extreme words such as “most”and “one’, or suspicion of consumer
fraud, and timely modifies words that do not fit the facts to prevent
false publicity from misleading consumers. All publicity documents
shall be reviewed jointly by multiple departments to confirm accuracy,
authenticity and non-infringement before being released. For offline
marketing activities, we have established a rigorous management system
and review mechanism, and set up full-time art supervision and repair
personnel to ensure that materials are used after multi-department

review and screening.

Refers to the number of trademarks whose registration has not been revoked or
whose application for registration has not been rejected.

Refers to the number of patents (inventions, utility models and appearance
patents) for which the rights granted have not been revoked or the applications
submitted have not been rejected.
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We regularly monitor the placed advertisements and collect feedback BRMTHEANERBNES  WEZHFR
from various parties. Once advertisement or promotional information Fo —HEREEHNEHEANREEETRF
are found to be inconsistent with the actual situation or suspected of WS MEBLAERNBENR  GLEESBA
violates the relevant laws and regulations, explanations and corrections EAREEEBETAL  RAEEZLHEMR
will be made in respect of the online advertisements on official accounts, AR BTIESAZAITE - fMEwa
and at the same time negotiate with customers for a solution, while the IF - HBEUBEREREE - SRIEINE
offline advertisements will be taken down, withdrawn and corrected L HMERAESBTE AR
immediately, and no similar situation will be allowed to happen again. EERE  MRADTEEESH o I &
For overseas advertisements, we require our partners to comply with MAEBTHEHEARRTHEBAEEEES
local laws and regulations as well as the Company’s promotion standards REGHE  DETERONTIESE R
to ensure the truthfulness and compliance of promotional information. AETEEELEHER -

In addition, we arrange our marketing and design related staff to learn
about advertising rules and regulations, share industry case studies and

points to note, so as to raise their awareness of responsible marketing.

VIILANTI-CORRUPTION MANAGEMENT NRESER

Anti-corruption is crucial to the sustainable operation of a business. REBHPEAFEEEEZTHEE - AR
The Company strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations, such AR ESF(REARKLMBEREH) (F
as the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of China (R EE A R HF1E EARKFMBARE) (REARLEME R
RIEE)), the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (% EEE)(REARENMBER T EERTE)
AREFBERARIE)), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s LHEEERER  HIECREBREANFTEFT
Republic of China K ZEARIMBIR ML) and the Anti-Unfair HIE) CROEBRTEERGIE) (S REEH
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China AR EXCERKZBERE) (N mEREEH
B & IEE#FIA)), and have established relevant management EYCHIEEAEERFE) (EEREEET
systems including the Anti-Embezzlement and Internal Audit System, EXCEITAREBTEGE)FIHEEETES
the Anti-Money Laundering Management System, the Compliance E - ErEERTPRIFVEER B2k
Management System, the Gift Acceptance Management Regulations, BISEIEMAIER -

the Conflict of Interest Management System, the Exit Audit Management
System, the Information Confidentiality Management System and the
Employee Code of Conduct Management System to abide by business
ethics in its corporate development and to improve the establishment

of anti-corruption management mechanisms.
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We continue to carry out corruption risk assessment in our day-to-day
management, which covers a number of domestic and overseas
operating locations, including Beijing, Dongguan, Shanghai, Hangzhou,
Xi‘an, Japan, Korea and Singapore, covering 80% of our overall business
scope. During the year, we detected and investigated more than 40
cases of non-compliance, dismissed more than 40 persons for breaching
the rules and regulations, and referred those in serious cases to the
public security organs. During the reporting period, the Company had

no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices.

We consider it important that our partners recognize our compliance
management requirements we expect continuous communication
on compliance requirements to enhance the management of the
procurement process and to build an honest, trustworthy, transparent
business environment together with our partners. We sign the Sunshine
Cooperation Agreement with our suppliers and partners, which require
them to comply with the laws and regulations applicable to where
they operate. We give preference to partners who are willing to report

irregularities and support audit investigations.

Compliant and Reporting Management

The Company proactively encourages internal and external reporting
and disclosure of potential irregularities to maintain a clean and fair
working environment and to ensure the steady development of the
Company. We provide internal and external personnel with a variety of
online and offline reporting channels, both anonymous and identifiable,
including bilingual channels such as telephone, mailboxes, websites,
letters, Feishu (&), “Sunshine Bubble”, “Bubble Phonograph” and
“Direct Channel for our Friends (/NEEEBE)" We actively respond
to reports, and assign specialists to carry out investigations, ensuring
that the handling process is fair, open and transparent. Once the report
is verified, it will be handled according to the severity of the case and,
if necessary, will be transferred to the judicial authorities to pursue
legal responsibility of relevant personnel, in order to firmly protect the

interests and reputation of the Company.
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We attach great importance to the confidentiality of reports and have
set out the relevant management rules on complaints and reports in
our Internal Audit Management System, which clearly prohibits any
form of retaliation against the whistleblower, including but not limited
to obstruction, harassment, insults, defamation, threat, intimidation
or assault and in case of any of such behaviors identified, relevant
responsible individuals shall be punished severely, and we reserve the

right to pursue legal liability against them.

Anti-corruption Training

All new employees of the Company are required to undergo business
ethics training which includes integrity education. In 2023, we
successfully filmed our first publicity video on integrity and compliance,
“Who Vanished (GHZEITA))" which conveys the values of integrity
and honesty in a humorous way; we launched the “Sunshine Stage”
publicity account to disseminate a variety of video contents to spread
the concept of integrity and risk control to all employees; we designed
and posted integrity posters in the office and continuously projected
integrity-themed content in the meeting room to keep reminding
our employees to comply with business ethics, so that the concept
of integrity is deeply believed in their minds; we released a survey
on integrity perception to ascertain the awareness and needs of
our employees in relation to a culture of integrity, and to adjust and
optimize our integrity efforts based on the feedback received; we
conducted an hour-long integrity training programme for directors at
the directors’ meeting to strengthen the awareness of integrity and

"

self-discipline; we published 16 related articles on “Sunshine Bubble
subscription account on Feishu (FRZ), with a cumulative readership
of more than 56,000 times, which aroused widespread concern and
heated discussions among employees. These integrity education
publicity programmes cover the Company'’s directors, middle and senior
management, all full-time employees and part-time employees, with a

training rate of 100%.
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Anti-corruption Training

RESHEIARER

Indicators Data for 2023
B 2023 F HIE
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices (cases)

BEEFEITHRARGHE () 0
Number of Directors participating in anti-corruption training (persons)

SHERETEIEEHAR(A) 4
Number of employees participating in anti-corruption training (persons)

SHERESEIETHAH(A) 5,000

IX. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

Adhering to the brand mission of “creating trends and delivering
fineness”, the Company has been practicing its corporate social
responsibility and is committed to becoming a model enterprise with
warmth and commitment in the industry. Leveraging our strengths, we
continuously invest resources in ecological environmental protection,
aesthetic education in rural areas, space culture and brand charity. We
maintain communication with the surrounding communities, actively
participate in various community welfare-related activities, and strive
to bring lasting positive impacts to consumers, industry, and society,

thereby achieving common prosperity for the brand and society.
During the reporting period, we had total community investment of

approximately RMB2.65 million, and time devoted to volunteer activities

of approximately 1,600 hours.
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Case: Launching the First “Carbon Neutral” Product to Call
for Biodiversity Conservation

The Company responds to the national “carbon neutrality” strategy
with practical actions, and has been exploring new directions for the
development of green trend toys. In September 2023, at the POP TOY
SHOW (PTS) Shanghai, we launched our first “carbon neutral” product,
a co-branded action figure “DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulai” and donated
RMB600,000 to the China Environmental Protection Foundation to

promote biodiversity conservation and charity activities.

Case: Promoting the Implementation of “POP MART Charity
Aesthetic Education Center” Project to Further Develop
Aesthetic Education in Rural Areas

We continue to promote the brand charity project of "POP MART
Charity Aesthetic Education Center’, providing local rural teachers and
students with more rich and high-quality aesthetic education courses
and activities through the aesthetic education center, continuously
expanding the boundaries of aesthetic education and practice, and
promoting the development of children’s aesthetic education in rural
areas. During the year, the completion ceremony of the “POP MART
Charity Aesthetic Education Center” was held in March at Guquan
Hope Primary School in Shigiao Town, Li County, Longnan City, Gansu
Province. We have built five new aesthetic education centers and
organized teacher empowerment, daily aesthetic education courses,
and innovative courses in a "hardware + courses + activities” model.
The results have benefited thousands of students, provided aesthetic
education venues, resources, and characteristic aesthetic education
training support for rural schools in designated assistance areas,
enriching the humanistic spirit and artistic literacy of rural students, and
helping to promote the development of aesthetic education for rural

children.
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Case: Collaboratively Launching the Charity Activity of
“Drawing Your Dreams” to Support Every Artistic Dream

In October 2023, MOLLY, the IP of Pop Mart, in cooperation with
Alipay Ant Manor and China Foundation for Rural Development, jointly
launched a theme activity of “Drawing Your Dreams”. The activity
was carried out on the platform of Alipay Ant Manor, and the public
was invited to participate in the aesthetic education project of rural
students through charity activity, taking tide play IPs and popular
charity products as carriers. We have released a joint charity IP image to
create an exclusive manor event for MOLLY. During the event, users can
clock in offline to receive premium feed, feed chicks, and receive love
eggs. Through charity activities such as “feeding sugar” and “donating
love eggs’, users can unlock opportunities to interact with MOLLY and
receive limited dress-ups. The innovative event attracted millions of
users to participate and provided strong support for rural student artistic
education projects. During the event, more than 33.48 million love eggs

were donated.

In addition, Pop Mart and volunteer designers of Alipay Ant Manor
went to Mingde Primary School in Chayouhou Banner, Inner Mongolia,
to provide students with a unique artistic education course. Through
various methods such as online and offline linkage, we help rural

children achieve their artistic dreams.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5

= SFEREI-F-8 28K
BEIR#EE TEE—EZWER

2023108 - BBIBEETIP MOLLYE
INEHEEE PEBNBERESESS
e HRBRI—2—F BEKE|EE
JEE) o %ébﬁiih‘%?ﬂ%%ﬁl%‘\ﬁﬁs '
LUBETIPAE 2B A R E m AR EE -
BARBBA mfﬂ%,,ﬂlzﬁwfit{%&a
HEEEF - BMBEMHEARPER A
MOLLYIT:EEBHEREES) - e AR - AP
AEGTITRERSRER - BE/NE -
EEELE BBIERIMBEELE]S
/AE 1A FHEEMOLLYE SRS - &
TEED - AN HARSIFTEAP
%Eﬁi AENBEEXZEHEEBREHERAK
X5 EB AR B O E 348 B HATE o

RSN VA6 B R A0 4 5 S B O SR BT R AR

E-RRIFAREEAREAE)NES 7%

BEMBER-—ZFIHEMNESR - BB

|mE BTBBEZEIN - PHHBNZ
FRBREMER



2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Case: Launching Co-Branded Products to Assist in the
Construction of Rural Schools

The Company supports the national “rural revitalization” strategy and
explores new paths to empower the development of rural education
through brand cooperation. In June 2023, Pop Mart and KFC jointly
launched the “DIMOO KFC China Co-branded Colonel’, with a limited
sales volume of 290 units, and reached cooperation with the China
Internet Development Foundation to donate all sales proceeds of
this co-branded product to the digital kitchen construction project
of Sichuan Ganzi Rural School to support the development of local

education.

Case: Launching the “HACIPUPU My Little Hero” Themed
Flights Event to Pay Tribute to the Heroes Around Us

The Company actively responds to the call for public welfare, and
practices its social responsibility by further promoting charity activities
based on IP advantages. In August 2023, we collaborated with Hainan
Airlines to launch the "HACIPUPU My Little Hero" themed flights event.
With the theme of "Amazing Leaders in Our Daily Life", this collaboration
paid tribute to the “Little Heroes” around us at a height of 10,000 meters.
The themed flights event lasted for 30 days, covering 300 routes and
reaching 5,000 passengers. We leveraged our professional advantages in
creative design, allowing travelers to fully experience the atmosphere of
the themed flights, and share heroic deeds in daily life, deepening the

brand’s public welfare influence.
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Given our outstanding performance in social responsibility during
the year, we have received various awards and honors. In September
2023, POP LAND was awarded the “Top 10 Scientific and Innovative
Application Scenarios of Culture and Tourism in Beijing”. Currently,
POP LAND has obtained the qualification as a social practice classroom
resource unit for primary and secondary school students in Chaoyang
District, Beijing. In October 2023, the Company was selected as a key
national cultural export enterprise by the Ministry of Commerce for the
year 2023/2024. In November 2023, the Company was listed in the “CSR
China TOP 100 Rank” of the 7th CSR China Sustainable Responsibility
Award. In the same month, the Company's co-branded IP environmental
public welfare communication of "DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulai” was
selected for the “2023 Content Marketing Gold Case” at the 30th China
International Advertising Festival « Advertisers Ceremony; and the
co-branded charity product project of “DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulai” was
awarded the “Top 10 Public Welfare Creatives of the Year” at the IFENG
Action League & 2023 Public Welfare Extravaganza.

ERANFEEMEEATEMNRERE
BIVESE T ZERIBHEKE 2 20235F9H -
Y660 386 R 38 T 4 [ 28 b T T SOk R ik 4
BEgIFERS S TERM - BT 88
BREMALEDESIEAmEBRF/NE
EHERREZRNEE - 2023F108 -
AABANEEHKE2023-2024 FE AR L
HOESME - 2023F 11 8 » AREIEE
ELtECRTYBEI%ESHREETLEME
TOP 100 ° @A + A2 8] [ DIMOOX S H1)A
BIIPBERRARERELEEI0EFEE
BREEM-EETRM[D03FEANREHED
2] [DIMOOX SR #7042 | Bt 4 N 25 e (0 18
BREREABITEERBE2023 KM F
E+ARRzEalIE] -

|

%

EE10 | CoRbmmn

Responsibility 100

RS AEARAT |
POP MART ‘ |

CSR CHINA TOP100 ‘
BESESI S

CSR CHINA TOP100 Rank

Pop Mart was listed in the “CSR China TOP 100 Rank” of the 7th CSR China

Sustainable Responsibility Award
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Co-branded IP environmental public welfare communication  Co-branded charity product project of “DIMOO x Castor Fiber

of “DIMOO x Castor Fiber Birulai” was selected for the Birulai” was awarded the “Top 10 Public Welfare Creatives of
“2023 Content Marketing Gold Case” at the 30th China the Year” at the IFENG Action League & 2023 Public Welfare
International Advertising Festival « Advertisers Ceremony Extravaganza
[DIMOOXZET AR |IPE SRR ABEBREBEIOETEHER [DIMOOXEFTE B ABRERBAERERERTHEKRE
EBEEG.-EEERAE[2023FEATEHES R 2023 N BB FE+TAARAE]
Looking forward to the future, the Company will continue to leverage RIEARR » NN B A5 4 4R 318 W I UL KRR B
the cohesion and industrial advantages of tide play culture, continuously TMEXED - TEHMAREBELIRE I8
increase investment in ecological environmental protection, aesthetic MINEEHE - HFEMAXL - HRRE A&
education in rural areas, space culture and brand charity. We will FEEFHRA » BB TEETELRET
continuously implement caring and charity activities, shoulder corporate EBtEMESEMR  ABEBRTHEELE A
social responsibility, give back to society with practical actions, and HEBE - {TEMEZAEKEEE -

create sustainable value for consumers, industry and society.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF EBBRZPTESGIR &S| & ol

THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

ITRHER - BE  —RERERBRERER

Section

B

Governance Structure

ERRE

A statement from the board containing the following elements:
HESFELNER  EPHEFTINAR

(i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;

() BREEFGHRERE HLENERFHENEE

(i) the board's ESG management approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and

manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(il BFRENRE HEREBEEFHRER - BETH B REREZNRE g RERHE
BEE (BEHEBTAEBNERR) HR@IE &

(iii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

(i) EFFWMAIZIRE - & REAERMBRRTEE - YREBEMUARZTAXBERE -

Reporting Principles

BE R R A

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting Principles in the preparation
of the ESG Report:

LSRR REERIR - e RE RIS & B ERRA -

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the criteria for the selection of material
ESG factors; (i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders identified,
and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

BEN RE HERERMMERRE  (BAEERE g RELERNBEREERELERNE

A (NIBITTARETHNHERE  EHFNEERMNENHRRBEITAFNELENBIERER -
Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools used and
source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable) should
be disclosed.

2k ERERENE RER (WER) MANERE - 7% BEER/HAETAHEH - URFIE
P B0 B4R (R SR 6 2RO B T AR R o

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other
relevant factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

—HM BITARERE e RERMEPRES I EABREMIEENER (0F) EMEMTE
BEELBRNBEBEE -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TR -

BH - - —REER

HRERER

Section

B

Reporting Boundary

EREE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing the process used to identify

which entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should

explain the difference and reason for the change.

IR -

HEERED

BHMRE

A. Environmental

A BIE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1

D HER

General Disclosure

—RRIE

Information on:

BRERMBEREIN - MK RS -

(a)
(a
(b)

the policies; and
B

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

K

HERERMENERBE - RHAPEL
BETAERETR 2 EFHRRA -

)

BREIEBAANIRR

ENEERERVNELSTM

e

ME

REHBIE -

air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

nonhazardous waste.

(b)

BTHEITABERFZENHREZZRACNER -

Note: Air emissions include NOX, SOX, and other pollutants requlated under national laws and regulations.

it BRI EEREIY

sulphur hexafluoride.

N
EEREE

BE=GLEiR - Fir

B REM R EFEEERRAOIREETRY) -

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and

GIEER - SRBIEEY - PREGKRANBIEE
Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.
BEBERYIEBRROIFTIREZE -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

RSB IR IR A1 PR RS M AR R IR BUR -

KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

RARERUEIRA1 2B (BE—) &E

LR (R E

HESEM - FEKRMEE) °

Z)REREYINE (AR

B R
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

Section

B

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility).

BRERIERAIMELAREEEYEE CAERTE) k (WER) BE (WASEEEN - 517

Ik
&;
&
ok
+
i
o

KPI' A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BREMERAAMELEEEEYHAE CAEETE) & (E) BE (WAESEEEN - BERETHE)

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
RSB BRI A SHEIMATE] LB 2 B IE R AIERIE L BIZATIREU 5 o

KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
RARERUEIRA 6 RIE R E N EEEREYN L - M
B o

ALFTRTSL AR EE B AR R A B E Lk B AR FTERE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EREM

General Disclosure

— MR

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.

BRUERER (BFERIR - KREMERME) B

Note: Resources may be used in producr/'on in storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
it BRAAREE - @7 X BF - EFRET -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRETUERA2 RERE S ERE R SHEEER(WE - |
(WAFESBN - BEEMEAE) -

KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREBURZABFKERTE (MABES BN - BERGETE) °

om) BREE (ATRETERAE) RBE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RARAR DR R A2 3 L P RT LM BEIR(E PR et B 1R M R B 15 4k B AR AR REV P 8

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RASEAE R IR A2.4 18 I SR EGE A KR E AT A A
) PR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per

VAR PRI SR 7K Rt B AR B iz B 55 L BARATIR

unit produced.

RIRE NI RA2S B MATA B EM M EE (ANEEE) X (NER) SEEEUGE -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

HERERBRS
Section
=8

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHA3 : RERXREIR

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources.
MEETAHRRERRAAEREREATENBR °

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

BRAETIEEA R EB R RENRRRERNERZERDRREEBEAZENTE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[BHEA4 : RIFEL

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

BRINEHELARATRESHETAEEZENERARIEEBETHBOR -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact,

the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

MREBERAMN D ER AR EHBRTAELYENEARKREHER - LEHTTH -

B. Social

B. &

Employment and Labour Practices
BEREZEIER

Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : &%

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Information on:

BRAZ AR - BB NS - TERE BE - FERS - 2ot R REMETE LB

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

(b) BTHETABEAZENRBMEIERRIINES

Environment
Management

RIREE

Environment
Management

RIEER

Environment
Management

RIEERE

Environment
Management

RIREE

Employment and
Labor Standards
e M K 85 TR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

Section

B

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full - or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

BRERUEREBIVRIER - EBIEEE (N2 BEGRE) - FiRER REE S
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RIS RUEEB 4R MR - FlRARI MR EIDNRERKLLE

DEEBABR -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EmEB2 : RERZE

General Disclosure

— MR EE

Information on:
BRRHZETERRIRBEEMEBELEEN -
a) the policies; and
B K

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

(@)

(@)

(
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

(b)) BFHBETABEAXENHBEZLROINER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the

reporting year.

AR RIEIZE2  BE S F (REEREE) SFEE T THMABRLE -

KPI'B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

REIIEIEB 2 A TIEIBA TIEA S -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

RABHE RUBIRB23 AL PR IR VB R R R B 2 B 48 » DA RAERARR T R B 0% -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[ETEB3 : #ERIEI

General Disclosure

—RRAREE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.

BRI EES BT LIERE A A R RAERBER « MdFIES -

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer.
it - EAERE IS - Al B IE T BRI AN EERE -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

BRERUEEBNRIERILEEER (NERERE  #RAETERE) SAONZIEET L

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

BIRAENIRIER IR R EBAIE D - BREBETHZ I TG -
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1EfR K 85 T#R
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section
TEHE  BEH - —REBERBERERSE E=1:0]

Aspect B4: Labor Standards
fEMEB4 : £ T8

General Disclosure Employment and
—RRHE Labor Standards
Information on: B R 45 TR

BRAMIFETskeab2 T

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

preventing child and forced labor.

(b) BTHBETABEATZENRBERIRIINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labor. Employment and
RSB RUE R B4 i st RS B DI b AR R B T Roa w85 T - Labor Standards
% K 45 TR
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Employment and
RSB BUE IR B4 2 H ML TE B TR E AR B LS JH R B RIS U P EREREY 8 - Labor Standards
1% K 45 T 2R

Operating Practices

BEEE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EHBS : ftAEgEEE

General Disclosure Supply Chain
—B = Management
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. HEEER
ERHEENIRIE A g RBEBUR o
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
RSB AR RUIEIE S R B D L ER 2R E o Management
HIEgEER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are Supply Chain
being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management

RASERIE RS 2 A I MMM ED - MERTAEBBEINHEREE - ARBBRITRESRNE HEREE
& e

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and how  Supply Chain

they are implemented and monitored. Management
RASEAE IRIEBo 3 A R BRI B T HIRE R E Lt R AED] - ARBERITRERRE - HrEsEE e
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when Supply Chain
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
RARERUEIRBS 4t AL BRE BRI (2 (2 2 IR RE m RGO E I - A RABRIRTT MBI R TTE - HrEgEE e
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2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FB]RIE - HERERRE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section
TELGE - BEH —REERBREEREE E=1:0]
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EHEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure Product

— MR R

Information on:

BRMREERMRBNRERELZ Y  ES  RHEILBFEURBERT AN
(a) the policies; and

@ X &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health

and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress.
(o) BFEHBETAGEAZENRBERZLADINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

B ENIERRe BER D EXERABT AL BEFREAMARN KN E DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with.

RS AR R 1R 6. 2 R B I B dn MR TS VIR B R B A S RS 770

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

FASAE IR TR0 3t M Bl M E L RIE A ERE B RAEV 1B -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
RS AR R IR Bo At E 28U BIR REMEIYIR T ©

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

R E IR ZReSHMUE B E B RRERILBEEK - URABERTRERITE -
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2023 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2023 FBIE HBERERBE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

Section

B

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BHEB7 : RES
General Disclosure

— MR R

Information on:

HRGTIEERR - BR - BEEROERER
(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

(b) BFHBEITABERTENBBEERMAOINER

KPI' B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its

employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

BRERUEEB7 VRN ERMAAE BT ANHESRETEFENESHARMFHEE LFRER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

BABHERUREB7 2 [ # e S B IRAR T - A MBI IT R BRI »

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

BIRERUERB7 3 M B R N 8 TIRHARE IS -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[ETHEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

— R EE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer operates

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRANMR2ERTHREEMELERENRREEBEDSE RILEMEHBE -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor needs, health, culture, sport).

FASREIEIRR I BT E RS (WA REEE STHFER  #F X 8BF) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

RARE DR TR 2EETH R A ER (NS EAFH)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
RVR R IR

e
pwec

To the Shareholders of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out

on pages 180 to 318, comprise:
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended,;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then

ended;
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

RENER

BAEREBECEBRFRER)ETER - RAE
ZEEATHAENEICEAREZEUENE
AHEARMBHRRAENEES SR IEE— S8

it o

HFIEGE - RAMESHESEEET R LE
B RRANESF B REHER -

By %

RIBER ST AR X B EAIRE RS RAOCE
RERTEIERER TR (B2 BRRELEERE))
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment provision

for inventories.

EEEEE (%)

BPEEFTENNBRETSEEANTE
ELEE -

Key Audit Matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANENIEERRENER

Impairment provision for inventories

FEREER

Refer to notes 2.1(g), 4(a) and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
HEJ =z E‘ﬁz

AMIEREMFE21(9) * 4(a) }22 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's balance of gross
inventories was RMB922 million, against which a provision of
RMB17 million was made.

R2023F 128310 EEENEGFEEEBRAAREIODLEE
T WETRGERBEEBEARKI7EET -

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FEREAMA ST FEMEPBRIEEDH® - IR FER
BELERKLBIETOMETEEREMETH T TRAMER
B EHE PIFR AR o

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration
of key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection,
estimated future selling prices and selling expenses of the
respective inventories.
FENREEFEGTIREEEEANE  ZSHEFER
FEERAERE - RARHETER  FEAARREBUARBEERN I EM
BREE -

We considered this is a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment involved significant management’s
judgement.
ENREM LI REBESAAE  RMRRE
EAtEE -

= E R B

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BRRERE —RRETFENMT TATERF

We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors :

HIEE T (G EH RO ANHEE A E 0 B A A ke
% URHEE AR R E A @

2 [ 25 7K

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
control and assessment process of impairment provision
for inventories and tested the key controls over
management’s estimation of impairment provision for
inventories;
BMTRIAETERBHEE
AHhEE - AR TERESETE
i

R (B8 2 85 # 19  422 Il 71
R AR R FTR RIS R

We discussed with management and evaluated the
appropriateness of the method and assumptions used in
impairment provision for inventories;
BMEREREr I aT T FERMEERBERN A
MERHRNBEE M

We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment provision for inventories to assess the

effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

BME AR BRETEREEENTGHERET THE -
NEEEREMRFTRENE L

POP MART
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANENNEERRENER

We found the assumptions adopted and judgment applied by
management in the determination of impairment provision for
inventories were supported by the evidence we gathered.
HMIRR - BEREEREFEREERRRANBRRINER
B FIET D BB AT 4K -

We tested the aging profile of inventories items on a
sample basis by checking to relevant documents including
goods receipt notes;

BREERER (BREREE) R - BAEmRAER
FHFERERABET TR

We compared the carrying amount of the inventories, on

a sample basis, to their net realisable value through review

of sales subsequent to the year end.

BPEBHERAENEESBENETEDS - ElERNE
W ENEENREE BN ZRFEETT R

We assessed the reasonableness of methods and
assumptions applied to the provisions by challenging
management'’s future sales projection, estimated future
selling prices and selling expenses, with reference to
industry trend, approved budget developed based on
historical data and actual sales subsequent to the year end;
BB BEREEBNARKIEETRN - RRHEBEM
HEBRNMG (2ETEBY)  REBELEHSITEN
RENEERFERRNERIFEE  SFEBEHTENE
REVERIE

We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of the provision for inventories;

et T FEREER BRI

We observed the physical condition of inventories during
stocktake to identify if any inventories were damaged,
or obsolete and inquired management if appropriate
inventories provision has been made.
FMEGERHHEEETHES E’J%@HK/R LM@ET
HEAHRBERWE  THREEE e @

B TF B [E 2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in 2023 annual
report of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Annual Report”)
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. We have obtained some of the other information including the
Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report.
The remaining other information, including the Financial Summary, Report of
Directors, Chairman’s Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management, Environmental, Social and Governance

Report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we and will not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take

appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

POP MART
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

AWZ: I POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED SaiB 3545 BR S BA R A A
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yuen Kwok Sun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEERREMAEEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥T T AR®EFTT
Revenue Yz 6 6,301,002 4,617,324
Cost of sales SHERA (2,436,931) (1,962,781)
Gross profit EF 3,864,071 2,654,543
Distribution and selling expenses LM ERY 7 (2,004,706) (1,470,753)
General and administrative expenses — R R AT (707,300) (686,280)
Provision for impairment loss TREERBEBERE
on financial assets (745) (4,500)
Other income EAb U A 74,900 45,572
Other gains — net H e — 5 4,426 44,798
Operating profit R R 1,230,646 583,380
Finance income BRI 10 184,217 67,682
Finance expenses BRI 10 (32,337) (38,579)
Finance income - net MIEUWA — 558 10 151,880 29,103
Share of profit of investments accounted DEEAEREARNRE R
for using the equity method 18 33,229 27,046
Profit before income tax RR T 18 B4 A& F 1,415,755 639,529
Income tax expense i 11 (326,984) (163,728)
Profit for the year FRER 1,088,771 475,801
Profit is attributable to: T EMGRER
- Owners of the Company B WNEIE ¥=PN 1,082,344 475,660
- Non-controlling interests — FEE RS 6,427 141
1,088,771 475,801
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meBREkEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaE ARBT AEBTT
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 mE s
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss FIREE# P A= B2 AI7E B
— Currency translation differences - EnE R 3,962 31,397
ltems that will not be reclassified to B gEHHEEERNIER
profit or loss
— Currency translation differences - B E R 71,144 379,648
Other comprehensive income for the year, FRHEM2E L @ BREi#E
net of tax 75,106 411,045
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2HEKFZHETE 1,163,877 886,846
Total comprehensive income for the year U TEMERNEZHEUZEEE !
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — RARHEEA 1,157,468 886,633
- Non-controlling interests — JEFERS R 2 6,409 213
1,163,877 886,846
Earnings per share for profit attributable A THEE ABEERNSREF
to owners of the Company
— Basic (expressed in RMB per share) —EX(UASRAREITERT) 13 0.81 0.35
- Diluted (expressed in RMB per share) —BE (AERARKITER) 13 0.81 0.35

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PAE#R A B e N H b 2 1 5 o 3K 7 B PR Y R

o
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REBEERER

As at 31 December

®W12831H
2023 2022
2023 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MtaE AR¥T T ARBETTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB LG 14 653,278 448,884
Intangible assets mEE 15 115,888 146,507
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 726,053 701,627
Investments accounted for using FREREARNEE
the equity method 18 107,001 83,333
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABENEREE
profit or loss 23 471,769 459,034
Prepayments and other receivables TE A5 FRIE Fo E A pE K8 21 127,989 44,165
Deferred income tax assets BEAMSTHEE 19 83,416 80,977
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 2,285,394 1,964,527
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables g 5 W GRIA 20 321,337 194,369
Inventories e 22 904,708 866,985
Prepayments and other receivables T8 A5 FRIE fo H A FE R IE 21 467,561 486,553
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABENEREE
profit or loss 23 8,415 12,829
Restricted cash EERHRE 24 18,159 13,265
Term deposits with initial term over MEEH=EANER
three months and within one year —FEAARBTEEFR 24 3,885,362 4,356,220
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEED 24 2,077,927 685,314
Total current assets BREBEE 7,683,469 6,615,535
Total assets mEE 9,968,863 8,580,062
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ReEERER

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MtaE AR¥T T ARBEFTT
Equity fEm
Share capital [N 25 885 908
Shares held for share award scheme BLRR D SR EDET £ A MR (D 26 (12) (14)
Other reserves HEib i 27 4,438,448 4,693,043
Retained earnings REBAF 3,330,606 2,269,351
Equity attributable to owners of AAREE AELER
the Company 7,769,927 6,963,288
Non-controlling interests in equity IR R 10,455 2,037
Total equity BRER 7,780,382 6,965,325
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
License fees payables [EfTRIEE 30 14,807 21,306
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 425,954 447,564
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEAMSTHAE 19 14,419 15,120
Total non-current liabilities HWERBER 455,180 483,990
Current liabilities REBERE
Trade payables E S ENFRIE 29 444,944 259,006
License fees payables JEf RS 30 179,393 133,517
Other payables H A S 5/IA 37 514,841 308,791
Contract liabilities aRAE 32 112,143 88,797
Borrowing B’ 34(c) 15,058 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 351,799 293,567
Current income tax liabilities BVERFRE B R 115,123 47,069
Total current liabilities wWREBAaE 1,733,301 1,130,747
Total liabilities BEeE 2,188,481 1,614,737
Total equity and liabilities MERREE 9,968,863 8,580,062
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 180 to 318 were approved by the Board of

Directors on 20 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

A bR BER BREEBEMNE—H5E -

F180EEFE318E M HRFTN2024F3 201
EEEeHE  WAHTIHIESREESE -

Executive Director & Chairman

WITEFERER

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

Executive Director

HITES



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
eSS ER

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARHE AEL
Shares held
for Share Non-
Share Award Other  Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
ARORE
STEBEN
e Ry  HfbRE  REEF Mt FERER CH
(Note25)  (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Watas)  (W2e)  (W&27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fiiz | AE¥Tr ARETR AR®Trn AR%TR AR%TR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 B03F1R1BNER 908 (14) 4,693,043 2,269,351 6,963,288 2,037 6,965,325
Comprehensive income 2HEkE
Profit for the year ERER - - - 1,082,344 1,082,344 6,427 1,088,771
Other comprehensive income Hit2EbE
Currency translation difference EHBEETE - - 75,124 - 75,124 (18) 75,106
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - 75124 1,082,344 1,157,468 6409 1,163,877
Transaction with owners BEBANRS
Purchase of own shares EEEEG G 2,27 - - (333,709) - (333,709) - (333,709)
Cancellation of shares FERG 25207 (23) = 3 = > > =
Non-controlling interests arising on B RAUBRIHE AR
newly established and acquired EENEERER
subsidiaries - - - - - 5,271 5,271
Acquisition of non-controlling WE—RHE AR
interests on a subsidiary MRS - - (1,551) - (1,551) (3,262) (4,813)
Appropriation to statutory reserves BAETHRE - - 21,089 (21,089) - - -
Dividends declared ERARE - - (17317) - (M7317) - M7317)
Share vested under the Share RBR D TRz 2l
Award Scheme BB R 28 - 2 (2) = = = =
Share-based compensation expenses  BARR{D BEEHIRBIF % 28 = = 101,748 - 101,748 = 101,748
Total transaction with owners BREAANRZAE (23) 2 (329719)  (21,089)  (350,829) 2009 (348,820)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023E12 831 BHEE 885 (12) 4,438,448 3,330,606 7,769,927 10,455 7,780,382
—Z==F5% ANNUALREPORT 2023 || POP MART
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREHR
Attributable to owners of the Company
NS TN
Shares held
for Share Non-
Share Award Other Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
SR 28
sHElEER
jig Ry EtEE  REEN NE SRR At
(Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Fsras)  (Biske)  (WEE27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mg ARETR ARBTRT ARMTR ARBTRT ARMTR ARBTT AR%TR
Balance at 1 January 2022 R2022%1 A1 BIVES 923 (15 5023583 1793691 6818182 1824 6820006
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year EREF - - - 475,660 475,660 141 475,801
Other comprehensive income Hit2EbE
Currency translation difference SHREEE - - 410973 - 410973 7 411,045
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - 410973 475,660 886,633 213 886,846
Transaction with owners BEBANRS
Purchase of own shares BB FRH 2527 - - (634,310) - (634310) - (634310)
Cancellation of shares FHERG 2527 (15) - 15 - - - -
Dividends declared ERARE - - (209490 - (20949%) - (20949)
Share vested under the Share RBR D TRz 2l
Award Scheme ol 28 - 1 (1) - - - -
Share-based compensation expenses  BARR{D BEEHRIF % 28 - - 102,273 - 102,273 - 102273
Total transaction with owners BREAANRZAE (15) 1 41513) - (415) - (45
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022F12 831 BE S 908 (14) 4,693,043 2,269,351 6,963,288 2,037 6,965,325
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in VA B4R 1 o B0 B 2% 8 ERBE R BT 5 — O BIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

POP MART
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
n _\éiﬁﬁjﬁéi

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT T AERBTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELENRESRE
Cash generated from operations KEMBFRS 34(a) 2,143,208 1,133,500
Interest received 2HFIE 109,457 1,656
Income tax paid ERATEH (262,069) (244,134)
Net cash generated from RETHMERS TR
operating activities 1,990,596 891,022
Cash flows from investing activities RETBEENESRE
Increase in financial assets at fair value BATAEF AR
through profit or loss DRIEEE N 3.3(a) (812,601) (1,515,016)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEDE  BWENMEE (324,179) (266,132)
Purchases of intangible assets HBEEEEE (68,287) (81,491)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BERATFEFABEN
at fair value through profit or loss EREEMSGHA 3.3(a) 810,236 1,443,524
Dividends received from an associate Yo B — BB A R RS 8,860 8,538
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEME - BRE MEE
equipment, intangible assets I EEMSRIE 34(b) 866 2,363
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired UWEEHI B AT - KR WEIR & 6,491 -
Placement of term deposits with initial terms ~ FFA#ZF AR ={E A U L&
over three months and within one year —F AR E BfE K (8,528,257) (4,290,194)
Redemption of term deposits with initial terms  fEEFIZ AEA=EAH U &
over three months and within one year —F AR EBTFR 9,140,811 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBELE (FFRA)BLFHE
investing activities 233,940 (4,698,408)
—Z =43 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 | POP MART
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
" _\éiﬁzﬁiﬁéﬁ

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaE ARBT AEBTT
Cash flows from financing activities MEIBEENESRE
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENK 16, 34(c) (384,999) (323,041)
Dividends paid 2RRE 34(c) (121,609) (220,086)
Payments for purchase of own shares ElEASEE g RENE N 25 (333,709) (634,310)
Consideration paid in relation to acquisition of ~ FLUtEE — M B A A
non-controlling interests on a subsidiary FEPE R MR TR R(E (4,813) -
Capital injection from non-controlling interests  FE4EA% A& 25 BLFTAK 37
on a newly established subsidiary WMEARNEE 3,573 -
Net cash used in financing activities METBMARSTEE (841,557) (1,177,437)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash ReRBSEEYEM
equivalents (R2) F58 1,382,979 (4,984,823)
Cash and cash equivalents at FONEERELEEY
beginning of the year 685,314 5,264,710
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents  IR& KRIRE&FEYHE KUk 9,634 405,427
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRANESRRESEEY
the year 2,077,927 685,314
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GENERAL INFORMATION

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the product design and development and sale
of pop toys in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") and certain
overseas countries and regions. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is GWF Holding Limited (formerly known as Grant Wang
Holding Limited), which is controlled by Mr. Wang Ning and his spouse,
Ms. Yang Tao.

On 11 December 2020, the Company has successfully listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

("RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2024.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

—REH

AEBHFEREEERAR ([AQF )R
20195 HORRBEHSHBRRNEE2NE
(1961 FFE35ED - K556 RIERT) EH
EREFMAIRERREERAAF - AR
Al EE AL AP.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman

Islands °

RABRBREERLAR - EWBLAREE
preEARANME ([HE]) RETEN
B 5K K2 b 8 4 S5 80 T BB E m SR 5T B R
BERHEE - ARTHRBERRQ R BGWE
Holding Limited (A ## & Grant Wang Holding
Limited) - AEELRERHRBESLLE
il o

R2020F12 8118 » RRQARKNER B
ERGIERAR ([BERFT]) ER LT ©
BRIEREHRE  TRRGAEFBERERAA
R (TAR®]) 275 -

KIF BB RERDT A 2024F3 420K ES
ST -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless otherwise
stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group

consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622. IFRS Accounting Standards

comprise the following authoritative literature:
IFRS Accounting Standards
IAS Standards

Interpretations developed by the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC Interpretations) or its predecessor
body, the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC

Interpretations).

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

which are carried at fair value.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)
(a) RBIELE ()

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2023:
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
IFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform —

(i) 7K 88 AR AR 49 #3T B AZAE 2T
28

AEBMM2023F1 A1 BRBNE
ERE M E R ER T 5] R
ET#R -
B & HT 2R BEGA 2 E &
FRIEET
REERIE 1R FAHEZFE
BB B 755 5 22 R
BHEREE2RER]

&t BRI — i

Pillar Two Model Rules F1290EF] ZIOXEAR
Amendments to I1AS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets el HE—XGELNEE
and Liabilities arising from F12501E5] R B (ZEEF AT EHE
a Single Transaction wE
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts P B 7 s R Rz A A

The new and amended standards listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the current or future

periods.

(iv) New amendments to standards not yet adopted

Certain amendments to accounting standards have been
published but are not mandatory for 31 December 2023
reporting period and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods

and on foreseeable future transactions.

£1758

EAERT R A E AT A R i 1 HA R
RSB BEMRFZE - At
CHEMSARRABMELEEAY

o

i
&

I

(iv) (2 RERAY B9 ZE R BIFTIE AT

ATt EREERTR20234 12
A3MBzHEHANEB/MENL I
SBHIIIT - B AREAREEIRTR
W o BERZBEFT TGN ARE
FE R PR 2 HA R ST AN SR B LA J2 7]
BROARRGEEERTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New amendments to standards not yet adopted

POP MART

(continued)

Amendments to IAS 1
BB R SRER
Amendments to IAS 1
Bl e st R E 1 R ET
Amendments to IFRS 16

B % B 75 e 5 MR BB 165718 AT

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

= El g ’%EIJ%75)"E
BIRR BT IS s & R 79018 5T
Amendments to IAS 21

N

REETERIE 21 RERT

Amendments to IAS 28 and IFRS 10

BIpR &R J%287ﬁ&.|§5 B
REERF1057ER

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

a) MmEELE (&)

(&

Amendments

a7

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

BESERREIETE

Non-current liabilities with covenants

W R IR B B (&

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

EREHEP e HE R &

Supplier finance arrangements

HEFHE D

Lack of Exchangeability

HhZ Al B

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

KREZHABENFIE BETEZ AR
BEHEXNE

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

(iv) 5 7R £R 44 09 2& R 19 37 15 &7

Effective date

EHE

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024

20241 F1 032 2Fa6HY
FZ

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024

202441 A1 H3kz % F1E Y
F[Z

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024

20241 F 1032 2 Fa5a)
FZHfE

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024

20241 F 1032 2FTA6HY
FZ

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2025

2025491 A1 Hzkz % F4E Y
F[Z

Undetermined

e —

T~FAE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BFBERBE @)
2.1 EXSTHBERME (&)
b) FEIRE RERSFTEERL
(i) BB 2 A]

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power to direct the activities
of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated

balance sheet respectively.

MEARAASEEFNAEER
(BREBER) - WAKEAAE
REELEERMENE @#&E’JJ—L
G RAEN - BAENBREEEE
BhRBZENFZEZFL®RE - A
KEEQEQE%%ET Hil4E o P

REBENEEAREE 2 AER

mERAE AR - B EEHZ AER
JBERE AR ©

NAEIAR S - RERRER S
R ARB IR TIALE - FRIER

FRETEREENRERER &
AR BRI T AL o K8
REANEFBREIELEBEZE
B+ DATEOR B 2 (B P BR AN O R

AP B B ZE 4R I A O SR PR A A
iy FeEBREMEMEERE
= f%‘ﬁﬁéﬁ%&éﬁizﬁfaﬁﬁﬁ

D
=0
'lﬂ}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(i)  Subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiary controlled through contractual arrangements

There is an entity controlled by the Group under contractual
arrangements. The Group does not have legal ownership in
equity of the structured entity. Nevertheless, under Contractual
Arrangement entered into with the registered shareholders
of the structured entity, the Company and its other legally
owned subsidiaries controlled the structured entity by way
of controlling the voting rights, governing its financial and
operating policies, appointing or removing the majority of
members of its controlling authorities, and casting the majority
of votes at meetings of such authorities. Accordingly, the
Group has rights to exercise power over the structured entity,
receives variable returns from involvement in the structured
entity. As a result, it is presented as a controlled structured

entity of the Group.

(ii) Joint arrangements

POP MART

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure
of the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature
of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint

ventures.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 BHBEBE®)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued) 2.1 EXSTHBERME (&)
(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting ) FERERESSTHTERERE
(continued) (%)
(ii) Joint arrangements (continued) (i) BEZH (&)
Joint ventures BERE
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity REETENER %ﬂﬁl‘ﬂzﬁizﬁﬁiﬁ
method (see (iv) below), after initially being recognised at cost CEEBRERERE  FRER
in the consolidated balance sheet. AR (RT3 (v)) e

(iii) Associates (iii) BE 2\ a]
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant ERREAEEHABERY
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the j] b R R %‘J%Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the T L%| IR EBFEF20%
voting rights. F50%FIRHKE
Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares FRERE 2 TP A B dERTE R B
Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are REgE R B TR RREY
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iv) IR ATERE - ARG
below), after initially being recognised at cost. AR (B3 (iv)) °
Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares with VS ANl g B d0k=3
preferential rights or convertible redeemable preferred shares AR 2t A] % 1% ] fig [0 18 S5 IR T = 5’\]&
Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares AR N TR DART S B S R A A
with preferential rights or convertible redeemable preferred 1% ok AT $2 42 ] B8 0118 5 iR L SR 3%
shares are accounted as financial assets measured at fair value BERNFEFEEHEZHTAAEH
through profit or loss (Note 2.1(f). BaremEE AR (MEE2.10) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(iv) Equity method

POP MART

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from
joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying

amount of the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred

obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures and associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested
for impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 2.1(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting b) ZFEEEREZSSTEERL
(continued) (%)

(v) BEREEZZE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(v) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate

reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to

profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

POP MART

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
("the functional currency”). The Company'’s functional currency
is United States Dollars ("USD"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB"), which is
the Company’s and the Group's presentation currency. The
Company's primary subsidiaries are incorporated in the
mainland of the PRC (“Mainland China") and these subsidiaries
consider RMB as their functional currency. Some subsidiaries
may have other currency as their functional currency, such as
USD, Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") and Singapore Dollar (“SGD").

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a

foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income within “finance expenses —
net”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income within “Other gains- net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued) ) IMNEEMRE (4E)
(i) Transactions and balances (continued) (i) X5 REEF (B
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign NS REBAIR AT EFTEZIEE
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date BIHIEE RRBEEATEERAZ
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on ERRE - AT EIENEER
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of BECJHMEERERANTFEKE

EXE’J—]{E\Z_EBB ° 1 JZZD;EE%"‘EEE
EREE (WERATEFABRD

the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences

on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or TREE)MREEETERTE

loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. REANFEWESEEN—FD -
(i) Group companies (iii) ZEE 4 &]

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none e BTG ARAEINE

of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance

sheet

income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at

average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
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approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates AEXZFENSELE -
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case BRI ARFAZHEREZ S HHE
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the }ﬁﬁ) K

transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or

loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the

foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Intangible assets

(i)

POP MART

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 39(0). Goodwill
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of

goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified
at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal

management purposes, being the operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 BHBEBE®)
20 BAEHBEME (&)
(d) BEEE (&)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(ii) Software (i) Bt
Acquired software are capitalised on the basis of the costs FrEE IR BIE B R AR e E
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. FREEERIBA FIAE AL o

(iii) Intellectual property rights (“IP Rights”) (iii) B ERE ([IPERE])

Acquired IP rights are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire. They have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Variable payments in relation to purchase of
IP rights that depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the condition that triggers those payments

occurs.

(iv) Licensed intellectual properties (“Licensed IPs”)

The historical costs of licensed IP rights are measured at the
present values of the fixed minimum payments at the date of
purchase of the respective license rights. License rights are
stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Variable payments in relation
to license rights that depend on sales are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those

payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(v) Research and development costs

POP MART

Research cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. Development cost is capitalised only if all

of the following conditions are satisfied:

it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it

will be available for use

management intends to complete the software and use or

sell it

there is an ability to use or sell the software

it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits

adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the software

are available, and

the expenditure attributable to the software during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development costs that do not meet those criteria are

expensed as incurred.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

2 S BEBE @)
21 BEREHBERE (#)
(d) BEE (&)

(v) FFEHEE

MR ARELHIE A B m g
R o EEWRIAT A R - 5
BT TIABE AR -

SERER B IHE E AT A i

i EAT9T

BIEER BT EAL LA

s E &

BRefE AT

BERE RA LR (AN EE L AT B
B AR RN a8

B RAM - Mg REME
IRSEA RS I AT A ki

L/ RN

R ERE ARG S hEE

CETTE B

THERFRENEABERAR

AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 S BEBE @)
21 BEREHBERE (#)
(d) BEE (&)
(vi) B35 T % R H

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(vi) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life

using the straight-line method over the following periods:

AEBRAEOES I ERAEHE
PR AT S AR DA T BRI A 8

Software 5 years ]t 54
IP rights 10 years IPEEHE 106
Licensed IPs 2-10 years EHEIP 2-10%F

The Group estimates the useful life of the IP rights and
Licensed IPs based on the estimated period during which such
assets can bring economic benefit to the Group. The Group
estimates the expected lifecycle of major IPs will be more than
10 years. Among the rights relating to each of the acquired IP
rights,trademark has a term of validity of 10 years and is subject
to renewal after its expiration, and patents for each IP are valid
for 10 years from the date of application. For acquired IP rights,
the useful lives are determined based on the shorter of the
expected lifecycle of the IPs, and 10 years, being the term of
validity of the major rights of the IP rights. For licensed IPs, the
useful lives are determined based on shorter of the expected
lifecycle of the IPs, and contractual term of the respective

license agreements (Note 4(b)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets

POP MART

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting

period.

Investments and other financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), or through

profit or loss), and

those to be measured at amortised cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Classification (continued)

The classification depends on the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when

its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership.

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL") are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are

solely payment of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(f) Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(iii) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement

categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and
is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised
or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in interest income using the effective interest
rate method. Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognized in other gains/losses. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in other gains/losses, and
impairment expenses are presented as separate line item

in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BEBOREIE &)
21 ERSFHBERME (&)
(f) Investments and other financial assets (continued) (f REREMERERE (&)
(i) 512 (4)
EHTE (&)

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss
and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net in the consolidated
statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive
income within “Other gains — net”in the period in which it

arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as "Other gains — net” when the Group's right to receive
payments is established. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in

fair value.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in “Other gains - net” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(f)

(9)

POP MART

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends

on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for details.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. Costs of
purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and
discounts. It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to

make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-

current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Trade receivables (continued)

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their

carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

Details about the Group’s impairment policies and the calculation

of the loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1(b).

(i) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the Group has received
considerations from the customers before the control of the

goods transferred or the services rendered.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income, based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to

the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(j) Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax

POP MART

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those

temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(j) Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(ii) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.

(k) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivables for goods
supplied or serviced provided, stated net of discounts and the

relevant value added taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i) Sale of goods - retail store sales and roboshop sales

The Group operates a chain of retail stores and roboshop
machines for selling pop toys. Revenue from sales of goods are
recognised when the control of the product has transferred to
the customer. There was no right of return for the sales to the
end customer. Retail sales are usually settled in cash, by credit/

debit cards or through online payment platforms.

(i) Sale of goods - online sales

POP MART

Pop toys are also sold through self-operated online platform
or other third-party e-commercial platform and revenue is
recognised when the control of the products has transferred
to the customer, which is the point of acceptance by the
customers. Revenue from these sales are recognised based on
the price, net of the estimated sales discounts at the time of
sale. Transactions are settled in cash, by credit/debit cards or
through online payment platforms. The commissions to the
third party e-commercial platform is an incremental cost to
obtain a contract. The Group applies the practical expedient
to expense the commissions as incurred as the expected

amortisation period is one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 S BEBE @)
21 BEREHBERE (#)
(k) WHER ()
(i) BB — &P B EE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) Sale of goods — customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail and
online customers accumulate award points for purchases made
which entitle them to discounts on future purchases. The
Group accounts for award points as a separate performance
obligation of the sales transactions in which they are granted
(the "initial sale”). The fair value of the consideration received
or receivable in respect of the initial sale is allocated between
the award points (based on the stand-alone selling price
considering breakage), which is credited to contract liabilities,
and the products sold. Revenue from the award points is
recognised when they are redeemed or expired. During the
year ended 2023, the award points expire at the end of each
six months from the next months following the initial sales

occurs.

(iv) Sales of goods — wholesale

Revenue are recognised when control of the products
has transferred, being when products are delivered to the
wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel
and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the wholesaler's acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the wholesaler, and either the
wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance

have been satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued) (k) WEHHERR (#&)

(iv) Sales of goods — wholesale (continued) (iv) BimiseE — # 5 (&)
As receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as JEYHRIERNE mRXNRER - RE
this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional BRENZEEBKASERSE &
because only the passage of time is required before the TR R HERS (B AT YR B B (T 3K ©
payment is due.

(v) Revenue from others (v) Btz
Revenue from others mainly arises from sales of goods and EMaEERBEAERLEH
provision of services in the amusement park operated by the BHRERAEERNNES LHE
Group and at the conventions hosted by the Group. For sales of M RREERS - e mEEm
goods, revenue is recognised when the control of the products TR ERERMESEDES
has transferred to the customer, see Note 2.1(k)(i) above. For EEPKER  BH28 EXHE
provision of services, including tickets sold and other services, 2.1(k)() ° FhIREIRE (BIEHEER
revenue is recognised when the relevant services are rendered EREAMERER) ME - R ied
and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the BB L EF R ESIT AR
benefits provided by the Group. SEFTIR R T R o

(vi) License fees income (vi) IREEKA
The Group licenses characters to third parties on relevant AEERZE=FREACUHNE
products for a period. The income is recognised ratably HEAREHEERER - WARE
in the contractual period and included in other income REANIL L fITERR - WET ALRE 1B
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other R E At 2 R A E AR A
comprehensive income. A e

(I) Leases () #HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding HEDREEEEAHASEFRAZ

liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by ARRERAREERIEEAE -

the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The SRR EHE RIEHE AKX

Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and Do AEBEZRRBRHEE RIFHE AL

non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. DHEHNEIER  HEHRESER

=HENFEEAKRLD - A > 5
AEBERABANEHEEREM
FOHEBRKHEHERFEEAREDY
ANERE-HEAKLD - WEHMR
EED -

However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it
has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and

instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

PAL S POP MART
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

()

Leases (continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not

be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of

the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less

any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease

term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

()

POP MART

Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension

options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which

does not have recent third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,

currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in
the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is

reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(I) Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-

of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases

are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

(i) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that
are linked to sales generated from a store. For certain stores
including fixed and variable rental payment terms, the
lease payments are on the basis of variable payment terms
with percentages ranging from 9% to 18% of sales. Variable
payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including
minimising the fixed costs base for newly established stores.
Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers

those payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(m) Share-based compensation

POP MART

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees
via Share Award Scheme. Information relating to the scheme is set
out in Note 28. The fair value of the services received in exchange
for the grant of the restricted shares is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the restricted shares granted as at grant date,
excluding the impacts of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions, when applicable. The total amount expensed is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which

all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with a

corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the shares are exercised.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and

the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as other income over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.
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2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Other accounting policies

Besides the material accounting policies as described above, the Group
has also adopted other accounting policies in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. See Note 39 for the summary of other

accounting policies.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks
(including foreign exchange risks and cash flow/fair value interest rate
risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.
Risk Exposure arising from
[ B LB i O AR A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SEBERME @)

HAb & et BER
B Ll E R ERTEURSN - AR E R R

EUBHRFERMEMEFTBER - Hi
SRR E R HIE39

Bt 75 [ Bex B ¥R
B R E =

AEENEHEEERSBYERR W
BEE (BEIMNERREREREATE
MERR) FERBREABESRR - A
SENERBRAREEAIZENESHTS
A RTFERIE - DR E AR BT EE
MEETNEEREREK -

Measurement

FFEAR

Market risk — foreign

exchange
M5 Rk — JME

different from its functional currency.

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency

NEEIN g B T RMINEHENEREERAE -

Cash flow forecasting
Sensitivity analysis

B mETN RS

Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, financial assets at FVPL,  Aging analysis Credit
trade receivables and other receivables. ratings

EERE REFREEY  XRHRS  BLFEAABRED Rk DITIEERTAR
TRIEE - 85 RUGRIE N H b YR -

Liquidity risk Financial liabilities Rolling cash flow forecasts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

POP MART

3 BEREE 2
3.0 BIREBEZ (&)
(a) MIBEMR

(i)

The transactions of the Company are denominated and settled
in its functional currency, USS. The Group's subsidiaries operate
in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas,
and they are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to USD and
HKD. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognized assets and liabilities in the Group’s subsidiaries in
Mainland China when receiving or to receive foreign currencies
from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies to counter parties
in Hong kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas, and recognized
assets and liabilities in the Group's subsidiaries in Hong kong,
Macao, Taiwan and Overseas when receiving or to receive
foreign currencies from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies
to counter parties in Mainland China or other different regions
or countries. The Group did not enter into any forward contract
to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Exposure

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk as 31 December

2023 and 2022, expressed in RMB was as follows:

31 December 2023

2023%F12H31H

SHEE [

RRABINR G A EEE T2
RAEE - REEEHE A TERE
A - B ORPT - BE BN
REY  BBRTREB(XE2ARE
TTRAETT) BNE R o it - Sh
R FZEREARNEEEHRBE AN
BB A RIEERE  RFT - &8
TEHNI 32 50 T R Sl U AN
REZ N HEINER TR & &
ERBE URAEEEES R
F9 - & RE5N M~ B4 B
A b 3k H A A Rl = S BIZR 22 5
HF WIS B W IMNE - P sE
RONER PIIER B E R BIE - B
F2023F 202212 A31HIEF
B AEEBET L EEBEL
LASH R RN R Bk O o

Gy qm|
AREEM2023F K 2022F 12 A31
RSN E R O (AAREE T

RN ¢

31 December 2022
20224128318

usD HKD usb HKD

E Y7 BT = BT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR®BTR  AREBTT AREBTT

Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 101,812 4,866 51,161 3,234
Financial assets at fair value ZAFEFABERED

through profit or loss PREE - 8,415 - 12,829

License fees payables RS (33,425) (45,390) (29,504) (87,887)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBMRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBERBREE®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(@) Market risk (continued) (@) miZERE (£&)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i) SMEREFE (&)
Sensitivity BRRE
As shown in the table below, the Group is primarily exposed to MRS AEEXE@EHRET
changes in USD/RMB and HKD/RMB exchange rates. HARBERRBITLARKER
Impact on post tax profit
HBRHBRANNTE

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A3BLEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBT T

USD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% ETHARBEE — FF10% 5,129 1,624
USD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% =703 ARMBIER — TFE10% (5,129) (1,624)
HKD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% BT HAREER — FF10% (2,408) (5,387)
HKD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% /B0 ARBER — TE10% 2,408 5,387
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i) BERER X FEFFERERE

Financial assets and liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group BEENENeREERAREAS
to fair value interest-rate risk while financial assets and liabilities EmEE AT ENERRE - mEEF
at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate ENEMEERBEEFEAEERR
risk. HemENERgE

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially AEERNRARGER S REEN
independent of changes in market interest rates as the Group EBUTRTSNENEE - BRAR
has no material assets/liabilities bearing significant interest. SEVESEREAE,BEELES
The Group currently does not hedge its exposure to interest RAE o AL E B Fi I 5 %5 51| =&
rate risk. [Bfx o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalent, restricted cash,

time deposits, financial assets at FVPL as well as credit exposures

to wholesale and retail customers including outstanding trade and

other receivables.

POP MART

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk
relating to accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. The Group's credit sales
are only made to customers with appropriate credit history.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The
carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, restricted cash,
time deposits, financial assets at FVPL, trade receivables and
other receivables represent the Group’s maximum exposure to

credit risk in relation to financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all the bank deposits
are deposited in or managed by state-owned or reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality financial

institutions without significant credit risk.

For retail and online sales, trade receivables mainly include
credit card receivables and receivables from third-party
payment platform receivables. The management of the Group
believes the credit risk is limited because the deposits in transit
was held by high-credit-quality financial institutions or other
third parties. There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions and third parties, the

credit risk inherent in such trade receivables is low.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Risk management (continued)

For trade receivables due from wholesalers, the management
assesses the credit risk quality of the wholesalers based on
their financial positions, past experience, expected loss rates
based on the payment profiles of sales and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure credit terms are granted
to reliable wholesalers. The Group's historical experience in
collection of receivables falls within recorded allowances and
the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for

uncollectible receivables has been made.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to

IFRS 9's new expected credit loss model.

trade receivables, and

other receivables
While cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits with initial term over three months and within one

year are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9,

the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

MBRREE#)
BEREEE (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMR (#&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Trade receivables H 5 EYRIE
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure REBERARBREBREEDFE
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss SRR AR EEAEEEE -
allowance for all account receivables. To measure the expected ZEE A RN A2 ETE
credit losses, account receivables have been grouped based on HEEREE - BATEEHEES
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. B BRESCREXANEER
ST R e EA R BT O 4E o
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of TEESEERER T Z@EAREA
sales over a period of twelve months and the corresponding Y58 6 T B I A R 52 B I B0 A8
historical credit losses experienced within this period. The ERESEEFBEMmMSL - BELEBE
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward- REEHAE URBEBAFER
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the PHEE RN IR N A B S ER
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. EMERIRATEEER -
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 and L ER - U T EBEEE S
2022 was determined as follows for trade receivables : JEWGRIERR 2023 F & 2022F 12 A
3 BEH A EIERE -
31 December 2023 20235F12H31H
Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days 91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0Z90Xk 91Z180Xk 180KM L et
Lifetime expected credit FHIFEHEEEEX

loss rate 0.48% 9.41% 100.00% 2.23%
Gross carrying amount HARTEE 311,485 12,523 4,648 328,656
Loss allowance R (1,493) (1,178) (4,648) (7,319)

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBMRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) B S EWEE (&)
31 December 2022 20225 12H31H
Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days  91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0F90K  91E180K  180KRMLE #aEt
Lifetime expected credit FHIFEHIEEEEXR

loss rate 0.46% 12.31% 100.00% 3.62%
Gross carrying amount HARTEE 181,339 15,809 4,512 201,660
Loss allowance EREE (833) (1,946) (4,512) (7,291)
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable B 5 FE W R IB A I 48 & 12 Uy 5] 78 HA I A
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable i o WRABWEEHNTREE (B4
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of 1) BB ARGEEAEBERERETE - A
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and Rt e HA R 18180 R MY BRI A R BEAE & &Y
a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater IR e
than 180 days past due.
Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as E S REWFIBEREBEEL L RN A5
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent RFEEEEFE - BERNE AN S

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited BETAR—IER

against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

POP MART

Other receivables

Other receivables mainly include deposits for lease. The
management of the Group makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records and past experiences. The Group measures
credit risk using Probability of Default ("PD"), Exposure at
Default (“EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD"). This is similar
to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected
Credit Loss (“ECL") under IFRS 9.

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1" and have their credit
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected

credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis.

If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when
the debtor is more than 1 day past due on its contractual
payments) since initial recognition is identified, the
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2' but is not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss is

measured on lifetime basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically,
when the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its
contractual payments), the financial instrument is then
moved to ‘Stage 3. The expected credit loss is measured

on lifetime basis.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

In view of the history of cooperation with the debtors and
collection from them, the management of the Group believes
that all of the Group's other receivables are classified in Stage 1
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, and the credit risk inherent
in the Group's outstanding other receivables is not significant.
The average loss rate applied as at the 31 December 2023 and
2022 were 1.09% and 1.14% respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

MEEEEE 2
B EMBEZ (4)
(b) EERE (#)
(i) EFAEERE (&)

Hpth fEURIE (4F)

ERBTLEEEASERRER
AW AEBERERE A%
EFATA H b BUGRIER 2023 F &
2022F 12 31 AN AR -
AR ERERE 2 KA B IER
BREERBILTERKN - 12023
FR2022F 128310 FTERA®
FHEIEES R A1.09%K%1.14% o

Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit REmATERE R E ENREBE
or loss FHER
Year ended 31 December
BZ12AALEE
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTT
Impairment losses: REEE :
Impairment losses on trade receivables B SRR FIBRAEEE 28 4,097
Impairment losses on other receivables H W RIBREEE 717 403
Provision for impairment on SHMEERERE
financial assets 745 4,500

=2 =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 | POP MART

227



228

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group's
finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining

adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by the finance department of
the Group. The finance department of the Group monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs as well as the liabilities to

other parties.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
BIEREBEE (£)

(0 RBEZRR (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

Total
Lessthan  Between 1 Between  More than  contractual Carrying
1year and2years 2and5 years 5years  cash flows amount
eNRE
PSR- -EZ@ME WERE IENLE  RERE BEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTRT ARWTR ARBTR ARBTRT AR®T:R
As at 31 December 2023 #2023%F12H318
Trade payables BHENTIE 444,944 - - - 444,944 444,944
License fees payables ERRES 180,830 11,296 4,260 728 197,114 194,200
Other payables (excluding ~ EERFIE (TRELE
wages, salaries and other e REMEERMUR
employee benefitand tax ~ FE(FHIB)
payables) 309,376 = = = 309,376 309,376
Borrowing EE S 15,093 - - - 15,093 15,058
Lease liabilities HEERE 386,387 219,157 212,565 62,046 880,155 777,753
Total &5t 1,336,630 230,453 216,825 62,774 1,846,682 1,741,331
As at 31 December 2022 2025128318
Trade payables B o ENFE 259,006 - - - 259,006 259,006
License fees payables ENEEE 134,282 18,391 5,698 1457 159,828 154,823
Other payables (excluding ~ EtERFE(TRELE
wages, salaries and other HeRAMESEINAR
employee benefit and tax FERTIR)
payables) 201,871 - - - 201,871 201,871
Lease liabilities HEEE 332,603 219,372 180,698 75344 808,017 741,131
Total fEt 927,762 237,763 186,396 76,801 1428722 1,356,831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

3
3.2

3.3

POP MART

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeqguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for owners of the Group and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to enhance owners’ value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt. As at
31 December 2023, the Group has no net debt. See Note 34(c) for the
reconciliation of net cash/(debt) for the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are

recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements.

(a) Financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows

underneath the table.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 MBEREE®)
3.3 AFEME (&)
() ERMEERERE (4)
() 2N-FIlEEBR (&)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B B2 &3 st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR%®Tr AR%Tx
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F 124318
Financial assets at fair value BLATEABRNEREE
through profit or loss
~ Investment in associates —RATEFABRN
measured at FVPL BENBIRE - = 227,477 227,477
- Private equity fund investments ~ — FAEREESIRE - - 196,159 196,159
- Other unlisted investments —HtIELETRE - - 48,133 48,133
- Listed equity securities-stock — FIRARES - RE 8,415 = = 8,415
Total 5t 8,415 - 471,769 480,184
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F12A31H
Financial assets at fair value BRATESAEBRNSRERE
through profit or loss
~ Investment in associates —RATEFABRN
measured at FVPL e nRRE - - 231,808 231,808
- Private equity fund investments ~ — AAEREESIRE - - 181,871 181,871
- Other unlisted investments —Hm¥FLEmERE - - 45,355 45355
— Listed equity securities-stock — FRAES - RE 12,829 - - 12,829
Total gt 12,829 - 459,034 471,863
—Z==F5% ANNUALREPORT 2023 || POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

POP MART

The Group analyses the financial instruments carried at fair
value by valuation method. The different levels have been

defined as follow:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These

instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for private equity fund investment, other
unlisted investments and investment in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Further details of the Group's
financial assets and financial liabilities that are measure at fair

value using level 3 inputs are given in Note 3.3(a)(ii) below.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

There were no transfers between the levels of fair value

hierarchy during this year.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the periods ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 MBEREE®)
3.3 AFEME (&)
() ERMEERERE (4)
(i) EAEA T A BRI B 1%

ETRFENE (BR3)
FRNATEBRZ ML EES -

TRIFEHRIEE REE2023F
1283182022912 831 H 1EH
BESE-EE

Investment in

Investment in Wealth
associates Other Private Management
measured unlisted equity fund Products
at FVPL investments investments ("WMPs") Total
BOFER BHER
ABiEN EftgELm ngRE  (BER)
BENARE k& ESRE k& Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARETR AEETR
Opening balance at 1 January 2023 R203F1B1BHENHE 231,808 45,355 181,871 - 459,034
Acquisitions % - - 20,000 792,601 812,601
Disposals i - - (719) (809,517) (810,236)
Change in fair value LFEES (4331) 2,778 (4,993) 16916 10,370
Closing balance at 31 December 2023 RNBF12ANANERER 07477 48133 196,159 - 471,769
*includes unrealised (losses)/gains recognisedin -~ * BERNERPEINHEBR
profit or loss attributable to balances held at RERBEGRER(FR)/
the end of the reporting period s (4331) 2778 (4993) - (6,546)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

POP MART

inputs (Level 3) (continued)

Investment in

3 BEREE 2

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)

(i) EHEXT B A B 15
BT FERZ (BAR3) (8)

associates Other Private
measured unlisted equity fund Investment in
atFvpL investments investments WMPs Total
BOTETA
R &R Al IERiE BiER
BENTRE FLTRE £ERE & &t
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB1000 RMB000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Opening balane at 1 January 2022 RN2E1 A1 ANENSE 207763 25289 95,636 - 328688
Acquisitions Wie 26,250 19530 31,500 1437,736 1515016
Disposals e - - (1,166) (1442358) (1443 524)
Change in far value NFEEY (2,09) 536 55901 4622 58,854
Closing balance at 31 December 2022 RARE1ANBNERES 231808 45355 1814871 - 459034
*includes unrealised (losses)/gains recognised in - * BFERN BT EANRELFEE
profit or loss attributable to balances held ot~ EEBAEMRRETE (B58) / idk
the end of the reporting period (2,205) 53 55,901 - 54232
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

value

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included

investments in associates measured at fair value through profit

or loss, other unlisted investments, and private equity fund

investments. As these instruments are not traded in an active

market, their fair values have been determined by using various

applicable valuation techniques, including discounted cash

flows and market approach etc..

The following table summarises the quantitative information

about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair

value measurements :

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

BRRER &)
3.3 A EMREE (&)
) ERMEEREE(H)

(iii) 1B

BAHERELR
FLERIEFERE

B3z HEIAEZZBERAT
B ARG ENBERRRE
Hip3F LB RALEREESR
B o RS LAWENERTIS
EITEE  HATEEBRAZRE
ERGERMN (BRMRESR
BERMGEF)EE °

TREEABARTAT @
S EATTRERARE Y 8
EH

Fair value Range of inputs
AT BABEEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
R2A38 R2A38
2023 2022 2023 2022
WBE | 00EF  Valuation Significant unobservable WBE | 02%F  Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 | RMBO0D  Techniques inputs RMB'000 | RMBO00  inputs to fair value
i ARHTR |ARBTT  HERE EXTTREBANE ARRTR |ARETT  TTRRRAHBEATENBE
Private equity fund 196,159 181871 Netasset value (1) N/A N/A NA - NA
investments AEFRO) TR TER | PER TER
LEREESRE
Investments in associates measured | 17,322 17512 Income approach (2) Weighted average cost of 18.00% 1800%  Increased or decreased WACC by 10%
atFeL Y& capital (WACC) would approximately decrease or
B TER A B B METHERIA increase the fair value by RYBT, 170,000
REERATNRE (31 December 2022: RMBG87,00
IMETEERARMEAED 10%
REERRDANAARE 700007
(022% 128318 : AR¥e870007)
Terminal growth rate 200% 230%  Increased or decreased terminal growth
b rate by 10% would approximately
increase or decrease the fair value
by RMB77,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB77,000)
REMERE FAITRI0% - ATER
IS HARETI 00T
(0% 12318 - ARET70007T)
Revenue growth rate 2.2% 77% Increased or decreased revenue growth
WAERE 66.2% | 1050%  rateby 10 would approximately
increase or decrease the fair
value by RMB510,000 (31 December
2022:RMB693,000)
H&ZM‘@EHMT 0 ATER
ROHARESI0007T
(zozzﬁwzﬂﬂa AR 6930007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3

BRRER &)

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

POP MART

value (continued)

(@) THEEREE (&)

(iii) 14 E M~ A BHE R B2
FLERIEEE (%)

Fair value Range of inputs
LYE WAHBEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
RM2A318 M2A318
2023 2022 2023 2022
WBE | 00EF  Valuation Significant unobservable WBE | 002  Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 |  RMBO00  Techniques inputs RMB'000 | RMBO00  inputs to fair value
i ABEFR |ARETT GBS EXTTREBANE AREFR |ARETT FUBRRAHBEATENBAR
199,829 21429 Market Approach(3) Price to sales('PS') » PS:084- | PS:063-  Increased or decreased PS by 10% would
aEe) Enterprise value to 339EV/S: | 229EV/S: approximately increase or decrease the
sales(EV/S) + Discount for 034348 | 030429 fair value by RMB2461,000 (31 December
[ack of marketability DLOM: DLOM: 2022:1,645,000) Increased or decreased
(DLOM') 21.0% 200%- EV/S by 10% would approximately increase
% hEEESR 32.0% 320%  ordecresse the fair value by RMB6 509,000
HEENE BT HER. | TEEK: (31 December 2022:4759,000) Increased or
EatnEE 084339 | 063229 decreased DLOM by 10% would
PEEE | GEEE  aoprodmately decrease orincrease the
SPEEE | QEEE  farvalue by RVB4229000 (31 December
BE O nE 031400
034348 | 030420 WHELAL RN ATESENE
#z B2 HOHARB2400 0007 (0025128
EEN | EBEGY 3B ARBIas00T) CEEER
iR | fRE: BERNE LAUTRIO ATHES
20% | 00 ENEHAHARK6090007 (002F
320% 0% 128318 ARBTS9000T) BT
AR LAS TR0 ATE
BEOTAMOARE4 290007
(0225128318 - ARE3,1400070)
10,326 - Backsolve from recent  Conversion/redemption/ N/A N/~ The higher probabilty of conversion with
transaction price market liquidation probability TER i correspondingly lower probability of
mutiplemethod (4 B4 /R /EBA TR liquidation and redemption the lower the far
BEERAEREE vlue
TAREEEY ERNTEES - BRREDY
TeeltdE  ATEEE -
Subtotal 21411 231808
Nt
Other unlisted investment 48133 45355 Market Approach(3) PS~ DLOM PS:0.84- | PS:091-  Increased or decreased PS by 10% would
AL miRE WEE) =2 74 162DLOM: | 190DLOM:  approximately increase or decrease the
KRR W% | 2%26%  fairvelue by RIB996000 31 December
nEE | mER: 20228187,336,000) Increased or decreased
0.84-162 | 091-190  DLOM by 10% would approximately decrease
#z HZ  orincrease the fair value by RMB210,000 (31
BHIN | EBID  December 2022:RNBL6000)
fRE: | ARE: BRELAS TR0 ATESNE
We25% | 22%28%  HOBARE%007T (202512831
B AR 336007 ) B2 st
%A% AFERED
FEMHARB 00007 (0225
12318 - ARH4260007T)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair
value (continued)

M

The Group determines the fair valuation of its private equity fund
investments as at the 31 December 2023 and 2022 based on the
net asset values of the private equity funds with underlying assets
and liabilities measured at fair value as reported by the general
partners of the funds.

The fair value of investment in an associate measured at fair value
through profit or loss is determined by using the discounted
cash flow method and unobservable inputs mainly include
assumptions of expected future cash flows and discount rate.

The fair values of certain investments in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss and other unlisted investment are
determined by using the market approach and the combination
of observable and unobservable inputs include market multiples
and discount for lack of marketability.

The fair values of certain investments in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss are determined by using the Back-
solve from recent transaction price market multiple method, in
which method the fair value is determined by the implied equity
value derived from a recent transaction in the respective unlisted
company's equity.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

BRRER &)

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)

(iii) 14 E M~ A BHE R B2
FLERIEEE (%)

) AEERBEESCELBABAME
BOLEREESCEEFEUR
BEATEFEZHBEERSE
B ETHLEREESLER
2023 K% 2022F12A31BILEE
HRAFEE -

2 BAFEFABRABEQFN
BEMRFETDERRRRSR
BREE - mANERE ARE
TEERYERRARERER
BRI R EVERR

() BAFEFABRDABEQEN
ETHRAREMIFLTRENR
FETDERTISEREE - ATEER
EAABRRG ABBEEETISE
P ERZ TSR B IR YTE -

@) BAFEFABRABE QRN
ETRENAFEDNEARAOR
SEREETSEEORETE &
ZITER > 2P ETVEHER
FETRAKRERZPOEEK
EBEEE -

4 BARERTEE R AR

BPREBERSRLRACEAR (BRESH
BRTERKEMHELBERAEZTRE)
Fr BT fhRT RoHIEr -

AEBEBARKELBEME KRR - BR
B ZFQAEAESAARERS
A - BEARRER AT LGB T @ K F
EARHEERBBEZREEFELERS
Bzt RBRRwWET -

=T = =FF% ANNUAL REPORT 2023 |} POP MART

237



238

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

Impairment provision for inventories

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration of
key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective inventories.
Management reassesses these estimations of impairment provision for

inventories at each balance sheet date.

Useful lives of Licensed IPs and IP rights

The Group has Licensed IPs and IP rights that are primarily used to
design and sell pop toys. The Group estimates the useful life of these
Licensed IPs and IP rights to be 2-10 years based on the contract and
expected economic benefit. However, the actual useful life may be
shorter or longer than management’s estimate, depending on the
market competition. Periodic review could result in a change in useful

lives and therefore amortisation expense in future periods.

Current and deferred income taxes

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will be reflected in the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made. In addition, the
realisation of future income tax assets is dependent on the Group's
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise
income tax benefits and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future
profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that

could have a significant effect on the income tax expenses.
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(0)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

Current and deferred income taxes (continued)

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China
to foreign investors are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10%.
The Group regularly assesses its needs to make distributions out of its
subsidiaries in Mainland China. In this regard, withholding tax will be
provided in the period in which dividends are distributed or on the
undistributed profits to the extent they are expected to be distributed in

foreseeable future.

Fair value of financial assets

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in active markets is
determined using valuation techniques. These techniques include the
use of the net assets value provided by the respective private equity
funds, price of recent investments, discounted cash flow model and
market approach, etc. To the extent practical, models use observable
data. The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing

at the end of the reporting period. For details, please refer to Note 3.3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in brand development, design and
sales of toys in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and certain
overseas countries and regions (“Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and
Overseas”). The chief operating decision makers (“CODM") reviews the
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating segments based

on these reports.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

RS AT R HE &)

ERMAIELEFRSH (&)

SN FARRPEARERSQRIINEIZE
FEH SRR 10% TR R FNTEN - AEE
R B P B RREE A RMELR DIRK
FE-BUMET  BHRSRDIEKEDH
HIR SR I R R 1T 29 Tk B9 R 20 TR AR
SRR -

TREENQFE
REFERMER SN eREEN A FER
BEEEEE - BEHAREEBAEBL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment, which are subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group's operations in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas have
been growing at a high rate. As a result, certain measures in relation to
the financial performance and financial condition of the Mainland China
operations and the Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas operations
are reported to the CODM on a separate basis. As a result, there has
been a change in the composition of the reportable segments of the

Group.

As at 31 December 2023 and for the year then ended, the Group had

two reportable segments:
The Mainland China operations; and
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas operations.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments mainly
based on revenue, gross profit and segment results. The revenue from
external customers reported to CODM is measured as segment revenue,
which is the revenue derived from customers in each segment. The
segment gross profit is calculated as segment revenue minus segment
cost of sales. Segment results represent the operating profit earned
by each segment excluding certain unallocated items which mainly
include certain expenses attributable to head office, IP department, R&D

department, IT department and shared service center of the Group.

There were no separate segment assets and segment liabilities
information provided to the CODM as CODM does not use this
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the

operating segments.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

The segment results and other items included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income provided to
the CODM for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the year ended 31 December 2022, respectively are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

DEER (&)

MEZELERRERMNEZE2023F12 A
AL EEREBE202F12A31HIEFE
ZRAIERMOBHODBELEURGEBER
Hih2EWERTEHIIOEMIER 5 510

T~
Year ended 31 December
BZNANALEE
2023 2022
2023F 200F

Hong Kong, Hong Kong,

The Macao, The Macao,

Mainland ~ Taiwan and Mainland  Taiwan and

China Overseas China Overseas
operations  operations Total operations operations Total

G BRAR e BRAR
REER  BNEH #xt | mbEl ENER 5t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
AR®TR AR®TR ARETR | ARBTR AREBTT ARETR

Total revenue before inter-segment elimination 2 EHE SHATHIA KA 5810563 1,066,101 6,876,664 485572 453938 4739510
Inter-segment revenue AEERA (575,662) - (575,662) (122,186) - (122,186)
Revenue from external customers REMIEFHBA 5234901  1,066101 6,301,002 4,163,386 453,938 4617324
Cost of sales BERA (2,062,904)  (374,027)  (2436931) |  (1,756,131) (206650)  (1,962,781)
Gross profit | 3,171,997 692,074 3,864,071 2,407,255 247288 2,654,543
Segment results AHEE 1,239,503 191,556 1,431,059 605,371 56,207 661,578
Unallocated expenses and other gains/losses FOMERR
Efolka /BB (200,413) (78199)
Finance income - net N 151,880 29,103
Share of profit of investments accounted for AEEREREARN
using the equity method RERT 33,229 27,046
Profit before income tax BRETEBATER 1,415,755 639,529
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oHBER @
Year ended 31 December
HENANALEE
2023 2022
2023F WNE
Hong Kong, Hong Kong,
The Macao, The Macao,
Mainland  Taiwan and Mainland  Taiwan and
China Overseas China Overseas
operations  operations Total operations operations Total
EP BRAR H BRA
Wb ER BER @t £ BINES &5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR%Tr ARETR | ARETT ARETT ARETRH
Income tax expense FEHAY (326,984) (163728)
Profit for the year FREMN 1,088,771 475,801
Significant non-cash expenses EXFREHX
Depreciation on property, plantand equipment )% « BRE RRENE 220,791 12,500 233,291 192,034 1,888 193922
Depreciation of right-of-use assets RAEAENRE 313,792 34,598 348,390 318,296 11828 330,124
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERH 79,614 7,270 86,884 78833 1,938 80,771

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, information about the Group’s non-

current assets (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss and deferred tax assets) which is presented based on geographical

location of the assets, is as follow:

MR2023F K 2022F12A31H » BEAEE
ERBEE (BRATEFABZNEMEE
MR IEEERIN) NERIZE EMIEAL

EEFWOT

As at 31 December

R12A318
2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR¥ETTT
The Mainland China operations AR R S 1,434,042 1,340,207
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas BRE RBINET
operations 296,167 84,309

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

6 REVENUE 6 W=
Breakdown of revenue by business lines is as follows: REBRE DR RBANT :
Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31HILEE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Revenue from the Mainland China operations & B & B A it £ 75 fy U 2
Revenue from retail store sales TEEHEE ke 2,479,243 1,691,112
Revenue from online sales 2 FEE R 1,710,469 1,829,809
Revenue from roboshop sales M2 AT IS HE WS 548,572 378,830
Revenue from wholesales and others g R H Al 496,617 263,635
Subtotal et 5,234,901 4,163,386
Revenue from Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and REBRAREIEEN KRS
Overseas operations
Revenue from retail store sales TEEHEEWE 582,909 135,559
Revenue from online sales iR EIHE 155,805 90,224
Revenue from roboshop sales B AR S E W 57,378 15,209
Revenue from wholesales P2 R E b ES 270,009 212,946
Subtotal INEF 1,066,101 453,938
Total At 6,301,002 4,617,324
—Z— =& £3% ANNUALREPORT 2023 | POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 REVENUE (continued)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT
Revenue g
Point-in-time 7 3R 1B Ry ] B 6,278,843 4,617,324
Over-time B AR 22,159 -
Total st 6,301,002 4,617,324
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Revenue g
Revenue recognised on a gross basis LR EERER = 6,301,002 4,617,324

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no revenue derived

from transactions with a single customer represent 10% or more of the

Group's total revenue.
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

7 BUEETHRAX

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Cost of inventories included in cost of sales SEABERANFER AR 2,042,672 1,693,530
Employee benefit expenses (Note 33) EE TR (MisE33) 1,048,487 853,595
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) EREEENE (Miti6) 348,390 330,124
Commissions and E-commerce platform service  BE& N EEHF ARG E
charges 279,986 137,070
Advertising and marketing expenses BE R EiER s 269,650 233,421
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  #1% - BE R&HEITE (KizE14)
(Note 14) 233,291 193,922
Expenses relating to short-term leases and Rt AHEEENMEEHAE R
variable leases not included in lease liabilities AFHERRRMNAS 185,893 79,207
Transportation and logistics expenses B YR 169,803 182,703
Design and license fees RETREEE 156,921 84,026
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) | E RS (MEs) 86,884 80,771
Taxes and surcharges e kM neE 45,047 28,027
Cost of moulds with useful lives within one year AR A —FRAE AR A 26,138 18,135
Impairment of inventory FERIE 8,016 3,692
Auditor's remuneration % LA B & 6,030 5,893
- Audit services — BETRTE 5,100 4,500
- Non-audit services — FEEG RIS 930 1,393
Others Hh 241,729 195,698
Total et 5,148,937 4,119,814
—Z =43 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 | POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 OTHER INCOME

8 Hflg A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022

2023F 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFTT

Income from license fee and other services FHE B & B RISURA 43,008 33,156
Government grants (i) BT 466 8 (0) 30,909 11,601
Others Hth 983 815
Total st 74,900 45,572

(i)  The amounts represent government grants related to income which are
received from the local government for the contribution to the local
economic growth. These grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon the
receipt. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.

9 OTHER GAINS- NET

() FESEEBA@LE  SHEEEHERE
HERM A ZHETRE R AERE - %%
AN BR N A B MM 2R R

o MU HEZ E A A B R AROER R

HIRFEIR

9 Hizs

o

—

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBETF T

Changes in fair value of financial instruments at A EFABHNESRTA
FVPL (Note 23) N EEE (MFE23) 6,111 49,479
Donation B (2,654) (3,273)
Exchange gain/(loss) [ 5 st/ (E518) 1,501 (556)
Others HAith (532) (852)
Total #st 4,426 44,798
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10 FINANCE INCOME- NET

11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

10 WA — 5

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Finance income B A
- Interest income — FBUA 184,217 67,682
Finance expenses g dcha
~ Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBENEMX (30,754) (34,057)
- Interest expenses on license fees payables —EANEEEFNBAX (1,583) (4,522)
Finance income -net BB — FEE 151,880 29,103
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FiBHiMxX
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Current income tax BIEAFR1S % 330,124 194,032
Deferred income tax (Note 19) IEFEFTIS T (FsE19) (3,140) (30,304)
Income tax expense FrSHi = 326,984 163,728

Cayman Island and BVI Income Tax

(a) HEHEREBERTSHENR

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Island income tax pursuant to
the current laws of the Cayman Islands. The Group entity incorporated
or registered under the Business Companies Act of BVI are exempted

from BVI income tax pursuant to the current laws of the BVI.

ARARREHEHERARERHESHETE
MK RERRERAR  REHSHS
RITEAR  ARAREBEAGMFESHEME
B REBERBERBESRITEAZ  REX
BHERFSHERRDALMA LM
SEERERNCBMABERTEMEN -
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(b)

POP MART

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of the Group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the Group’s estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 16.5%).

Mainland China Corporate Income Tax (“CIT")

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the Mainland China has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2023 (the
year ended 31 December 2022: 25%), based on the existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

A group entity has been granted certain tax concessions to small
scale entities by tax authorities in the Mainland China whereby the
subsidiaries operating in the respective jurisdictions are entitled to tax

concessions.

Mainland China Withholding Tax (“WHT")

According to the applicable Mainland China tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the Mainland China to a foreign
investor with respect to profit derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the Mainland China and Hong Kong,

the relevant withholding tax rate will be 5%.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate undistributed earnings of
the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the Mainland China are
RMB2,649,591,000 (as at 31 December 2022: RMB2,040,482,000). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future, and that the Company
has the ability to control the timing of the distribution from these
subsidiaries. Accordingly, despite an assessable temporary difference on
such retained earnings exists, no deferred income tax liability has been

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(e) The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD")
Pillar Two rules apply to multinational enterprises that have consolidated
revenues (which, as defined by the OECD, include any form of income
and are therefore not limited to revenue recognised in accordance with
IFRS 15) of EUR750 million in at least two out of the last four years. As at
31 December 2023, the Group is not within the scope of the OECD Pillar
Two model rules as the Company did not meet above condition. The

Group has no related current tax exposure.

The reconciliation between the Group’s actual tax charges and the
amount which is calculated based on the statutory income tax rate of

25% in the Mainland China is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

11 iB88RxX @)

(e) FEAIERERAL ([OECD])) T
HARBENFHRELRENE HEE
750 BRBUTH BB (BIBOECDME
% BREEMEABEA - B SRAE
BRI B REENE 1SHERO )
HZE2023F 128318 - HRARRTNEA
LY - AEETBROECDI =%
EARME[E o ANEE MR E BB BERE o

NG B ) IR T B R ERAR AR A B K A
TEPTIS A R 25%t H B & 7 2 B BRI
™~

Year ended 31 December

BZ12ARALEE

2023 2022

2023 20224F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBTT

Profit before income tax B PS5 Al A 1,415,755 639,529

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate of 25% ZEARE25%T HHTIA 353,939 159,882
Tax loss for which no deferred income tax RERBLEMSHEENTIAEE

asset is recognised 756 334

Share of profit of investments accounted for DR EREREARNIZE SR

using equity method (8,307) (6,762)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes(i) AT FIFF 32 (1) 26,077 24,897

Income not subject to tax ARTBUA (43,409) (12,455)

Impact of different tax rate TRBENTE (2,072) (2,168)

Taxation charge HWEA 326,984 163,728

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, expenses not deductible for
taxation purposes mainly include the Share-based compensation expenses
of RMB101,748,000 (2022: RMB97,739,000) (Note 33).

() EZE2023F12831BILFEHM - AR
AXEFEREURNDAEBOBRMAIAR
#101,748,0007¢ (20224 = AR #97,739,000
70) (B§3E33)
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12 DIVIDENDS

The total dividends paid in 2023 amounted to RMB117,317,000 or
RMB8.70 cents per share (2022: RMB209,490,000 or RMB15.24 cents
per share) (which are net of the dividend of RMB1,678,000 (2022:
RMB3,500,000) attributable to the shares held for the RSU Scheme).

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB28.21
cents per ordinary share of the Company issued for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an aggregate amount of RMB378,840,000
based on the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date
of approval of this consolidated financial statements. In the event of
change in the total issued share capital of the Company before the
record date for dividend payment, dividends will be distributed per

share and the total distribution amount will be adjusted accordingly.

The proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in
the consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as an
appropriation of distributable reserves for the year ending 31 December
2024,

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme and shares
repurchased by the Company for cancellation during the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

12

13

Hﬁ 1%\

MR203F RO BREBLEAARE
117,317,000t BRARS.709 (2022
F 0 AR¥209,490,000 T TR AR
15245 ) (FOBRFZ R FIAR D B 5T 2B
B AR (0 FEAE AR B A R #1,678,0007T (2022
F: AR¥3,500,0007T)) °

EEOREMEE2023F12831BIFE
RIS AREREFRARFBEEITERBRA
R¥2821 5 » RIBBEAGE M HHRELL
HEEHRARRBEBITRABEE - HE
A HE4 B AR 378,840,0007T © AR E
HERAHRIARR B BITRABERE TE
) - AR BEBIEESRDIRMDIKAEEEE
JEFHEE -

PR ES KRG E VB REP R AR
BB MR AHZ2024F12A31H
I FEEBAR] DR o

BRER
BRERER

FRERERTEZE2023F &2022F12A8
31HIEFE - AR EEE ARG R B
B2 1T 3 AR N e 1 39 BUR B AR 1 2B T
AT AR 1D R AR A B BB B LARE $8 2 BR (D
EMETHESL -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RAEESR AFEME T
(RMB'000) (ARETFIT) 1,082,344 475,660
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 217 & 38 8% hN4E FH EUR LA D
issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme BN BT R AR (D R AR E S
and shares repurchased by the Company for LAFESE 2 1D 2 = (F %)
cancellation (in thousands) 1,338,035 1,365,984
Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB per BRERZF
share) (ABBRAREITERTR) 0.81 0.35
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13 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Dilute earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2023 and ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

13 8RERN &)
(b) SREBEEF

HZE2023F12A318 K2022F 1283181k
FESREFERANOTEHINNOT

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A831BLEEE

2023 2022
2023 F 20224
Profit attributable to owners of the Company A RVER AEEEF
(RMB'000) (AR®FT) 1,082,344 475,660
Profit used to determine diluted earnings per AR EE SRS & T 895
share (RMB'000) (AREFT) 1,082,344 475,660
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 217 & 38 % b4 F 19 EUR AL D
issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme RN B TR IR D AR A A
and shares repurchased by the Company for BRI LAREIE 2 ik fh 2 2= (FRR)
cancellation (in thousands) 1,338,035 1,365,984
Adjustment for FE
- Restricted Shares granted and assumed —ERERBRERERES
vested (in thousands) 2R B (FR) 2,471 557
Weighted average number of shares for diluted &% & B F I (D I0#E F 19 &1
earnings per share (in thousands) (F1%) 1,340,506 1,366,541
Dilute earnings per share (expressed in RMB per A% E & F|
share) (ABBRARETRT) 0.81 0.35

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, diluted earnings
per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company's potentially dilutive ordinary
shares comprised shares which may be granted and assumed vested
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. A calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average annual market price of the Company’s
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to the outstanding shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme (defined as the “Restricted Shares”). The number of shares
calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would
have been issued assuming the exercise of the Restricted Shares.

HE2023F F20229F 1231 BIEFE
REERFHARSAEEESEENE
TBRESRERARETENTRR
MEFHEFE - AQRABEHESETE
VEBRBEREEAAFEEEKRGE
FErEEEFRBREFBORND - 58
B DR 35 X AR B B R AR SR AT B
FTHEETRD (EEATZREIKRMD ) A
MRBENERER BriRA¥E (%
RATIRMDEFRNTEATEETE) BEHR
MEE - RIE LA A BHREER SR

FTIE IR SRR (D FT A TR AR BILL &R ©
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y%  BERRE

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold  Construction-
machines Moulds and others  improvement in-progress Total
BREABE

EER BE  RERHA HEXE ERIR by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARBTT  AREBTR  AR¥TR  ARETR  AR%T:R

As at 31 December 2022 R20225128318
Cost AR 99,009 196,705 43,071 414416 66,952 820,153
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (45,199) (91,505) (16,716) (217,382) - (370,802)
Impairment for fixed assets ETEERE - - - (467) - (467)
Net book amount BEFE 53810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,952 448 884

Yearended 31 December 2023  EZ2023F12331RLEE

Opening net book amount FREFE 53,810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,952 448,884
Additions nE 11,260 93,655 15,850 118,150 200,875 439,790
Transfer EE ] - - - 267,356 (267,356) -
Depreciation charge FEER (19,185) (80,002) (8,545) (125,559) S (233,291)
Disposal e (2,560) (46) (406) - - (3,012)
Currency translation difference EHBEEE (23) - 21 909 = 907
Closing net book amount EXREFE 43,302 118,807 33,275 457,423 4n 653,278

As at 31 December 2023 120235128318
Cost g 106,487 271,580 58,409 777,071 47 1,214,018
Accumulated depreciation ZifiE (63,185) (152,773) (25,134) (319,648) = (560,740)
Net book amount REFE 43,302 118,807 33,275 457,423 4an 653,278
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

14 % - BMERRXE®)

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold  Construction-
machines Moulds and others  improvement in-progress Total
BEABE
EE# BE SEREM REXE ERIR &
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT ARETT  ARETr ARETTL ARBTT ARBTT
As at 31 December 2021 ®20215128318
Cost AR 86,988 151963 33,046 305,207 7388 584,592
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (27,936) (69,633) (8,900) (111,842) - (218311)
Net book amount REFE 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7388 366,281
Yearended 31 December2022  HZ202F12831BLEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7388 366,281
Additions HE 12,01 85,200 10,560 112,007 59,564 279,352
Depreciation charge HEER (17,263) (60,600) (8,129) (107,930) - (193922)
Impairment for fixed assets BEEEERE - - - (467) - (467)
Disposal tE - (1,730) (242) (588) - (2,560)
Currency translation difference EHnEER - - 20 180 - 200
Closing net book amount EREEFE 53810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,952 448,884
As at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31H
Cost KA 99,009 196,705 43,071 414416 66,95 820,153
Accumulated depreciation ZihE (45,199) (91,505) (16716) (217,382) - (370,802)
Impairment for fixed assets BEEERE - - - (467) - (467)
Net book amount REFE 53810 105,200 26355 196,567 66,952 448,884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(@) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment has been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

14 ¥ - WERSZRE ®)

@ YE BEEREHECEFABEaREE
2RI - TR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Cost of sales S B 80,002 60,600
Distribution and selling expenses LI RIEERE 145,735 126,993
General and administrative expenses —MRITE R X 7,554 6,329

233,291 193,922
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBRERM T
15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 B EE
Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
BREIP (Kfita) IPERE g [k S FoHy
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥Tn AR¥ETn AR%®Tn AR¥Tx
At 31 December 2022 R2022%128318
Cost AR 283411 24,440 22,018 104 329973
Accumulated amortisation ZETEH (161,033) (13,981) (8,165) - (183,179)
Impairment RE (287) - - (287)
Closing net book amount FREHEEE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ2023512A31ALEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
Additions AE 50,342 - 6,304 = 56,646
Amortisation charge BB (78,054) (1,631) (7,199) - (86,884)
Disposal HE (394) - = = (394)
Currency translation difference ERMEESR 42 - (28) ) 13
Closing net book amount EREEFE 94,027 8,828 12,930 103 115,888
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318
Cost 5% 326,801 24,440 28,288 103 379,634
Accumulated amortisation ESHE § (232,774) (15,612) (15,358) - (263,746)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 94,027 8,828 12,930 103 115,888
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

POP MART

15 BEEE (&)

Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
REP
(MizEa) IPER B e @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR%®Tn AR%¥Trn AR®Tn AR%Txn
At 31 December 2021 R2021%128318
Cost %S 205,841 19,663 11,010 101 236,615
Accumulated amortisation EHE S (87,496) (11,714) (3,086) - (102,29)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022512831HLEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
Additions AE 77,545 4777 11,008 - 93,330
Amortisation charge BHER (73,425) (2,267) (5,079) - (80,771)
Currency translation difference ERREES (87) - - 3 (84)
Closing net book amount FEREHEFEE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12A318
Cost AR 283411 24,440 22,018 104 329,973
Accumulated amortisation R (161,033) (13,981) (8,165) - (183,179)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@) The amounts represent the exclusive and non-exclusive license rights
obtained by the Group in accordance with the respective license
agreements. Upon initial recognition, the Licensed IPs are recognised at
the present values of the fixed minimum payments with the corresponding
amounts recognised as license fees payables (Note 30).

(b)  Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15 BEEE (&)
st -

@ EHSEEAKEREBEEBREDZNEH
BREIFBRERE - RYIEHERIL - REP
ZEFESEMNRNBRERR  HESEER
RIEMEEE (HFE30) -

b) BREERHCEFABEELEMEZERE
FHB - ITAUR

E\

Year ended 31 December

HBZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T AREFT
Cost of sales SHEM A 79,685 75,692
General and administrative expenses —MEITHRAY 7,199 5,079
86,884 80,771
(==
16 LEASES 16 HE

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

(a) EERBERABIRZEH
AEBBERITATRREEMOLE

As at December

Mm12A

2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Offices and warehouses PRAENREE 92,319 113,140
Retail stores g%)ﬁ 542,481 487,797
POP LAND LIS T 4L 91,253 100,690
726,053 701,627

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current T ED 351,799 293,567
Non-current JERED 425,954 447,564
777,753 741,131
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 LEASES (continued)

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (continued)

POP MART

Movements on the Group's right-of-use assets are as follow:

16 & (&)

(a) EEEBERABRI 2 (B)

AEBEREEENESIOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
At 1 January B1A1H
Cost KR 1,146,056 742,777
Accumulated depreciation REth & (443,884) (133,260)
Impairment A (545) -
Opening net book amount FYREFE 701,627 609,517
Year ended 31 December BZ12A31BLEE
Opening net book amount FYERMFE 701,627 609,517
Additions NE 407,785 431,235
Depreciation charge HEEBA (357,043) (335,630)
Impairment NERE] = (545)
Lease termination HERKIE (26,316) (2,950)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 726,053 701,627
At 31 December M12H31H
Cost (D% 1,235,890 1,146,056
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (509,837) (443,884)
Impairment VRN - (545)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 726,053 701,627
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16 LEASES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

The consolidated financial statements show the following amounts
relating to leases:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 & (&)

b) BERHMEENERER Z2EHE

RAPBRERIITATEESERNEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AEBTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FEREEEREER
Offices and warehouses WAERBE 72,581 66,352
Retail stores ZEE 275,024 263,772
POP LAND ISR T 4 E 785 -
348,390 330,124
Interest expenses FBERAX 30,754 34,057
Expense relating to short-term leases (included in ~ EHHEE BEEHY
distribution and selling expenses and GIAKEREERITIAR
administrative expenses) THRFAX) 72,590 38,095
Expense relating to variable lease payments not Rt AHEBE®
included in lease liabilities (included in AIE#MEENRZ B
distribution and selling expenses) (FEAKESE M HERY) 113,303 41,112
The cash outflow for leases as operating activities ~ FHEEALEEEFSH 2R SR 175,516 72,512
The cash outflow for leases as financing activities ~ FHEEARMEESH 2R RE 384,999 323,041

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores and POP

LAND. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5

years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do

not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security

for borrowing purposes.

For certain lease contracts of retail stores, there are terms about variable

lease payments that based on the sales volume, which expose the Group

to variable lease payments. A 10% increase in sales across all stores

in the Group with such variable lease contracts would increase total

lease payments by approximately RMB10,755,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: RMB10,946,000).

AEECHESENAE  EETEERR

VRIS MR - FMEALMWE TR

—BAEIESF - HEKRDEBERE

B ETEESETRMGEREES -8

‘fféﬁé*jfﬂﬁm{ﬂﬂﬁ@%% CERERET
SREERAER -

RETTEENHAEGHNE  HBEE
REEEM A EHENTMIER - FA%
BEAERSEHEER - B Z=2023F128
JNEEFE  AEBENEZSUEHES
Bz BAMENHEEERI0%  BEHEE
SRR B R I AREE10,755,0007T (B =
2022F 12 A3 HIEFE + ARME10,946,000
JL) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Subsidiaries

17 AR B RARINIKRE
(a) BT

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held held by non controlling

by the Group interests
AREREN FERERRE
fERRR RERRR
Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 28318 128318
sharecpitall | a3 | | awm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERTRARERR place of operation
NIER AL/EMALER/HEREE  iREREY BE/SmER | 03F | anf | 0B | anF  IEEE/EE4Y
Directly held
EBRA
Pop Mart (BV) Holding Limited The British Virgin lslands ('8, Limited liabllity company USD30,000 100% 100% - - Investment holding/BV/
Pop Mart (BVI) Holding Limited 10 May 2019 BREFLA SO000ET RERR/KBERES
ABERNR([RE4RER])
0955 A10R
Indirectly held
BENE
Beijing Pop Mart Cultural & Creative Corp,  The PRC, 20 October 2010 Limited liability company ANB200,000,000 100% 100% - - Design and sales of pop toys/
Ltd. 'Befing Pop Mart) ) hE - 20105107208 ERAEMFLR ARE2000000007C The PRC
FREER X AR RRAT B RHERRE/ HE
(ERaassn
Beijing Paguhuyu Technology Co, Ltd! (i) The PRC, 8 March 2016 Limited liabllity company RMB10,000,000 - - - - Intemet technology services/
KRERERHEERAA) R - 2016%3A8E BREELT ARE100000007C The PAC
ERBR RS,/ 28
Bejing Paqu Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 April 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Technology development/
KREAHRBRAT R 2016F4A21 B BREELT ARE1 0000007 The PAC
KiiF% /48
Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural Communication ~ The PRC, 29 November 2016 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
(o, Lt B8 0165114298 FRERRA ARES 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
KRR EERRAT
Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, 27 January 2017 Limited liability company HKD?1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and
Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited &% 017%1 AR EREfLR 10000007 sales of pop toys/Hong Kong
BIEEREEAR
VL

POP MART
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17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held - held by non controlling

by the Group interests

AREREN FERERRE

fERRR RERRE

Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary AA3A MANA
sharecpitll | a3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/

Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRARBREER place of operation
L AU/HMALER wERAS TEREY BA/#MER | 0§ | onF | unF | wnf  EEEE/GE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
Shanghai Pagu Commerce Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 September 2017 Limited liabilty company ANB2,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EEEZSERA 8 0179821 B BREELT ABE 20000007 BEMRnA/hE
Bejing Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 October 2017 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
FREAEREEARAT 8 017E10A118 ERERLA NRES 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Shenzhen Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 31 October 2017 Limited liability company AVBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
MIBIERERERAT R 2017F 108318 BREELT ARE1 000007 BEWRnA/HE
Chengdu Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 22 November 2017 Limited liability company ANBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
AERIERERERAT oE - 017511 0R BREMLA ARE10000007 BEBRE /08
Chongaing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 November 2017 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BEENESARLT RE 2017511 A3 RRALLE ARE1 000007 BEWRRA/HE
Bejing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 December 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
KREAEHERLT 8 017128298 BRERRA ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA /1A
Shenyang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 March 2018 Limited liability company RMBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EREEERRAT RE - 08FIAA RREEAT ARH1,0000007 HEWRIE/hE
Zhengzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 April 2018 Limited liability company RMB,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
giaaBREHERLT RE 01854 A4R FRRHEAT NEH 10000007 HEMRAE/hE
Qingdao Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 April 2018 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
EENNBRERERDA o8 018E4A17R BREELE ARE1 0000007 HEBRAE /0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

POP MART

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held held by non controlling

by the Group interests
ARESEN FERERRE
FaREL JHRRRR
Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 128318 128318
sharecpill |3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERRARERR place of operation
NA%H Ri/ERAYES/ wERRE  AERHEY BA/HMER | a3F | F | wBF | wnF  EEEE/EE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
Beijing Silai Art Design Co, Ltd The PRC 26 April 2019 Limited liabllity company AVBT,000000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and
IrBGEmRERAA hE - 019F4A26H ERAEfLR ARE10000007C sales of pop toys/The PRC
BIEEREEAR
fif/hE
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Hong Kong, 27 May 2019 Limited liabllity company HKD! 100% 100% - - Investment holding/
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited E5 019F5A7A BREMfLR 187 Hong Kong
REBR /&%
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. (Pop Mart Korea) South Korea, 11 July 2019 Limited liability company KRIW 1,500,000,000 100% 80% - 0% Sales of pop toys/South Korea
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. (Pop Mart Korea) B0+ 2019%7 8114 EREfLR 15000000008 HEBL /%8
Shandong Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 24 October 2019 Limited liability company ANIB3,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IFEEEHERLA RE - 0195104 4A ERERRA ARE30000007C BEMRE/hE
Xian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERONERESERAT RE - 019F12A25R RREANT ARE10000007 BEBRE /08
Wuhan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 December 2019 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RENAEREAERAT R 2019F 128178 RREMAT ARH 10000007 BEWRNA /A
Guiyang Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 January 2020 Limited liability company AMB,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BB AEREaESERAT RE - 0061 108 BREELT ARE10000007 BEMRAE /T
Changsha Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 02 January 2020 Limited liability company RMB,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RIEHHERRAT RE - 00E1 AR BRELLT AR 10000007 HEWRE/ hE

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest held held by non controlling

by the Group interests

ARESEN FERERRE

FaREL JHRRRR

Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 128318 128318
sharecpill |3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/

Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERRARERR place of operation
NA%H Ri/ERAYES/ wERRE  AERHEY BA/HMER | a3F | F | wBF | wnF  EEEE/EE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
Taiyuan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 March 2020 Limited liabilty company AVBT,000000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
AEBERESERAT E - 00E3A R BREEAT NEH1,0000007 BEFRnA/hE
Fuzhou Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC 25 March 2020 Limited liabllity company AVBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ENEEEAARAT RE - 00FIASA BREELT AR 10000007 HEMRNA/HE
Tianjin Paqu Cultural Media Co, Ltd. The PRC, 27 March 2020 Limited liabllity company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
R BRARAT PR 00F3AE BRERLA AR5 0000007 HEMRRE /T8
Haerbin Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RRREABEERAT RE - 0048108 BREELT ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Dalian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 13 April 2020 Limited liabilty company RIB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
REREREFERAT RE 00544138 RREEAT ARH1,0000007 HEMRIE /b
Xiamen Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 14 April 2020 Limited liability company RMBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EFEAE55RAT RE - 00F4F 1A RRELAT ARE10000007 BERRE /08
Changchun Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 15 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RENIEREHERAT R 200F4A 158 FREAAT AR 10000007 HEBRAE /0
Jiangxi Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 May 2020 Limited liability company AMB2,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IRERESRRAT E - 0085 AR RREEAT ARH2000007 BEMRAE/hE
Guangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 06 May 2020 Limited liability company RMB,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ENEERRESERAT RE - 0085 A6R BREELT AR 0000007 BEARRA/ 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest held held by non controlling

POP MART

17 A B RARINERE (&)

by the Group interests

ARESEN FERERRE

FaREL JHRRRR

Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 128318 128318
sharecpill |3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/

Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERRARERR place of operation
NA%H Ri/ERAYES/ wERRE  AERHEY BA/HMER | a3F | F | wBF | wnF  EEEE/EE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
POP MART UK CORPORATION LTD UK, 23 June 2020 Limited liabilty company GBP 10 100% N/A - N/A Sales of pop toys/UK
POP MART UK CORPORATION LTD 28 00F6 /3R RREEAT 108 i TER  BEWIRA/E
POP MART JAPAN INC. Japan, 1 July 2020 Limited liability company JPY 30,000,000 60% 60% 40% 40%  Sales of pop toys/Japan
POP MART JAPAN INC. B 20F7A1E BREELT 3000000087 HEMRRA/ AR
Yunnan Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 September 2020 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERREEARAA. B8 00F9A4E ERERLA AR 0000007 BERRnA/HE
Foshan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 7 December 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BUBHERESARAT AR 00512 A78 BRERRA AR 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Ltd. Canada, 11 January 2021 Limited liability company (ADT 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Canada
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Ltd. MEx w1818 EREfLR 17 BERRTA /MEX
Dongguan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC26 January 2021 Limited liabilty company RIB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
FEUIERESERLT RE - 201 F1 A% RREANT ARE10000007 BEHRE /08
Beljing Pop Mart Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC,12 February 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
KRR EARAR 28 01524128 BREELE AR 20000007 BEWRnA /A
Pop Investment Holding Limited The BV, 9 March 2021 Limited liability company USD30,000 100% 100% - - Investment/The BVI
Pop Investment Holding Limited EBAREE  AFIA0A BREfLR 50000%7T R/ iBlkrEE
Hangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 April 2021 Limited liability company AMBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
MEEERE5ERAT RE - 01F4A 1R BREELT AR 10000007 HEWRE/ hE

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R




17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held  held by non controlling

by the Group interests
AREREN FERERRE
fERRR ERRER
Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary AA3A MANA
sharecpitll | a3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRRMREER place of operation
L AU/HMALER/ wERAE HTEAEY BA/#MER | 0% | oF | 0nF | wnf  EEEE/GE4Y
Indirectly held
HiEhE
(Gansu Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,17 May 2021 Limited liabilty company RVBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BEATRERAT GERpIE YN ERERLA ARE1 0000007 HEMRnA/hE
Shanghai Paqu Cultural & The PRC21T May 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
Creative Corp, Ltd. hE NESRE BRAFAF ARE 100000007 HEWRL /8
DEEEUAEERAT
Shijiazhuang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC11 June 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RFEEBESERLA 8 01 F6A11 BRERRA ARE10000007T BEWRnA /A
Anhui Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC1S June 2021 Limited liability company ANIBS,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RHRERESARAT 8 101E6A 158 ERERLA ARES 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Qinghai Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC23 July 2021 Limited liability company RMBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ESEBERAERAT E - 01 F7A3A FREMAR ARE10000007 BEMRRA/ 18
(Guangxi Nanning Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 August 2021 Limited liability company RMB,000000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
BEAZEREFERAA 8 0E8A1IA RRELAT ARE10000007T BEMRE /8
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED Australia, 7 August 2021 Limited liability company AUD 1,260,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Australia
POP MART OCEANIA PTY UMITED EAFIE - 01 F8A17R BREELE 1260000 % 7T BEBRAE / BAHE
Beijing Pop Mart Paradise Management The PRC,18 August 2021 Limited liability company RMB10,000000 100% 100% - - Playground/The PRC
(o, Ltd. RE - 01%5818R BREMAR ARE100000007 45/ 8
FRENEREREEERLA
Pop Mart USA Inc. The USA.27 August 2021 Limited liability company UsD20 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/USA
Pop Mart USA nc. 28 0058878 ERELLT NE HERTNE/%E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

POP MART

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held  held by non controlling

by the Group interests
AREREN FEREEER
fERRR ERRER
Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary AA3A MANA
sharecpitll | a3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity BRRMREER place of operation
L AU/HMALER/ wERAE HTEAEY BA/#MER | 0% | oF | 0nF | wnf  EEEE/GE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
POP MART UK LIMITED UK31 August 2021 Limited liabilty company GBP10 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/UK
POP MART LK LIITED A8 mFeANA BREEAT 1045 T YL
Ningbo Wanxinhuigui Investment Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 13 September 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB100,000,000 100% 100% - - Investment/The PRC
ERLEBRERRLT RE - 2001 F9A 138 -GN ARH1000000007 K&/ 8
Wulumugi Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,14 October 2021 Limited liability company ANBT,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERAENNERESERAA 8 001107148 BRERLA ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED New Zealand, 3 November 2021 Limited liabilty company NIDT 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED HEE 11 A3R BREAAT AR NEW ZEALAND
HEHRTA/HER
Shanghai Paqu Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC4 November 2021 Limited liabilty company RIB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Exhibition Business/The PRC
HEBAHARLT RE - 201511 A4R FRERLA ARE10000007 REEH/ 18
POP MART MACAU LIMITED MACAU, 22 November 2021 Limited liability company MOP25,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/MACAU
POP MART MACAU LIMITED B 00 g1 AR FRRMAT 250007 BEWIRA /B
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd Singapore, 14 December 2021 Limited liability company SGD1,000,001 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Singapore
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd g 00N A1A BRERLR 10000015170 HEBRRA /T
Nanjing Paqu Cultural & The PRC4 January 2022 Limited liability company RMB,000000 100% 100% - - Customer service/The PRC
Creative Corp, Lid - 0E 4R EREMAT NRE10000007 RFRE/+E
HRBERIEERAA
POP MART SINGAPORE PTELTD. Singapore, 6 January 2022 Limited liability company 5602050000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Singapore
POP MART SINGAPORE PTELTD. % 200251 FoR BREALT 2050000870 HEBRAR /R

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5




(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest
Ownership interest held held by non controlling

by the Group interests
ARESEN FERERRE
FaREL JHRRRR
Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 128318 128318
sharecapitall | a3 | | wm | am
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERRARERR place of operation
NA%R Ri/ERAYES/ wERRE  AERHEY Bh/SmER | 0nF | anf | 0B | unF  IBEE/EE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
Beijing Yifu Trading Co, Ltd The PRC,19 January 2022 Limited liabilty company AVBT,000000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
LR -GERERAT R 20051198 BREALA AR 0000007 BEFRnA/hE
POP MART Americas Inc. USA, 27 January 2022 Limited liabllity company - 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/USA
POP MART Americas nc. 28 0m51A0R BREEAT - HEHMRNA/%E
POP MART KOREA Holdings €O, LTD. South Korea, 24 February 2022 Limited liabllity company KRW3,100,000000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/South Korea

POP MART KOREA Holdings CO, LTD.

Shanghai Lingzuo Cuttural & Creative Corp,
L
LEEfER(EERRAT

Hainan Pop Mart Trading Co, LTD
BHREREEERAT

POP MART TAIWAN Co, LTD
POP MART TAWAN Co, LTD

Hangzhou Resonance Magic Technology
(o, Ltd.
TMABELHRERAT

POP MART FRANCE SASU
POP MART FRANCE SASU

S8 051818
The PRC,18 April 2022
hE - 2002547188
The PRC21 April 2022

hE - 0054828

TAMAN May 2022
A2 0% AeA

The PRC17 August 2022

BE - 200%8817H

FRANCE 6 September 2022
EE  0059R 68

EREALA
Limited liability company
BRERLT
Limited liability company

iGN

Limited liability company
BRELAT

Limited liability company

BRALLE

Limited liability company
FRRAAT

3100000000 HEHRTA/%E
RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

NBE 10000007 HERRTA/PE
RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

NBE 10000007 HERRTA /P8
TWD6,000,000 60% 60% 40% 40%  Sales of pop toys/TAWAN

60000007574 HERTNE /AR
RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

AR 10000007 HEHTTA /P8
EUR 50,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/FRANCE

SO000BT HEHTTA/HE

=T = =FF% ANNUAL REPORT 2023 |} POP MART

267



268

POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held held by non controlling

by the Group interests
ARESEN FERERRE
FaREL JHRRRR
Issued and At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 128318 128318
sharecpill |3 | | owm |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERRARERR place of operation
NA%R Ri/ERAYES/ wERRE  AERHEY Bh/SmER | 0nF | anf | 0B | unF  IBEE/EE4Y
Indirectly held
BiEE
POP MART MALAYSIA SON BHD (i) MALAYSIA, 18 January 2023 Limited liabilty company MYR 2,000,000 100% N/A = N/A - Sales of pop toys/MALAYSIA
POP MART MALAYSIA SDN BHD (i) SREE 05351 718H RRERAT 20000FREELE TR TER  BERRE/FRAD
Neimenggu Paqu Trading Co, Ltd (i) The PRC, 7 April 2023 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% N/A - N/A Sales of pop toys/The PRC
NELEEESERLA RE - 03F4A7TR BREEAT ARH10000007 TER TR WA/t
POP MART VIETNAM CO, LTD (i) VIETNAM, 19 May 2023 Limited liabllity company USD100,000 100% N/A - N/A - Sales of pop toys/VIETNAM
POP MART VIETNAM CO, LTD (i 3 3% 198 BREEAT 100000%7C TER TER  BERIRE/EE
POP MART (THAILAND) COMPANY LIMITED (i) - THAILAND, 29 June 2023 Limited liability company THB 42,000,000 53% N/A 47% N/A Sales of pop toys/THAILAND
POP MART (THAILAND) COMPANY LIMITED (i) 3581 » 2003% 63298 BREALT 000000% TR TEE  HEEEnE/%E
Beijing Fushangfushang Technology Co, Ltd ~ The PRC, 10 July 2023 Limited liability company ANBT,000000 100% N/A - N/A Sales of pop toys/The PRC
i R 03%7A108 ERERRA ARE1 0000007 el TER  BEMERA/TE
FRBEREHBERDAM
Beijing Limian Space Art and Culture Co, Ltd.  The PRC, 24 July 2023 Limited liability company AMBT,000000 100% N/A - N/A Exhibition Business/The PRC
i B8 0357 AME BRERLA AR 0000007 T TR BERE/9E
FREEERENYCERAR
POP MART ITALY SRL. i) [TALY, 9 August 2023 Limited liability company EUR 10,000 100% N/A - N/ Sales of pop toys/ITALY
POP MART TALY SAL i BAF] n3F8A9R BREELT 100008 TR TER  BERNRE/EAN
Xinxiang Pop Mart Cultural & Creative Corp,  The PR, 28 August 2023 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% N/A - /A Customer service/The PRC
Lt i) R 200358 A 288 BREFELE ARE1 000007 Tk TR EPRE/ 48
MBI ABARA )

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5




17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held held by non controlling

by the Group interests
KEEEEN FERERSEE
EERRE LERRER
At 31 December At 31 December
fully paid ordinary 128318 128318
shrecapiel | g3 | ap | w3 |
Country/place and date of registered capital Principal activities/

Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity ERTRARERR place of operation

S Ri/ERAYES/ wERRE  HERHEY Ba/dmER | anE | anf | 0n% | onfF  iEEE/EE8Y

Indirectly held

BHER

Pop Mart Netherlands B.V. (i) Netherlands, 29 September 2023 Limited liabilty company EUR100,000 100% N/A = N/A Sales of pop toys/Netherlands

Pop Mart Netherlands BJ. i) % 00397 9E BREMAA 100000BTTE TER TR HEWTRE/WE

Shanghai Paguhuyu Technology Co, Ltd The PRC, 25 October 2023 Limited liabllity company ANB10,000000 100% N/A - /A Interet technology services/

HEERRENRERAT E - 034104258 AREELT AEH#100000007T i TER ThePC

REERIRE /28

(i)  This subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprises with limited () ZMB AR AESE AT
liability established in Mainland China. BEBREMEDRE -

(i) The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal ownership (i) RAFWEEEZENEENEETERE
in equity of the structured entity. Nevertheless, under certain HsHEEEEERE - BEWOM - IR
contractual arrangements entered into with the registered owners BEHABEREELCHEA A LHET
of the structured entity, the Company and its legally owned BHZHE  ARRARIREAEEFNMN
subsidiary control the company by way of controlling the voting BAREBAEGIEERE HEHVB
rights, governing its financial and operating policies, appointing NEEHR - EERERETFIEN
or removing the majority of the management of their controlling HPEMAHXDEEREEKE  UWERE
authorities, and casting the majority of votes at meetings of such B EE LT BRI RE
authorities. Accordingly, the Group has rights to exercise power wmEhlAEEEE At - AEEE
over these structured entities, receives variable returns from its HEEBERTEEH  2HELEBT
involvement in the structured entity, and has the ability to affect BESAER®R - BANEBEY
those returns through its power over the structured entity. As EEERZENZEZEZOR -
a result, the company is presented as structured entity of the I ZAFHEAARANEBEESR
Company. 3l o

(ili) Registered during the year ended 31 December 2023. (i) HZE2023F 12 A3 HIEFEER -

(iv) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end (iv) BEETAWHE QR ERBEITEAE

of the year.

BES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
RMB10,455,000 (As at 31 December 2022: RMB2,037,000). No subsidiary

has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

(c) The English name of the subsidiaries are direct translation.

18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD

Management is of the view that none of the Group's joint ventures and

associates is individually material to the Group as at 31 December 2023.

The movements of the carrying amount of investments in joint ventures

and associates (which also includes the aggregate information of the

Group's individually immaterial joint ventures and associates) are as

follows:

17 A B RARINERE (&)
(b)

RS

202312 4310 » SEIERERBERA
R#10,4550007T (R20226F12H318 + A
R#2,037,0007T)  BEEEME A RIEA LA
SEEERN T RER ©

() MBAREXEREKEE -

18 EAEREARNKRE

M2023F12A31H  EBRERAAEERS
EhERBEATENMEHANEETE
ERX - RAELERBEATRENER
B (REASEENTEZSELER
BERARINAFTER) T

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TT ARETT

Opening balance as at 1 January M AT BRFEN&ER 83,333 61,539
Elimination of downstream profit TN A 8 (1,361) -
Share of profit for the year DIRE R A 33,229 27,046
Dividends from an associate PN=Ral it kWS ol (8,860) (8,538)
Currency translation difference BEmE = 660 3,286
Ending balance as at 31 December MR12A31 B ERERE 107,001 83,333
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18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Details of the Group's joint ventures and associate as at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

18 FHAERZEZARNKRE #)

MR2023F K2022F 12 A31H » REEHES
BHENEBENRFBIO TR

Carrying amounts of the
% of ownership interest investment
Place of business/ /1A RERNEARDLL REREE
country of As at 31 December Nature of the  Measurement Asat 31 December
Company name incorporation M12A318 Principal activities relationship  method 128318
EEnY /2R 2023 2022 2023 2022
REER RIBR 03F | 2002F TEEE BAME TRAE 20235 20226
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT | ARBTR
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart Co,  The PRC 52% 520%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture Equity method 47,909 32571
Ltd. (‘Nanjing Pop Mart") H HERRTE RERE ERE
HREERRERHEARAT
(AreaEEl)
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD. Singapore 50% 50%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture Equity method 21,471 12,832
("Singapore Pop")
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD. IS HEBRTA RELE {33
(I'Singapore Pop )
How2work Limited Hong Kong 25% 25%  Design and sales of pop toys  Associate Equity method 22,434 27,363
How2work Limited Bk Rt REERRIE BERT ERE
DANNITOYS(LONGCHUAN) CO,, LTD.  The PRC 10% 10%  Manufacture of toys Associate Equity method 15,187 10,567
(‘Danni’) q: BETA Bend s
AETA (B)I) BRAF
(AR

(i) Although the Group's shareholding in Danni is less than 20%, the
Group is able to exercise significant influence over Danni by virtue
of its contractual right to appoint director to the board of directors

of Danni under its Articles of Association.

(i) BEAEERTEHARE DR 20% - B
BEHABSIRMAA - AEEAER
HENEFNRNEEFEZRES

BB EMEMERTE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

(a) Deferred tax assets

19 IEFEFTBH
(a) EEEMIEEE

The balance of deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences BERBEEARBDREEREEZE - HR
attributable to: ER -
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT
Lease liabilities HEAE 194,438 185,283
Tax losses MIBEE 56,725 63,066
Accrued expenses e 8,260 4,275
Impairment loss AR 6,762 4,617
Total deferred tax assets EEHEEEHLAE 266,185 257,241
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities in relation to EAEEERHECHIEAR®D)
right-of-use assets (b) (182,769) (176,264)
Net deferred tax assets EEHEEETFE 83,416 80,977
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ET T
Deferred income tax assets: EEFEHREE !
- to be recovered within 12 months — #&r 1218 A Rk el 59,432 36,422
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — BB 12{E A UG 23,984 44,555
83,416 80,977

POP MART
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19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) Deferred tax assets (continued)

The movement is deferred income tax assets during the period, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of the balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as follow:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 IEEFREH (&)
(a) IEIERHIBEE (&)

REF AR — B B R R & 4 a7 0F 35 1R
HINBEMSHEENZEIT -

Impairment Lease Accrued
loss  Taxlosses liabilities expenses Total
HEERE - HEFR HEEE - EHHEX #st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARWTR ARBTR AR¥TxR
As at 1 January 2023 R®2023F181H 4,617 63,066 185,283 4,275 257,241
Credited to the consolidated RizdE=REM
statement of profit or loss and ZERERTA
other comprehensive income 2,145 (6,341) 9,155 3,985 8,944
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 6,762 56,725 194,438 8,260 266,185
As at 1 January 2022 202261810 2,573 23,942 155,363 6,328 188,206
Credited/(debited) to the consolidated 4R EHENMEMEE
statement of profit or loss and other R/ (5R)
comprehensive income 2,044 39,124 29,920 (2,053) 69,035
As at 31 December 2022 %2022 12A31H 4,617 63,066 185,283 4,275 257,241

The Group only recognises deferred income tax assets for cumulative
tax losses if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those tax losses. Management will continue to assess the
recognition of deferred income tax assets in future reporting periods.
As of 31 December 2023, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB1,090,000 (2022: RMB774,000) in respect of cumulative
tax losses amounting to RMB4,360,000 (2022: RMB3,096,000). These tax
losses will expire from 2024 to 2028.

REEERRAIGEAERKERT S F)
AR IEEER 25 BB BRRETAHN
STMEE  EREKEENTHRRERSE
HENECHEHEEBRRBRL - &HZE
2023F12A318 - A"EBEWERZEFHIE
BB AR 4,360,000 (2022F + AR
3,096,0007T) MRIBLEFMEREEARE
1,090,0007T (20224 : AR¥774,0007T) °
ZEFHTERIE N 2024 F E 2028 F I H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 19 IBLEFREH ()
(b) Deferred tax liabilities (b) ELEFIEEE
The balance of deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences BEREBEEEEKBDEEREEZE - HR
attributable to: AR -
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBET T
Right-of-use assets EREEE 182,769 176,264
Fair value changes of investments in
financial assets CREEREQNFEEZS 14,419 15,120
Total deferred tax liabilities BELEHESEESE 197,188 191,384
Set off of deferred tax liabilities in relation
to right of use assets ERAEEEREREEHIBAE (182,769) (176,264)
Net deferred tax liabilities EEBEEEFE 14,419 15,120

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFEHRAE
— to be settled within 12 months — R 12E A NEE 2,104 804
— to be settled after more than 12 months —BR12EREER 12,315 14,316

14,419 15,120

PyZ' 3 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEp: s EAR A &




19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year ended

31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 IEEFREH (&)
(b) IEIEFIBEE (&)

HZE2023F K2022F12A31 B IEFEH
F - BEMSHEENESIT

Fair value
changes of
Right-of- investments in
use assets financial assets Total
SRMEERE
EREEE DR EZE HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR¥TR AR¥TR
As at 1 January 2023 M2023F1 818 176,264 15,120 191,384
Debited/(credited) to the consolidated statement of W4RABZE L EMEMH
profit or loss and other comprehensive income W FIR /(GTA) 6,505 (701) 5,804
As at 31 December 2023 720235128318 182,769 14,419 197,188
As at 1 January 2022 720221818 152,653 - 152,653
Debited to the consolidated statement of profitor ~ FA4RA& B M EHAb
loss and other comprehensive income 2EMERMNE 23,611 15,120 38,731
As at 31 December 2022 R20224612 8318 176,264 15,120 191,384
—Z=— =& £3% ANNUALREPORT 2023 | POP MART
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POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

20 B 5 BUWRE

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T

Trade receivables (a) B 5 WA @)

~Third parties =V 237,437 110,310
—Related parties (Note 36(e)) — B8 5 (MisE36(e)) 91,219 91,350
Subtotal Nt 328,656 201,660
Less: provision for impairment allowance (b) R RERE (D) (7,319) (7,291)
Total trade receivables ESREWRIEHAE 321,337 194,369

(@) For trade receivables from retail store sales, roboshop sales and

online sales, the amounts are usually settled in cash, by credit/

debit cards or through online payment platforms. For wholesale

transactions, trade receivables are settled within the credit terms as

agreed in sales contracts. The majority of these wholesalers are with

credit terms of 30 to 90 days. Certain customers with good history

and long-term relationship are extended preferential credit terms of

up to 180 days.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

RAKETEEHE HBSABEHE
Mg LHENEZRBFAMS © %
EFEAFURE - EAR BT
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

(continued)
An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is

as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

20 EZEWFEE (2)

(a)

(&

REZAHNE ZERZTENER S
M :

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
20235 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Within 3 months 3MEAMUA 311,485 181,339
3 months to 6 months 3@ A E6E@A 12,523 15,809
Over 6 months 618 B LA F 4,648 4512
Total et 328,656 201,660

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Note 3.1 provides for details about the

calculation of the allowance.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate

risk can be found in Note 3.1.

Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as

follows:

(b)

AEBERAEREBEHREENFERE
AT ERMEREEBRE - L iy
BB SEEFIAER 2 BEYNER
B o M3 R ARR BT E R

I o
FHE S BUGRIERAENRANEER
FREVfE B R B - SNE B K R X R g
BER - FLRWEE3 -

B 5 RN REREZESMT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T T ARBTT

As at 1 January B1A1H 7,291 3,194
Provision for impairment allowance AR 28 4,097
As at 31 December M12831H 7,319 7,291

=T = =F5% ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

20 EZEWFEE (2)

(c) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies: (0 EHEWFIENATYEEE
As at 31 December
M®12A31H

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFTT
RMB AR 173,058 116,558
HKD BIT 44,124 59,727
TWD e 30,436 13,202
JPY = 23,060 -
SGD T 21,811 1,094
Others b 28,848 3,788
321,337 194,369
(d) All trade receivables’ carrying amounts approximate fair values. d) FTEEZRERFIEMEREBEYEAF

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

21 AN FIRE R H R IR

As at 31 December

R12A318
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Deposits for lease (i) HEZS() 248,841 163,174
Prepayments for design fees BRI BRIA 118,394 101,266
Prepayments for inventories TEfFERIE 79,342 142,125
Prepayments for advertising and marketing expense FBfEE M5 E 15,632 15,066
Recoverable value-added tax and other taxes AU B E R 2 B B 18 33,364 14,527
Staff advances and other payments for employees & 8 BN M Hith /8 B 7Kk 14,108 10,323
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment TESYIZ - BE REHHIE 8,465 24,556
Prepayments for short-term leases and property TEEEEE R EERE A
management fees 25,625 15,643
Others HAh 51,779 44,038
595,550 530,718
Less: prepayments and other receivables- W AAREREMERRIE -
non-current portion FERENEZB D
Deposits for lease (i) HEZS() (119,524) (19,609)
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment TETYIE - BE REEHFIE (8,465) (24,556)
(127,989) (44,165)
Prepayments and other receivables- FENREREMERRE -
current portion BN 467,561 486,553

(i)  The deposits for leases are mainly denominated in RMB, HKD and MOP. 0]

TEUARE BT RRFITE

=2 =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 | POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables is as

21 BAREREMEWRTIE &)

Hith e IR E R R Z BT -

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETTT
As at 1 January R1A1H 2,168 1,765
Provision for impairment allowance ERE 717 403
As at 31 December M12A31H 2,885 2,168
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of other receivables MR2023F K 2022F 12 A31H - EAbEUGE

approximated their carrying amounts.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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22 INVENTORIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

22 FE

As at 31 December
HZ12A31MBILEE

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFT ARETT

Merchandise (a) o (a) 921,796 876,057
Less: provision for impairment (b) W BB (b) (17,088) (9,072)
Total #Et 904,708 866,985

(a)

The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to
approximately RMB2,042,672,000 and RMB1,693,530,000, for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by which
the carrying amount of inventories exceeds its net realisable
value and was recorded in “cost of sales” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The
provision for impairment of inventory amount to RMB8,016,000 and
RMB3,692,000, for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,

respectively.

(a)

HZE2023F %2022 12 A31 B ILE
B BRAMEENANEBEES R
B ANRE2,042,672,0007T B AR
1,693,530,0007T °

REECEEHEBLHATZRFEY
CHRERRERE Yt AGeER
REMP2EBEROIEEKRR] - B
E2023F R2022F12A3HIEFE -
FERERED R AARES0160007T
R AR3,692,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

23 BAVEFABEENEREE

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
Current assets REEE
- Listed equity securities-stock (a) — LTk AES - REE) 8,415 12,829
Non-current assets FRBEE
~ Investment in associates measured at FVPL (b) —BAFEFABRONEZ AR HIRE D) 227,477 231,808
- Private equity fund investments -~ EREESRE 196,159 181,871
- Other unlisted investments (c) —HtIEEMHREQ 48,133 45355
Subtotal Nt 471,769 459,034
Total @st 480,184 471,863

POP MART
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@) The fair values of the listed securities are determined based on the closing
prices quoted in active markets. They are accounted for using their fair values
based on quoted market prices (level 1: quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets) without any deduction for transaction costs.

(b) As at 31 December 2023, the Group has invested in certain unlisted
companies. The Group exercises significant influence over these associated
companies by virtue of its contractual right to appoint director to the board
of directors of these investees. In addition, the Group has the right to require
and demand investees to redeem all of the shares held by the Group at
guaranteed predetermined amount upon redemption events which are out
of control of the investees. Hence these investments are accounted for as
debt instruments and are recognised as financial assets measured at FVPL.

(c) The Group does not have significant influence over these investees and
these investments are recognised as financial assets measured at FVPL.

(d)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

B EAFEFABRSNEMEE
(#)

@ LEWEFAFEDREERTSMRETE
BE - EMESRERTSRE (R &
BT ME CREHE)) HRAFEAR - R
HFRERRHRA o

(b) F2023F128318 "EERERETIE
EHRE - AREREBRETZIWRE
FEEGHES  URSHMEARBAEX
MBI AEEBRARARRER
FORIEH B R B - BRI E T ATE
EETHRBLBENAEEZENZ IR
e Bl ZEREAREEFE TARER
BRATEFABSNSMEE -

@ FTEBEZERRENABERNTES %
EREMB/BATEFABRNERE

ot

i

s

(d) RERBRNSHE

B,

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A3MBLEEE

2023 2022

2023 % 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT R AREFTT
Fair value change on listed equity securities-stock TRAES - RENRFEES (4,259) (9,375)

Fair value change investment in associates BATEFABEOREZE A RRIRE

measured at FVPL NTEES) (4,331) (2,205)
Fair value change on other unlisted investments EMIEEMIRENATEES 2,778 536
Fair value change on private equity fund investments FLEREESIREN A FEEE) (4,993) 55,901
Fair value change on WMPs BB ELMNAFEESD 16,916 4,622
Total et 6,111 49,479
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24 BERREEEY

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Cash at banks and cash in hand RITHEeLFRRE
Denominated in FHEE
- UsD — X7 4,199,104 4,425,505
- RMB - AR¥ 1,345,767 506,479
- HKD — BT 101,443 52,062
~ AUD — BT 74,106 23,651
- SGD — ¥t 54,753 5824
- KRW — BT 44,432 10,854
- THB — Rk 43,546 -
- MOP — JBPIE 38,672 1,404
- TWD - Ak 24,884 9,212
- Others — Eftb 54,741 19,808
Less: bEE
Restricted cash ZIREIRE
- pledged for letter of credits — BHEAEERR (18,159) (13,265)
Term deposits with initial terms over TRHIRBR=EAER
three months and within one year()) —ERHEEIER) (3,885,362) (4,356,220)
Cash and cash equivalents RERESZEEY 2,077,927 685314

(i)  As at 31 December 2023, the balance includes the accrued interests for
term deposits with initial terms over three months and within one years
amounting to RMB140,786,000 (as at 31 December 2022: RMB66,026,000).
The effective interest rate of these term deposits ranges from 2.03%-5.52%
per annum for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 2.03%-3.43%).

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies

and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank

balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

government.

POP MART
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R BEIEIRHR BB

=EAER—FANTEHRTFRNEFEA
R #5140,786,0007T (2022F 128318 : AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 25 RAREFR
Authorised: EE
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
ZERHAE EZBREE
usD’000
FEx
Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each BiREi#EAR0.00013ETT
On 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 31 MR2022F1A18 20225
December 2023 12H318BX2023%F12A31H 5,000,000,000 500
Movements in issued and fully paid ordinary shares are as follows: BEITRARLBRESHNT
Number of Nominal value Nominal value Number of Carrying value of
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary treasury  treasury shares
shares shares shares shares (Note 27)
EERREE
EERHE EEREE SEREE EFREA (HzE27)
usD’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
TEx AR%Tx AR®ETR
At 1 January 2022 #2022%1818 1,401,937,550 141 923 - -
Purchase of own shares (i) BEEZRNO) - - - (34,347,400) (634,310)
Cancellation of repurchased shares (ii) B E 7 B (i) (21,397,000) ®) (15) 21,397,000 447915
At 31 December 2022 M2022%12831H 1,380,540,550 139 908 (12,950,400) (186,395)
Purchase of own shares (i) FEE B &) - - - (19,947,000) (333,709)
Cancellation of repurchased shares (i) =L AT s ()] (32,297,400) (3) (23) 32,297,400 509,636
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12831H 1,348,243,150 136 885 (600,000) (10,468)
(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company acquired 19,947,000 (i) MEZE2023F12A311EFE » AR AEB
ordinary shares of the Company (2022: 34,347,000 ordinary shares) through AFETEBER A 19,947,000 AN QR LB
purchases on the open market. The total amount paid to acquire the % (20224F : 34,347,000 E@B%) - FANA
shares during the year was HKD370,688,000 (equivalent to approximately BARG M2 5% /370,688,000
RMB333,709,000) (2022: HKD735,364,000 (equivalent to approximately T (FHERHARK333,709,0007T) (2022
RMB634,310,000)). F :735,364,0008 T (HERHARSE

634,310,0007C) ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(continued)

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company cancelled (ii)

32,297,000 repurchased shares. As a result, the Company recognised a debit
to share capital of USD3,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB23,000), a
debit to share premium of RMB509,613,000 and a credit to treasury shares of
RMB509,636,000 (Note 27).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company cancelled
21,397,000 repurchased shares. As a result, the Company recognised a debit
to share capital of USD2,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB15,000), a
debit to share premium of RMB447,900,000 and a credit to treasury shares of
RMB447,915,000 (Note 27).

26 SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

25 RAREFR @)

REZE2023F12A311EFE - AR AIFEH
32,297,000 8B 2 f& ) o Bt - ANARIHER
AR A 883,000 7T (FEE R AR 23,000
7o)~ BiRE 32%%1/\&’%50961300073&}*
TFREABR A R#509,636,0007C (FsE27) °

REZE2022F12A4311EFE - ARR)FH
21,397,000 B 2 & - Bt + AR R
R ANZH2,000% 7T (HERHVARE
15,0007T) * A&7 i@ B % 85 A R 447,900,000
TC R EFR AR AR 447,915,000 7T (Bt
27) ©

26 B R RBFEFEHRS

As at As at As at As at

December December December December
2023 2022 2023 2022

20235 20224 2023 720224
128 128 128 128

Shares Shares RMB RMB

iy Bt AR¥ AR

Shares held for Share Award Scheme of ~ FAAZ{H BBV EHEIFT#5 B A%

US$0.0001 each 0.0001 ETE R B 18,384,576 20,663,762 11,936 13,524
These shares are held by the Group's Share Award Trust for the purpose REERKRMDERETHFAENZERN B
of issuing shares under the Group's Share Award Scheme (see Note 28 B RIR R AN K B ) IR () SR E)ET B TR D
for further information). GE— L HBRMKIE28) -

Number of
shares RMB
Details E3H BpEE AR®
Balance at 1 January 2022 7202251 A1 B4R 23,265,959 15,334
Shares vested under the share award scheme RIERR D 2B 857 B /A D

(Note 28) (PH3E28) (2,602,197) (1,810)
Balance at 31 December 2022 72022F12 A31 A& ER 20,663,762 13,524
Shares vested under the share award scheme RIE A% SE B8 55 B e A (n

(Note 28) (Pf5E28) (2,279,186) (1,588)
Balance at 31 December 2023 72023F12 831 B ER 18,384,576 11,936

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBMRME
27 OTHER RESERVES 27 Hibf# M
(a) Other reserves movement of the Group (a) AEBEMNEMEEEZE
Share-based
Share Capital Statutory  Translation compensation Treasury
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves shares Total
DG
RERN
REE U8 EERE E R NECT EER @3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE  ARBTR  ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Asat 1 January 2023 ®2023%1518 11,844,909 (7,382,159) 57,721 257,452 101,509 (186,395) 4,693,043
Currency translation difference ERAEER - - - 75,124 - - 75,124
Dividends declared ERRE (117,317) - - - - - (117317)
Acquisition of non-controlling WEN BRI ERER
interests on a subsidiary - (1,551) - - - - (1,551)
Appropriation to statutory reserves BNEERE = = 21,089 = = - 21,089
Purchase of own shares (Note 25)  EIEEE {3 (i 25) - - - - - (333,709) (333,709)
Cancellation of repurchased HHBERD (H325)
shares (Note 25) (509,613) - - - - 509,636 23
Share vested under the Share Award  TRER B EIHEEMR N
Scheme 86,863 - - - (86,865) - ()
Share-based compensation expenses bk (D BERA R Y - - - - 101,748 - 101,748
Balance at 31 December 2023 W2023E 12431 AL 11,304,842 (7,383,710) 78,816 332,576 116,392 (10,468) 4,438,448
Asat 1 January 2022 ®202£1818 12417,263 (7,382,159) 57,721 (153521) 84,273 - 5,023,583
Currency translation difference EHBEEE - - - 410973 - - 40973
Dividends declared ERRE (209490) - - - - - (209490)
Purchase of own shares (Note 25)  EIBE & AR 13 (FizE25) - - - - - (634310) (634310)
Cancellation of repurchased shares  ESAEIBER( (Bif3E25)
(Note 25) (447,900) - - - - 447915 15
Share vested under the Share Award R KB EIBBNRA
Scheme 85,036 - - - (85,037) - (1)
Share-based compensation expenses  JAIRTD BEREMREF % - - - - 102,273 - 102,273
Balance at 31 December 2022 Ro02412 831 Bsss N8U9  (1382159) 57707 257452 01509 (186395 4693043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(@) Other reserves movement of the Group (continued)

(i) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC,
when distributing the net profit of each year, the Group shall set
aside 10% of its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated losses from
prior years) for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the

reserve balance has reached 50% of the paid-in capital).

Statutory reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase

the paid-in capital after approval from the appropriate authorities.

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company adopted the restricted share unit (the “RSU") long term
incentive plan (the "Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”) on 24 July 2020
with a duration of 10 years commencing from the adoption date. The
objective of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is to align the interests
of selected participants with those of the Group and to encourage and
retain selected participants to make contributions to the long-term

growth and profits of the Group.

Under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, Pop Mart Partner Limited (the
“Share Award Trust") was established in British Virgin Islands on 7 May
2020. As the financial and operational policies of the Share Award Trust
are governed by the Group, and the Group benefits from the Share
Award Trust's activities, the Share Award Trust is consolidated in the

Group's financial statements as a special purpose entity.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

The aggregate number of RSU will not exceed 10% shares without
shareholders’ approval subject to an annual limited of 5% of the total

number of issued shares as at the date of adoption.

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to
issue 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share Award Trust
for nil consideration in relation to Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. The
above issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the RSU
held by the Share Award Trust was recorded as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the RSU are vested
or cancelled. The number of shares under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme have been changed to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue
on 11 December 2020.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, the Group has granted
RSUs to selected participants which include employees of the Group
and third-party vendors with various vesting schedules and conditions
as described below. Once the vesting conditions of the respective RSUs
are met, the RSU are considered duly and validly issued to the selected

participants at nil consideration, and free of restrictions on transfer.

The above granted RSUs have various vesting schedules including:

Certain RSUs shall be fully vested immediately on the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 78th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 90th day following
the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 300 days,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested on the 90th day following the
grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs vested upon

the maturity of the entire vesting period;

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

28 IR HERAERM )

Eﬂi%&ﬂx;ﬁ%ﬁt/iT ZIRHIADEMNEE
ABHETEEBBE 0%/ IG - WSREM B H
BEITRMNBE SN FEREERR -

202057 H24 R ARFESFSEHAENUT
RERRG SEEEFEE172,442,873R AR A
Tl BRERARBEERN Z/EE
ZIMABSEE - RGO EITER20205F
7 A28 B TR - MR 1D SRS FERF A M2 IR i
i 19 B AL 5N BR /& [t A dn 22 b=+ E1 F:5 B eV AR
] WHRERFMR  BEEXREIKRMDE
fSREkESH - 202012 A 11 BERL
BITR  BRALHEERRMERTET
R D EED 524,428,730/ ©

BBEERAARAEERKRGEEBTE - A&
EmErsnd (BEAEEREERE=F
T trEm) I ZBRBIARMD B - WHAE T
it &1 5 B R A R AR - BRI
HXT\DDUE'J BB R EER ZREIKR
MEBLAEERAETREERRAEMEST
TETFLHEE - BHIEEERS -

FREBEERIRGENRBEEES
ENCRECECE

BT RBREIR D BN &L BRI
2HRE

ETEREBRNEGLNEL HBRE
78HIAE —HREE

ETSREBRHEMRRELEBEHES
HNE—HIREE

ATZRHEBROEMNBEBRERRY
A3008 - BH50%EEHZR IR M
BUARKLAMBEBEIORRE - Mt
T 50% B 5% HH 2R il A& 17 B A BI A B E
BRI ES R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

28 IR HERAERM )

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 50% of granted
RSUs vested on the second anniversary of the grant date, 25% of
granted RSUs vested on the third anniversary of the grant date,
and the remaining 25% of granted RSUs vested on the fourth

anniversary of the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 45 months,
with 25% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 9th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 75% of granted RSUs
vested in 3 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of
36 months;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 25% of granted
RSUs vested on every anniversary of the grant date over the vesting

period; and

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 47 months,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 23th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs
vested in 2 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of
24 months.

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 3 years, with 25% of
granted RSUs vested on the first anniversary of the grant date, 50%
of granted RSUs vested on the second anniversary of the grant
date, and the remaining 25% of granted RSUs vested on the third

anniversary of the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 3 years, with 25% of granted
RSUs shall be fully vested immediately on the grant date, and the
remaining 75% of granted RSUs vested in 3 equal installments over

the remaining vesting period of 36 months.

ETERIBROEMNBBRFEARLY
B4F - EFRS0%EREZREIRGE
MRABREBESHE—ERATEEE - 25%
EREERFIBROEMNELBEBAE
—ARFEHBB MR T2B5%ERERE
PR 151 A% 19 B8 o R RO 4% 1 ) HA 28 P A
FEEES

ETRESROEMNEERERLY
RASER - B 256 R EZREIRG
BURRLBAMERFOEARRTE - M
BR T 75% B 3% H R IR Il 17 B2 AR R
T36EAFBHRANDINEREE

EFERHIBG B0 BIEREA
4%F RS E B IR IR IR 1D B
X 5B HIR B B R S EEE A 8
B R

ETERIBRGEMNNBEBEFERY
A47E A - B 50%E 1% H 2R B (5
EMRELABEEBEAREE
i8R T 50% B 4% H 5 PR il AR 1 BE 4z Al 7
BRT24EAEBHAD 2 EEEE

ETXBRHIRNBEMNGEBERHEERAS
F - EP2BNEREZRHIRG BN
REBHMNEERAFTFARE  50%2 %
HEREIRD BN E LB HNE =
FRFEHE MR T25%EHEZR
AR EA RN BB E = AT
AE

ETSREBOEMNRBEHRRE A3
F - BHR25%EREZREIKG ELR
BREABRER2ESEE - MBT75%2
B 2R 5 A0 BAL AR 82 T 3618 A
FEEANDIHEERS -

R EERFBIRMFOAERE  BESE
BEMHGEITHMG - WO BEROR
MR &S TIARE  URBRRE [
MIERT °

Evaluations are made as of each reporting period to assess the likelihood
of vesting conditions being met. Share-based compensation expenses

are then adjusted to reflect the revision of original estimates.
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28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and related fair value are as

follow:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

28 IR HERAERM )

EREZREMNBRODEMCEE RABATE
EHMT :

Years ended at 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Average Average
fair value Number of fair value Number of
per share shares per share shares
SRFH SIRT
AFE idvip 4= | NEE & &8
(RMB) (Thousands) (RMB)  (Thousands)
(AR¥T) (F®R) | (AR¥T) (TR0
Opening balance as at 1 January R1A1BNENES 43.12 4,343 60.04 3,825
Granted & 19.21 8,758 2244 3,877
Vested il 38.1 (2,279) 32.82 (2,602)
Forfeited K 34.43 (213) 58.13 (757)
Ending balance as at 31 December 12831 BN EREER 24.63 10,609 43.12 4,343

There were no RSUs expired during the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

The fair value of the granted RSUs was calculated based on the market

price of the Company'’s shares at the respective grant date.

As the Group will receive employment or service of these employees in
exchange for the grant of RSUs, share-based compensation expenses
in respect of the employee services received is to be recognized as
expenses over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by the fair value of the RSUs and taking into account the
number of RSUs that are expected to be vested. The total expenses
charged to the profit and loss for RSUs granted to the Group's employees
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are RMB101,748,000 during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: RMB97,739,000).

HZE2023FE K202 12831 B IEFEE - 1
EZRFIRMD BB -

ERBERHIB N ELHRFEDREAR
RAEBROHNEEREAMNTHEFE -

B 7N B B 4 4% o 2 R 1 AR 19 B8 12 LA 4R R
ZEREREMNERIRY - BHESRBK
ER A DARR 17 7 B 1 B S B B <8 70 57 B B
BERAME - BT X HEMNESTEIRIRS
BHEMHNATEEE  BEZEESRE
FENTREBRMEMEE - HZE2023F
NAMNBLEFE  REBRXAFAEEER
DB ERAAEERREREOIES
BROBCEBRIIROAIRBEAARE
101,748,0007C (20224F12 A31H : AR¥
97,739,0007T) °

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

The Group granted some RSUs via the RSU Trust to certain third-party
vendors as part of consideration of purchased assets, which have been
fully vested immediately on the respective grant date. The above
transactions are accounted for as share-based payment transactions,
under which the fair value of the RSUs are recognized as part of the
original cost of purchased assets. As of 31 December 2023, total amounts
recognized as assets for RSUs granted to the Group's third-party
vendors under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are RMB13,325,000 (31
December 2022: RMB13,325,000).

29 TRADE PAYABLES

28 IR HERAERM )

AEEFBIRHBRMDELETRETE
SHHEREDSES B ERMEBEA - 1E
ABRBEENSIRE  BEREARTA
HIBEREHER - LIRS ARBURN
REBONRRZS - Bt - LBRFIKRGE
MR TEBERBBEEENDLD KAR
B - B ZE2023F12A318  REBEFRA
FREERROZETEMAERE=7H
EEREOZREBROEMERBEED
BeE A ARY13,3250007T (2022812 A
318 « AREE13,325,0007T) °

29 ESE(SFUE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
20235 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFT ARBT T

Merchandise payables 72 om JE < R 1E

444,944 259,006

The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers are
usually current to 180 days. At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the aging
analysis of the merchandise payables based on invoice date is as follows:

HENETHEARENRENEERES
BEVHIZE 180K » 7A20234F K 2022912 A31
B EREZZAHOEENTIENRE
DITAT -

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARET T

Within 30 days 30K AN 224,494 100,317
30 to 90 days 30890k 150,226 75,632
90 to 180 days 900 E 180K 26,907 46,039
Over 180 days 180K A 43,317 37,018
Total st 444,944 259,006

The trade payables are mainly denominated in RMB.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRR
30 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES 30 E(TIREE
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFT ARETT

License fees payables ERRES 194,200 154,823
Less: non-current portion R FERNERER (14,807) (21,306)
Current portion BEAER 179,393 133,517
As disclosed in Note 15(a), the Group entered into various license FANMIFE15(a) TR ER - ANE B EEMKRE
agreements with artists to obtain exclusive and non-exclusive Licensed VETERERGZ  UMEBERLFEBHREK
IPs. Pursuant to the license agreements, fixed minimum payments are EIP o BRERERZ  BEHENRERE
payable in tranches during the contracted term while variable payments HEAN D B M AR/ AT HAE
that depend on sales are payable in the period in which the condition B2 2 S R R R AR A S AT o

that triggers those payments occurs.

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
2023 F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AEBTTT
Analysis of license fees payables: EAREEDN
Non-current JERNER
— the first to second year —F—FF_F 10,271 16,614
— the second to fifth year —EEFERF 4,085 3,342
— more than five years —RFNUE 451 1,350
14,807 21,306
Current BN 179,393 133,517
The license fees payables are mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD. ERREEFEUARYE - ZL KB
=
The maturity profile of the Group's license fees based on contractual AEEEREGHNARUBRERENEEE
undiscounted cash flows is disclosed in Note 3.1(c). B BB R EE3.1 (0 #EFE o
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31 OTHER PAYABLES

31 HAiE(SFUIE

As at 31 December

R12A318
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Wages, salaries and other employee benefits I& #HFeKkEMESRN 126,769 91,174
Payable for leasehold improvement e SRS TRIA 142,333 56,116
Other tax payables FET B At B IE 78,696 15,746
Accrued sales and marketing expenses FEETSH 6 R & SR 2 60,045 57,648
Logistics fees &R 39,211 49,906
Payables for short-term and variable rental expense  FEfTAZHA N AT & € B 24,638 4,279
Deposits payable B 11,979 4711
Others b 31,170 29,211
Total #at 514,841 308,791

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of other

payables are considered to approximate their fair values, due to their

short-term nature.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

32 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2 EHNEE
As at 31 December As at 1 January
R12831H »W1A1A
2023 2022 2022
2023 20224 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREF T ARETT
Online sales FLIEE 49,352 39,731 76,082
Customer loyalty programme (i) BPAHMEREIG) 26,271 22,077 31,240
Wholesales #EE 30,504 18,518 8,295
License income EEMA 6,016 8,471 4,007
112,143 88,797 119,624

(if)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the points

expire at the end of each six months from the next months

following the initial sales occurs.

The Group applied the practical expedient of not to disclose

the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance

obligations as contract terms less than 12 months.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year:

() BHZE2023FN2022F12A31BIEF
B BoRxVHEEEER T —EA
BRI NE A EAEREE -

(i) AEEERERERE  TRED

=& HR 1218 A 8 RTHKE

HWEENZHER -

ENE N B EAERER NI -

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

Credited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive

income

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARMBETTT
82,797 113,234

=2 =53 ANNUAL REPORT 2023 | POP MART
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33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS

IBTE  HFEhHMEEER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARETT

Salaries,bonuses and allowances T& -« fe4L RoRBL 861,248 686,432
Contributions to pension plans (a) RIREET IR () 85,491 69,424
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 28) LARR 7 A ERE B FRENF SZ (F93E28) 101,748 97,739

1,048,487 853,595

(@) Contributions to pension plans

Employees of the Group companies in the PRC are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
and operated by the local municipal government. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage of the employees’ salary
(subject to a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to

each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and

other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the

defined contribution payments as disclosed above.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE

(b)

BENEFITS (continued)
Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2023 included 1 director whose
emoluments is reflected in the analysis shown in Note 38 (2022: nil). The

emoluments payables to the remaining 4 (2022: 5) individuals during the

year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

BITE HeLHMESEF

(%)

(b) AERSMEAL

HE2023F12A3BLEE  AEEHE
ERfMABATHRIE-FRES (2022F :
) He RIS RAMH o &
F2023F12A31AIEFE - BN THM

#Z(202%F « AEF) ATHBIEIT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2023 2022

2023 % 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBETTT

Salaries and allowances T& KkER 5,376 5,893
Bonuses TEAL 1,332 2,177
Contributions to pension plans RIKEFT B 255 298
Share-based compensation expenses VARR 1 73 B R 0 3R B Bl 2 24,991 19,854
31,954 28,222

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e mRIATEE :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224

Emolument bands (in HKD) e E (LB ITET)
HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,001 78 7L £ 4,500,000/8 7T - 2

HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000
HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000
HKD9,000,001 to HKD9,500,000
HKD10,000,001 to HKD10,500,000
HKD11,000,001 to HKD11,500,000

5,500,001 7 7T, 26,000,000 7 7T
6,000,001 % 7T £ 6,500,000/ 7T
6,500,001 % 7L £ 7,000,00078 7T
8,500,001 7T % 9,000,000/ 7T
9,000,001 % 7T £9,500,00078 7T
10,000,001 7L 2 10,500,000 7T
11,000,001 L2 11,500,000 7T
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

34 REREREBRME

(a) BRATISHANEF L ERELMNR
EREFRIER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flows
generated from operations:

298

POP MART

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBETT
Profit before income tax Bk AT S 7 AT 4 ) 1,415,755 639,529
Adjustments for: PA T FIEEL TR
Fair value gains from financial assets at FVPL BRATEFABENEREE
(Note 23) B A FEYE (FEE23) (6,111) (49,479)
Impairment losses on Property, plant and equipment  #1% « &= &R EREEE
(Note 14) (MEE14) - 467
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets (Note 16) ERREEEREERE (Mistie) - 545
Share-based compensation expenses LARR 15 B ERE B0 SR N B 2 101,748 97,739
Share of results of joint ventures and associates DihE BB R E QT
(Note 18) 45 (fy=E18) (33,229) (27,046)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BEREETE
(Note 14) (MHEE14) 233,291 193,922
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) mIZEEEE (MHEE15) 86,884 80,771
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, BEME  BEREER
intangible assets ML EEMER 2,540 197
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 348,390 330,124
Provision for impairment on financial assets TREERERE 745 4,500
Impairment losses on inventory (Note 22) FEREEE (H:E22) 8,016 3,692
Finance income, net (Note 10) B g A58 (FisE10) (151,880) (29,103)
Foreign exchange gains or loss HMNE B 7 (1,501) 556
Changes in working capital: BEESEE
Inventories 3 (29,546) (81,848)
Trade receivables B 5 W IR (122,727) (27,132)
Prepayments and other receivables EH/T/\IE&E@FEWM (20,058) (69,674)
Trade payables =Y AR 167,441 45,624
Other payables H\ﬁﬂﬂ’iﬁmlﬁ 120,104 50,943
Contract liabilities aHaf 23,346 (30,827)
Cash generated from operations RETBHELENRSE 2,143,208 1,133,500
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

M RERERERMTT &)

(b) REMX  BERRBRETLEEMR

=

1F7K

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBT T
Net book amount (Note 14 and Note 15) BRTEFE (BsE14 &FI5E15) 3,406 2,560
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment BEYME  BEREENR
and intangible assets B EEMEIR (2,540) (197)
866 2,363
(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation () W& (E) BEEEER
As at 31 December
®W12A31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AR®EF T
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRSZEY 2,077,927 685,314
Liquid investments MENEIRE 8,415 12,829
Lease liabilities — due within 1 year HEERE — —FLUARIIE (351,799) (293,567)
Lease liabilities — due after 1 year HEAE - —FEIH (425,954) (447,564)
Borrowing &5k (15,058) -
Net cash/(debt) Be (&) 38 1,293,531 (42,988)
—Z— =& £3% ANNUALREPORT 2023 | POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

POP MART

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (continued)

() B& (EK) FHEYEER &

M RERERERMTT &)

Cash and cash Liquid Lease Net cash/
equivalents  investments liabilities Dividends  Borrowing (i) (debt)
RERRE R/ (EH)
SEY  RBHRE HESE RE fER() BE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR%TR  ARBTRT ARMTR AR%TR  ARET:R
Net cash as at 1 January 2023 203511 BNEEFE 685,314 12,829 (781,131) - - (42,988)
Cash flows Reneg 1,382,979 (546) 384,999 121,609 - 1,889,041
Addition AE = = (386,216) (117,317) - (503,533)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities REARZENTIZ - = (35,405) = = (35,405)
Acquisition of a subsidiary KRB AT - - = = (14,514) (14,514)
Foreign exchange adjustments NEFHE 9,634 391 - (4,292) (544) 5,189
Qther non-cash movement Hth5ed - (4,259) = = = (4,259)
Net cash as at 31 December 2023 B03F 128 BNREFE | 2077927 8,415 (777,753) - (15,058) 1,293,531
Net cash as at 1 January 2022 R02F1B1BNESFE 5,264,710 20,544 (621,452) - - 4663802
Cash flows RBeNE (4,984,823) - 323,041 220,086 - (4,441,696)
Addition NE - - (408,663) (209,490) - (618,153)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities REBEEHFIE - - (34,057) - - (34,057)
Foreign exchange adjustrents SNE R 405427 1,660 - (10,596) - 396,491
Other non-cash movernent EthiRe# - (9375) - - - (9375)
Net cash as at 31 December 2022 R02F12A31ANELRE 685314 12,829 (741,131) - - (42,988)

(i) As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding short-term borrowing

which arose from acquisition of a subsidiary represented an amount
of JPY 300,000,000 (equivalent to RMB15,058,000) at a fixed interest

rate of 1.475%. The borrowing was unsecured and due in one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35 COMMITMENTS 35 &k
(a) Capital commitments (a) BAEGE
As at 31 December
R12A318
2023 2022
2023 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTTT
Contractual but not provided for EETHB RS
— Property, plant and equipment — % - BB KRB - 506,975
- Acquiring investments measured at fair value —ERATEAEEE
through profit or loss BT ABRHRE 41,000 73,500
41,000 580,475
36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 L XS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly B BRENEESHEAEEN S -7 =
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence EEHMBEREERARKE S —HHIES
over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties AREE BB RBEBE - WMAPEHFXH
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control. EEs - QTR AE B - ABIBRFNE
Members of key management and their close family member of Popmart ZEBENE RHETHK B IR 5B
are also considered as related parties. 7o
The following transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of the THRG IR ASEEBEEBBEFRE
Group's business and were determined based on mutually agreed terms 7 WIRERNBBEE LR ENIKRE
during the relevant periods. E °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Names of the major related parties

36 B ARB (&)

Nature of relationship

POP MART

FTEBHS BB BERNMTE
Mr. Wang Ning Executive director of the Group
ITERE REB#TES
Nanjing Pop Mart Joint venture
By BERE
Singapore Pop Joint venture
Singapore Pop BEDHE
How2work Limited Associate
How2work Limited e
Hainan Souteji Trading Co., Ltd. Associate
BEEREHERERAA B
Shenzhen Maoyu Xinghe Cultural Creativity Co., Ltd. Associate
YT 2 ULAIZEBR AR g
Shanghai Qixing Network Technology Co., Ltd. Associate
FERTABRRBERAR B
Danni Associate
Danni B
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Sales of goods to

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36 B ARB (&)

£ A B

EITNERRZS !

(a) SHEEmMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Joint ventures AehE 266,470 213,107
An associate B 20,449 18,868
Total st 286,919 231,975
(b) Purchase of goods from (b) BEERE
Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Associates B 414,775 170,291
(c) Purchase of service from () BER%KBE
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFT
Associates B 6,884 12,349
—Z— =& £3% ANNUALREPORT 2023 | POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Significant transactions with related parties: (continued)

(d) Key management compensation

36 B ARB (&)

EEBTETNEARS | (&)

(d) EEAREIEA B

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2023 2022

2023 F 20224F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AEBTTT

Salaries and other benefits e RAEMmER 7,865 6,895
Contributions relating to social insurance, R FERAES KRRETE

housing fund and retirement scheme EE RN 384 414

Bonus TE4L 1,250 2,333

Share-based compensation expenses LA RS AR 7 BT ) 3R B A <2 18,776 14,765

28,275 24,407

The amounts disclosed above include wages, salaries and bonuses
payable of RMB1,930,000 (2022: RMB2,852,000) which were unpaid

as at year end and are included in other payables and accruals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36 BEEARRB (&)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued) EHEBLETHNEARS @ (8)

(e) EE\E% Fﬂﬁiﬁﬁm l!ﬂﬁ?:

(e) Significant year-end balances with related parties:

As at 31 December
HZ12A31BILEE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Assets BE
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Joint ventures EaE¥ 85,175 82,959
Associates /NG 6,044 8,391
Other receivables HibEWFRIE
A joint venture —REEHE 4,318 5,256
Prepayments ENRE
Associates iG] 13,125 41,388
Trade payables B ENRIE
Associates iG] 105,433 26,417
License fees payables EREEE
Associates il 8,142 21,306

BEEBINESEY S ENRENEER

Except for trade receivables/payables with related parties which

are with credit terms of 30-180 days, all the balances with related HR/R30-180 KA1 - P ERRAES T M &6 1D R
parties are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of EIRWE R EEBTEENRE -
repayment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE

37 ANFNEEEERRE M

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY wEE
Balance sheet of the Company KAREEAER
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023 F 720226
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETTT
Assets &=
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment accounted for using the equity method A A ABRRIRE 22,446 27,141
Investments in subsidiaries R E A RERE 7,876,556 7,644,435
Total non-current assets BERBEE 7,899,002 7,671,576
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss RATEFAEBENEREE 8,415 12,829
Other receivables Hfth fE IR 192,360 33,299
Term deposits with initial term over three months MEEHA=EANER
and within one year —EF AR E BIFE R 3,885,362 4,356,220
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEED 150,110 4,480
Total current assets BRBEE 4,236,247 4,406,828
Total assets mEE 12,135,249 12,078,404
Equity g
Share capital [N 885 9208
Other reserves (a) EMFEHE Q) 11,745,473 11,898,319
Retained earnings IREB & 219,161 44,790
Total equity BRER 11,965,519 11,944,017
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables HAith FET /I8 169,730 134,387
Total current liabilities BREBEE 169,730 134,387
Total liabilities HEE 169,730 134,387
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 12,135,249 12,078,404

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 20 March 2024 and was signed on its behalf:

ITEELE alfE

Mr. Wang Ning M
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37 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note (a) Other reserve movement of the Company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

37V AQNTNEEEBRRHME
wHEE @)

Bt () A2 A Efb 2 B

Share-based

Treasury Share Translation  compensation
shares premium reserves reserves Total
URGBHER
ERR ROEE E SR Ry @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
As at 1 January 2023 20231810 (186,395) 11,842,888 140,317 101,509 11,898,319
Currency translation difference EHHREZSE - - 198,089 - 198,089
Dividends declared BERBE - (118,995) = - (118,995)
Purchase of own shares EEA=E 8O (333,709) - - - (333,709)
Cancellation of shares AR 509,636 (509,613) - - 23
Share vested under the Share R @2
Award Scheme =y ) - 86,863 - (86,865) (2)
Share-based compensation WARR D BETRE R SRR =
expenses - - - 101,748 101,748
Balance at 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31 AW &t4 (10,468) 11,301,143 338,406 116,392 11,745,473
As at 1 January 2022 R2022%1818 - 12,418,742 (910,593) 84,273 11,592,422
Currency translation difference ERREER - - 1,050,910 - 1,050,910
Dividends declared BREE - (212,990) - - (212.990)
Purchase of own shares EEA=ES (634,310) - - - (634,310)
Cancellation of shares Bzl 447915 (447,900) - - 15
Share vested under the Share RER D B:t 2158 2 K
Award Scheme - 85,036 - (85,037) M
Share-based compensation AR AL TR R BB 37
expenses - - - 102,273 102,273
Balance at 31 December 2022  R2022%F 12831 B & (186,395) 11,842,888 140,317 101,509 11,898,319
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 EET/AI R ER
(a) EE&

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ remuneration

POP MART

Employer's
contribution to

a retirement

Share-based

Director’s Salaries and benefit  compensation
fee allowances Bonus scheme expenses Total
EXHERK UR%B
BRI & RERH
ok IEREH AL fEHZER MBI % @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TFR ARETR
Directors' remuneration during BEZE023%12A318
the year ended 31 December ItEENES
2023 s as follows: BemT
Directors Bz
Mr. Wang Ning FELEE - 1,881 150 63 - 2,094
Mr. Si De AEEE - 1,881 300 63 5,782 8,026
Ms. Liu Ran £ - 1,281 100 63 - 1,444
Ms. Yang Tao BExL = 1,283 200 68 S 1,551
Mr. Tu Zheng EH%AE - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu W&xtE - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng REERE 136 = = = S 136
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REARLE 136 - - - - 136
Mr. Yan Jinliang BYREE 136 - - - - 136
Directors' remuneration during HZE00F12A318
the year ended 31 December IFEENES
2022 s as follows: MemT :
Directors EE
Mr. Wang Ning FELEE - 998 369 58 - 1425
Mr. Si De ARkt - 1459 329 58 - 1846
Ms. Liu Ran fant - 998 219 58 - 1,275
Ms. Yang Tao BEzL - 817 215 63 - 1,095
Mr. Tu Zheng EE%4E - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu HELE - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng REAERE 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REFLE 130 - - - - 130
Mr. Yan Jinliang BYREE 130 - - - - 130
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38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(b)

(continued)

The non-executive Directors have not received any emoluments for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. None of the other Directors
waived or have agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of

the affairs of the or its subsidiaries undertaken.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early

termination of the appointment during the year.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making

available the services of them as a director of the Company.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such

directors during the year.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Group had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

IS EETARESR (&)

(b)

HZE2023K2022F 12831 BIEEE > JF
WITESWRIEAME - BE2023F K&
2025 12A3VBILEE - BIEEMESK
EYRBHEEAHE

EBRKERN

BEIMESHERARALEME QR
ER MR 2 B A BRI S S U EUR
K@ H) o

EERBEE
FAMERRAK LR EANEEAME

RETFE=FURHRESRBEHNE

BERECTRARAEFREEARBEOZEFE
FHOREEEHRAHK -

BEUES  ESc2EWEENRE
BEEEARZRAZER  EERRH
bR 5 2 Ex

RER BEUNESR  ER2XEHEE
FABZERBRRBAZER  EEHRLH
a5 o

EEAERS  THRENTNEKRE

VEBBASEEGMASEERES —
TEAKEESRES (TwERLME)
BAEEARGNEARS  ZHEAKH (R
FESNFREMEEFE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

(a) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Roboshop machines 5 years
Moulds 1.5-3 years
Equipment and others 5 years

Leasehold improvement  Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its

recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains- net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and machinery
under construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the costs of construction
of buildings, the costs of plant and machinery, installation, testing
and other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are

completed and ready for intended use.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the basis of dividend

received and receivables.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the financial

information of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating

segments, has been identified as executive directors of the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39 EMEBERE »)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(d) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months

or less.

(f) Share capital and shares held for Share Award Scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Shares held for the Share Award Scheme are disclosed as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the shares are

vested or cancelled.

(g) Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. The
amounts are unsecured and are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(h)

(continued)
License fees payable

License fees payable are initially recorded at the fair value, which
represents the present value of the fixed minimum periodic payments to
be made in subsequent years. They are subsequently stated at amortised

cost using the effective interest method less payments made.

Interests incurred on license fees payable are charged to the
consolidated income statement as interest expense. Changes in estimate
of the expected cash flows are recognised as distribution costs in the
consolidated income statement. The revised expected cash flows are
discounted using the original effective rate to arrive at the carrying

amount of the liability.

Employee benefits
(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit

obligations in the balance sheet.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC. The municipal
governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

In Hong Kong, the Group makes contributions to the scheme under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (“MPF") Ordinance, the
assets of which are generally held in separate trustee-administrated
funds. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from
employees and by the Group. There is similar pension scheme in

South Korea to which the Group also makes contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(i) Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Pension obligations (continued)

The Group's contributions to these defined contribution plans are
expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. The Group has no other post-employment

obligations under the employment contracts.

The abolition of the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ “mandatory” contributions to MPF and the Occupational
Retirement Schemes (“ORSQ") to offset the long service payment
("LSP") and severance payment (the "Amendment”) accrued
from the transition date (no later than 2025) was enacted on 17
June 2022. As the LSP is a defined benefit plan, the Amendment
changes the employer’s legal obligation which is considered as
a plan amendment under IAS 19. As the Group only has very few
employees who are in the scope of the Amendment, the Group is
of the view that the Amendment will have immaterial impact to the

Group's financial position and performance.

(j). Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period

of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is

recognised in the income statement as other income or finance costs.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the reporting period.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(k)

(continued)
Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or

sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which

they are incurred.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the “Other

gains- net".

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 9

above. Any other interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

(m) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on
or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(n) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and

excluding treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

POP MART

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares
that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of

all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(0)

(continued)
Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations not under common control, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred

for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity's net

identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

39 EMEBERE »)

(0) EHBEH (&)

(o) Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the:

consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised

directly in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as
equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or

losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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"Articles of Association”

[ ERAA ]

“Audit Committee”

[BEEg]

“Board”

B2

nou

“Company’, “we’, “Pop Mart”

[ARE] T8 DR

"Director(s)”

[E%]

“Group”
[R&EE

"HKD" or "HK$"
[&7T]

"Hong Kong”
(&8

“Latest Practicable Date”
[ ERAI{THE]

“Listing Rules”

[ EmRA

“Mainland China”

[ B A3 |

“Memorandum and Articles”

[ R AR B AR A

“Nomination Committee”

[IR2ZEE
"Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”

[BERARBERRD ERS

DEFINITION
e

the articles of association of the Company

AR RVE B E R AR

the audit committee of the Board

EXxeEKZEY

the board of Directors

-

Pop Mart International Group Limited (8835 RBEEERAF)),
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 with limited liability, with its Shares initially
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 11 December 2020 (stock code: 9992)
RIBRHBREEBRAR - —KR2019F5 AR RBRERSAETMALHNERE
BRAT - ERGF20206F12 811 B ERIEB AT ER 1 (RHRSR  9992)

an exempted company

the director(s) of the Company

RRREF

the Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities from time to time

AR REAKOMNB AR MGAHEER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEHEEERET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
REARKMBETBEFRITTHRE

12 April 2024
2024F4 7128

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time to
time

EEBARIMBERARES ETHRR (EAEHERT)

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan regions

FEARANE  BARENE - TRERE  RFILGERR

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company

AR T E R A R AR

the nomination committee of the Board

EFeRE%BE

the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 24 July 2020 and
amended on 17 May 2023

ARARIF 202097 A 24 B A G K7 202355 817 BIERT O &R AR E &R 528
#tHal
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DEFINITION
Bx

“Prospectus”

[HlkER]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FEEE

“Reporting Period”

[#R&H )

“RMB" or “Renminbi”
[ARE]

“Scheme Limit”
[FT&8IFR %8 |
“Service Provider Sublimit”

[ BRA%he it & o EIR

“SFO"
[(FEHRAEGHG) ]

“Share(s)"
[ ]

“Shareholder(s)"
[A& = ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bs 22 P |

“Trustee”
[ZFEA]
“USD" or "USS”
=

//%H

(%]

the prospectus of the Company dated 1 December 2020
AR E#R20205F12 A1 BRBERER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXxeVMERS

for the year ended 31 December 2023
BHZE2023F12A31HILFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

HEDEEERARE

the limit on grant(s) of share option(s) and/or award(s) over new Shares under all share
schemes of the Company approved by Shareholders

RIS R AL ) AR 1 R AT B BT IR 8 S ¥ AR 1 eV BB AR R 2 ok BR R O PR 78

a sublimit under the Scheme Limit for share options and/or awards over new shares of the
Company under all share schemes adopted by the Company granted to the Service Providers
BIEA A RIRMK T AR DT EIE T S RARRFROOEARER R REH SR
M T R IR HE B D IER R

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
from time to time

FEREVIFESBCREZRIE R - EAEERT

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of US$0.0001 each in the capital of the Company

AR AR AN G A TE {B.0.0001 22 T ) 3B AR

shareholder(s) of the Company
RARRRER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBERHAAERRAT

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, which was appointed as the trustee of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme on 24 July 2020

BHRET (BB BRAF  R2020F7A24BEZ T AN ARAEER KD ERTENT
FEA

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XEMEEERET

percent

Btk
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